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CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the
decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the
securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this
report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for
any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors’) of CNC Holdings Limited (the “Company’) collectively and individually
accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules’) for the purpose of giving information with regard to the
Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and belief
the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive
and there are no other matters the omission of which would make any staterment herein or this report misleading.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
M RE

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS
For the year ended 31 March

Revenue Wea

Gross loss E£18

Loss before income tax PRET1S IR AT RS 18

Loss attributable to the owners of the ~ &A T A AEILEE
Company

Basic loss per Share (HK cents) SREXREE CB1)

Dividend per Share (HK cents) SRS CEl)

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 March

Total assets MEE

Cash and cash equivalents RERIRETEEY
Total liabilities waE

Equity attributable to the owners RABVEE NEhLER

of the Company

mEEE

BE=ZHA=1+—HIFEZ

Changes
%)

70.6%
-67.5%
-47.0%

-42.8%
-42.8%
N/AT 8

iR E MR
R=A=+—H

Changes
]

22.1%
-36.2%
15.6%

-12.1%

2022
—E-CH
HK$’000
FET

408,175
(9,356)
(42,059)

(41,729)
(1.03)
N/ATE B

2022
—E==

HK$’000
FHET

213,481
42,560
598,789

(386,796)

2021
T
HK$ 000
TET

239,233
(28,820)
(79,350)

(72,946)
(1.80)
N/ATR i A

2021
TR
HK$ 000
TET

174,911
66,743
518,104

(345,104)
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBRE

RATIOS o o= 3
As at 31 March R=A=+—H

2022

—EC

Return on equity (Note a) R O1ER (B3ta) N/ATRE A
Return on assets (Note b) BE[DR (Wab) -19.7%
Current ratio (Note ¢) RENLLE (B aEc) 0.32 timef&
Gearing ratio (Note d) BEEBMGELEX (#atd) 173.8%
Notes: Vo=

N/ATIE A
-42.2%
0.32 timef&
202.6%

(@  Return on equity is calculated as net loss divided by Shareholders’ equity. () BRI FEEFRURKERE

() Return on assets is calculated as net loss divided by total assets. (o) BERRILIZFEERUBEETH-

()  Current ratio is calculated as total current assets divided by total current  (¢) RENLEZE B IR ENE EARZEIRLUREI B RAEREST

liabilities. Ho

(d)  Gearing ratio is calculated as total amount of promissory note, convertible  (d) BEESGLEEDZEALERE  JREEE - HBE
notes, lease liabilities and contract liabilities divided by total assets. BERENEBRETRUBEETH




CORPORATE PROFILE
AT

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of civil engineering
services for the public sector in Hong Kong and media and
advertising business comprising television broadcasting business
in the Asia-Pacific region (excluding the PRC) and digital marketing
business on overseas market in return for advertising and related
revenue.

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Law,
cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961 as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands on 15 March 2010 and the Shares were listed on GEM on
30 August 2010.

The Group’s business of provision of civil engineering services
for the public sector is carried out through TYW and TY Civil
respectively with TYW responsible for signing and implementing
civil engineering contracts as a main contractor and forming joint
operations while TY Civil responsible for signing and implementing
civil engineering contracts as a subcontractor and forming joint
operations.

The Group’s media and advertising business is mainly carried out
through BayTV Network Holdings Limited, Xinhua TV Asia-Pacific
as well as Shenzhen Qianhai Xinhua TV Cultural Development
Limited* CRIIRTBHEEBRXILERBRLF).

*for identification purpose only

FEFRTERERTBRAEHMPIRELIAL
BRBUREENBESER  8EREXE
(FEETE) ETERBEREF RN EING
GRS E T LESES MAER W -

ARBIR_E—SF=A+ABREBEHMEEEH
BRBNEF22E (—NAR—FEFIB RS
B REEHEEMMIAEREEREE
REERHON _ZE—ZFFEN\B=1+HEGEM
Ee

TEEDHEBERKBREEZELIARZRA
EMPIRBIATERBES  EXKFES
UEEAEBBPEII KRBT EARAIREGHIU
RERIGERE MEXLTAREBEUNEH
BNBRIRBITEAIREEGHOURKIEE
e

AEEZHERESEFTIELEEERE
BIRABHEBRD RS URRYIATEHE
BEXICERBRATET
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CORPORATE PROFILE
AT

REGISTRATIONS HELD FOR UNDERTAKING

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group has obtained the following registrations from Works
Branch Development Bureau (22 & /5 T ##1) of the Government

for undertaking projects as a main contractor:

Registration

=t

AREXTEXEBRBZEMR

FEBERBFERER THRES THIEM
DEREAEBREIRE !

Value of project which the Group is eligible to undertake
under the relevant registration

REBERERFERSERAEZIRZEE

Approved Contractors for Public Works —
Waterworks Category (Group C)
(probationary status)

R AR TREAER —KFEILREER (RH

(MHA151%)

Approved Contractors for Public Works —
Roads and Drainage Category (Group C)
(probationary status)

RO AHTERER —ERKRERHLRELER

(RA) HR181%)

Approved Contractors for Public Works —
Site Formation Category (Group C)
(probationary status)

RO AHTEAER MR TETREER

(R HRA181%)

A maximum of two contracts exceeding HK$400 million each in any
one category, provided that the total value of works in any one
category does not exceed HK$1,500 million

R AER—ELHR P MIES4EEB3E400,000,00058 7T > HE
I — @485 T2 AR B E R #83%81,500,000,0007% 7T

A maximum of two contracts exceeding HK$400 million each in any
one category, provided that the total value of works in any one
category does not exceed HK$1,500 million

R AER—ELHER P RMIES4EEB3E400,000,00058 7T > HE
A — @485 T2 AR B E R #8381,500,000,0007% 7T

A maximum of two contracts exceeding HK$400 million each in any
one category, provided that the total value of works in any one
category does not exceed HK$1,500 million

R AER—EHER P MIES4EEB3E400,000,00058 7T > HE
A — @485 T2 AR B E R #8381,500,000,0007% 7T

Also, the Group has registered under the Voluntary Subcontractor
Registration Scheme GE3& %1% D B MEIE), which is
maintained by the Construction Industry Council (& 2£:% ) , for
participating in civil engineering works, road works and drainage
services and waterworks engineering services as a sub-contractor.
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CORPORATE PROFILE
AT

CORPORATE STRUCTURE OF THE COMPANY

The following diagram illustrates the corporate structure of the

Company as at 31 March 2022:

RIS

Investment holding and provision of

The Company
(Cayman Islands)

management services
FAF
(FES#HE)
REERRIRHEERE

RATIEERE

TESRRAEAT

A— g — —

S _B__HF=RH=+—H

100%
TYW (BVI) Profit Station Succeed Axis Concept CNC Logistic Core Galaxy Shenzhen
Limited Limited Capital Limited Limited Limited Limited Qianhai Xinhua
BVI) BV) BV) BV) BV) BVI) TV Cultural
Investment Investment Investment Investment Inactive Investment Development
holding holding holding holding CNC Logistic holding Limited*
TYW (BVI) Profit Station Succeed Axis Concept Limited Core Galaxy " BC)
Limited Limited Capital Limited Limited EEBELHE) Limited Media and
(EEBEZHE) (EBEZHE) (EBEZEHE) (FEBEZHE) TELE (EEEZHE) advertising
BEER BEER BEER BEER BEER business
FYE e E
BRXEER
ARAR
()
A
100% 100% 100%
97% 97%
TYW TY Civil Karaoke Xinhua TV BayTV Network
(Hong Kong) (Hong Kong) Limited Asia-Pacific Holdings
Provision of Holding of (Hong Kong) (Hong Kong) Limited
civil engineering motor vehicles, Provision of Media and (Hong Kong)
services and provision of civil management advertising Media and
laying of water engineering services business advertising
pipes senices and EHERAT HETHTAL business
ER KT laying of water &) (&8) BEBHAE
(&4E) Pipe RHEIBRY 1R K BRAH
BT ATRE EELAK EEER (&8)
AR 75 R B8 (&E) YR58 T
KE FHBER =M EEED
TARITEBRH K
HEKE

* for identification purpose only

Y EHEE
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
AvEM

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Dr. Jiang Yan (Chairman)

Dr. Li Yong Sheng (Vice chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Liu Da Yong

Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung

Non-executive Directors
Ms. Tang Li
Mr. Law Cheuk Hung

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wu Guo Ming

Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron, 8BS, JP

Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth (Resigned on 14 October 2022)

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Dr. Li Yong Sheng
Ms. Li Yuet Tai

COMPLIANCE OFFICER

Dr. Li Yong Sheng

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Li Yuet Tai, crA

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Ms. Tang Li

Mr. Law Cheuk Hung

Mr. Wu Guo Ming

Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron, B8S, JP

Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth
(Resigned on 14 October 2022)
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
ATEM

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron, B8S, Jr (Chairman)
Mr. Wu Guo Ming
Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth (Resigned on 14 October 2022)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Dr. Jiang Yan (Chairman)

Dr. Li Yong Sheng

Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung

Mr. Wu Guo Ming

Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron, BBS, JP

Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth (Resigned on 14 October 2022)

RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

Mr. Wu Guo Ming
Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron, BBS, JP
Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth (Resigned on 14 October 2022)

AUDITORS

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

REGISTERED OFFICE

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681
Grand Cayman, KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

HINEEE

FRERIE » x2S kTt (T/E)
SESE A E
FRELYE (RZE = —F+F+I9HEFHE)

RHZEEE

Zaldt (FE)

FXFAEL

RS E

SE#SE

FERISLE » LA ES X TP+

FRELRE (R _F - _F1H+OHEE)

EEEEHZET

SRS E

FEoRMcE  trgH 22k Fwt

FhR#EGd (R oE - —F4H+I9HFHE)
Z BT

@ gt M EHRAERAT
BEDEAT

ISR

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681
Grand Cayman, KY1-1111
Cayman Islands
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
NS

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS
IN HONG KONG

Flat 314, 3/F,

Fuk Shing Commercial Building,
28 On Lok Mun Street,

Fanling, New Territories.

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER
OFFICE IN CAYMAN ISLANDS

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive

PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman

KY1-1111, Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Investor Services Limited
Level 54, Hopewell Centre,

183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai
Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Hang Seng Bank Limited
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited

WEBSITE
http://www.cnctv.hk
STOCK CODE

8356
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Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited

Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive
PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands

EERMEEERSE
SEREEILARAT
E

BT 2 5 A HR1835%
EFB 05418

FEFRIRTT

BERTARAT
BB LEEERITARAT

NSIEEN

http://www.cnctv.hk

A7 X5

8356



DEFINITIONS
B =

In this report, unless the context otherwise requires, the following £ IRER » fF X 25 B 550 > T 55058 K
words and expressions shall have the following meanings when ;&K IRE @ HEA B TR -

used herein:

“AGM”
MEERBERE]

“Board”
lEEg)

“BVI”
B R LA

“China Xinhua NNC”

Mo BT EE R B AR A

“CNC China”

Mo B3 2 3 AR A

(GEIEDN

“Company”

/NS

“Director(s)”

==y

“Financial Statements”

A Fs

“GEM”
IGEM J

the annual general meeting of the Company

TABDRRBEREG

the board of Directors
o=

the British Virgin Islands
REBRRES

China Xinhua News Network Co., Limited (FEIFEFBEBRBEERAE),
company incorporated in Hong Kong and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Xinhua News
Agency (¥ﬁ§?i) and a substantial Shareholder of the Company

PR ENEEREERAR — XN EBHFMB I ZRBEI AN EL ZEE
B T ﬂﬁ?%zli’z}ﬂizzﬂzﬁ

P EFFEFFRERAEE AT, a company incorporated in the PRC, which owns
100% of the equity interests in China Xinhua NNC, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Xinhua News Agency and a substantial Shareholder of the Company
HEMEMEAEREERAS > —RINPREFMMRILZ AT R RBIRTERR
FEEREI100%KE  BHEH 22 ENBREKRAREZEERE

CNC Holdings Limited (FEI#TZEBRIZER B RAE)), a company incorporated in
the Cayman Islands with limited liability on 15 March 2010

PR ESHEERARAT — KRN _E—EBF=-B+HEHTHESHETMR
U ZERAT

director(s) of the Company
KABIES

the audited financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022
rEEBE_Z__F=-RB=1+—HIEFEZEEZYHTRE

the GEM of the Stock Exchange
Ht 22 PRGEM

hEMETRERARAT 20212022 £ 11



DEFINITIONS
B =

“GEM Listing Rules” the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM

FGEM_E AR AN {5  GEMEEZ Em#RA]

“Government” the Government of Hong Kong

MU ) B BBB

“Group” the Company and its subsidiaries

TAREEE) B AREKRENEAS

“HK$” and “HK cent(s)” Hong Kong dollar(s) and cent(s), respectively, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

M o) B AL B D ARBBEEEEE AT AN

“Hong Kong” the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC

r&#] £  HFEEBFHTHE

“Macau” the Macau Special Administrative Region of the PRC

P B PFEIRPIERITHRE

“Mr. Kan” Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung (& EI#¥) , an executive Director

Mg d) B WITESHEHLE

“PRC” the People’s Republic of China, excluding Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan

Mo B AFEARHEMED FEESEEVRFIKREE

“SFO” the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) as
amended or otherwise modified from time to time

e85 ARG 1R B1) 5  BEEIABST1ER S RBAERE &FEETUEME EX

“Share(s)” ordinary share(s) of the Company

B 15 ] B AREZEBER

“Shareholder(s)” holder(s) of the Share(s)

MR ER B ROFBEA




DEFINITIONS
B =

“Shunleetat”

I'Shunleetat J

“Stock Exchange”
TE 32T

“TY Civil”

MEELT K]

[ 2E K F5

“WSD”
MkFEE

“Xinhua TV Asia-Pacific”

MrEBREARE]

ll%ll
M% |

Shunleetat (BVI) Limited, a company incorporated in the BVI which is wholly and
beneficially owned by Mr. Kan

Shunleetat (BVI) Limited» — XN EBRELFHEFMA L2 2B HEXELEE
mHER

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BEBMERBARAT

Tsun Yip Civil Construction Company Limited (&2 + K T2 HFR/AF]), a company
incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability on 16 June 2000 and an indirect non-
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company

EEXTARTIBERAT — KR _EEZF A +AHASEZMBULZER
RED BERBZEFF2ENE LT

Tsun Yip Waterworks Construction Company Limited GEZ/KFEZEARAT), a
company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability on 6 February 1996 and an
indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company

EFKBEEARRE — KR —ANANEZANBHESBEMALZERL
8 RARBZEEELENB AT

Water Supplies Department (7K #%%) of the Government
B K#EE

Xinhua TV Asia-Pacific Operating Co., Limited GiEBRE KB EEHF/RAE), a
company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability on 22 December 2009 and
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
MEBREABEEBRRAR — XN IE2ENF+ A+ HEEBHM
MIUIZBRAE #RARBZEEL2ENEAS

per cent

Bt

hEFESRIZERARAS 2021/2022 £ 13



CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ETEREE

To all Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present the annual results
of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022.

RESULTS FOR THE YEAR

During the year ended 31 March 2022, we had obtained
approximately HK$408.2 million (2021: HK$239.2 million) revenue,
which represented an increase of approximately 70.6% over the
revenue for the year ended 31 March 2021.

The gross loss of the Group was amounted to approximately
HK$9.4 million (2021: approximately HK$28.8 million) for the year
ended 31 March 2022.

The net loss of our Group for the year ended 31 March 2022 was
approximately HK$42.2 million (2021: approximately of HK$73.8
million), representing a decrease of approximately 42.8% from that
of previous year.

FUTURE PROSPECTS

During the year, revenue derived from provision of civil engineering
services remained as core business of the Group and thus the main
contributor of revenue of the Group. In the meantime, the Group
devoted efforts to explore its media and advertising business.

14 CNC HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021/2022
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ITEREE

Hong Kong continued to be affected by the repeated wave of
COVID-19 outbreak in 2021 and early 2022. Notwithstanding
various virus containing measures being imposed, the construction
industry was not significantly impacted. The Group continued to
implement its civil engineering projects with efforts devoted to
maintain its high quality of services within the targeted completion
schedules. Nonetheless, in view of the intensifying competition in
acquiring new projects and increasing cost of construction, the
Group will closely monitor the market situations and adjust its
operation plans when necessary and continue to strengthen its
competitive edge over competitors in the construction industry and
attempts to expand the business scope in order to mitigate the
negative impact of uncertain economic climate.

The Group’s media and advertising business remained stagnant
and was facing very challenging conditions last year because of
prudent marketing expenditure by customers in face of difficult
global economic time and the fast changing audience’s habits and
preference towards digital advertising platforms. Looking forward,
the Group will continue to be endeavored in actively promoting the
synergies operation of multiple media platforms including traditional
media and other digital media. The Group aims at exploring any
potential new business opportunities in the media and advertising
business to improve its performance.

The outbreak of COVID-19 epidemic remained persistent in 2022
and the business environment will remain highly challenging due
to the negative impact of prolonged economic downturn caused
by the coronavirus pandemic. In face of the challenges ahead,
the Group will continue to optimise its resources and competitive
advantages so as to provide professional services to its customers
and our proven track record and the experience in various aspects
will enable us to provide a wide range of quality and professional
services to our customers and broaden the sources of revenue and
profit of the Group.

EBENR S —FER_E-_FHEST
COVID-19B BN R B E - BE L ENRESER
FEGIER BREETENESINEATE-
AEBEEBEME T ATREER BHEBRE
EIRERARFESEENRE -BREN
It EFREEUIE B B F IR KRB A
1@ AEBBRYIEE R W ENER
BRHEEBEHIREBEEBNRESRETENR
FENED TERBARERDBEUERB IR

ERBRENEmR -

AR EREENRENERCER PSRN
EHAX KRB FTESTaREEE0
BERRE  WEETEBNERBRESES
AR BE+2OAREENER - BE
R AEEREES ) BREEFRER
REMBBRESSERETFONHRZEE K
EREERRERNESEBRBENEK
e EHZEE-

—E T T FCOVID-19B 1E N ARE » BRI
BREBEERNEE TR AE RN RS E
T EFRIBNE AR IE - BB ARRAK
B AEEREBRBLTHERAGFES 1
MmaERRHEERS BRMAEITEASE
A B AR R RPN AT R REM
BE7ZREE B ERT W R A S B U m A
F R
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~ CHAIRMAN’S STATEME
EITEBREE

APPRECIATION g

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to &% > A ABEEILLK S RESIHE2EEE
express my most sincere appreciation to all the management team BEERETIEBELZFNENARERBRUR
and staff for their dedication and contribution over the past years. | O\ E > W RIS FFERE T Ao (HEm L E
would also like to thank all the Shareholders, customers, suppliers B £ S B ST o

and business partners for their continuous support and trust.

Jiang Yan E2 =]
Chairman E

24 QOctober 2023 “ET=F#+A"+m1lH




MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENmBEOH

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of civil engineering
services for the public sector in Hong Kong and media and
advertising business comprising television broadcasting business
in the Asia-Pacific region (excluding the PRC) and digital marketing
business on overseas market in return for advertising and related
revenue. During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group
continued to focus on rendering civil engineering services to the
public sector in Hong Kong, conducted its media and advertising
business in return for advertising and related income.

Provision of civil engineering services

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group has been
undertaking ten contracts. Among the ten contracts, one of these
is related to provision of waterworks engineering services and the
remaining contracts are related to provision of drainage services
and site formation services. Details of the contracts undertaken are
set out below:

275 [0l B8

AEFRTERBTBLAEMPIRELIARAIER
BUREERESES GfFREZXE (T8
HEHRE) NERBRER RIBINTIHR RS
BHED LUBSESREMBG BE_ZF
T TFZR=T—HULFE xEREEEE L
RABBREESPRHEIATRERS FHEH
RRIERBEE RS UESES RAERA -

Rt KRITRERE

BE_S__F=ZRA=+—HLEE x&E=E
—BETTEAN - R+EGN+F Hfh—18
BRIBHKB IRERBER > HRa 48] HiEgH
ERIRB R B ERB B -FTAEENZ
EIBEIWT

Contract period

Contract number  Particulars of contract Client under main contracts
BHETR LS ER REXESHANENH
Main contracts
&4
Q067133 Elevated Road along Lohas Park Road MTR Corporation Mar 2019 -Jul 2019
and the pedestrian footbridge FB1 Limited
HERREZBRBREITAREBI TAERERAT T-hF=BE
“Z-hEtA
ND/2019/08 Site formation works at remaining part of ~ Civil Engineering Jan 2020 -May 2021
Tai Po area 39 and Development
Department of the
Government
REEOFEH THANHBETETRE  BNRIAIREEEE ZZZ2F5—-ABZF
“ET-FTA
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Contract period

Contract number  Particulars of contract Client under main contracts
BHETR EEES ER REFSHNEHNEH
Subcontracts
SEEN
CV/2015/03 Site Formation and Infrastructural Works ~ Hsin Chong Tsun Yip  Nov 2015-June 2020
near Tong Hang Road and Tsz Tin Joint Venture
Road in Area 54, Tuen Mun
AR TR ET R R REEN MEEXHE “Z-nfF+—RE
MEBTERHERETR “2TEERA
CV/2016/10 Site Formation and Association Hsin Chong Tsun Yip  Dec 2017 -Jun 2021
Infrastructural Works for Development Joint Venture
of Columbarium at Sandy Ridge
Cemetery
POBELAEREERENTHTER HEEEHE “Z—+tHF+°RE
{m) —F—
ERERIRE A Total contract value
PYC- Stte Formation, Foundation & Sub- Paul Y. Construction  Aug 2020 ~Dec 2022 %iﬁ?fé% ullley
03084BAH-001 structure Works for the Student Company Limited ' 2':’ '2“70§800 0003
Residence Development at The e 7t
?e%r;% <P)(lgng University of Science and Total amount of works
T AL —me e g certified (Nots)
REBREASHELATBEEEN REREERAT —BIBFNAE HK$1.575.0 millon
TR MER THAREIR “E-"E+°H DHETEEE (12)
n. m = o

ND/2018/02

1002EM19A

EP/SP/10/91

The Establishment of an Agricultural Pak
in Kwu Tung South (Phase 1)
R ARRIRER (518

Design-Build-Operate for the Additional
District Cooling System (DCS) at the
Kai Tak Development (KTD)

REZEBEINEHMS RN

0o REREE

South East-New Territories (SENT) Landfill

Extension

MAREEER

Harvest - Tsun Yip
Joint Venture
RE—EERE

Paul Y - Qianhai Joint
Venture

RE-AIBHE

Paul Y. Construction
&Engineering Co.
Limited

RERETEEARA
i
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Oct 2020 -Oct 2022
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Dec 2020 -Dec 2023
“ETEREFCRE

B4R
July 2021 =July 2023
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Contract number

GLL

Particulars of contract

GG

Client
ER

Contract period
under main contracts

RBEF SO S

Joint Operations

BEEH

CV/2015/03

CVv/2016/10

ND/2018/02

4/WSD/19

CV/2019/04

Note:

Site Formation and Infrastructural Works
near Tong Hang Road and Tsz Tin
Road in Area 54, Tuen Mun

BPI5AR AP IE S B8 K R FHBRAY £ 3t
TERERTR

Site Formation and Infrastructural Works
for Development of Columbarium at
Sandy Ridge Cemetery

RYEAERESRENTHTER
ERERIR

The Establishment of an Agricultural Pak
in Kwu Tung South (Phase 1)

R PERIE%E (1)

Development of Anderson Road Quarry
site-construction of grey water
treatment plant

ﬁ%%ﬁa%%%%f$mﬁ@@@%
1%

Site Formation and Infrastructure Works
near Tsz Tin Road and Hing Fu Street
in Area 54, Tuen Mun

BREAEAT AR R EEHM
THTRRERIR

Civil Engineering
and Development
Department of the
Government

Bt ATRREE

Cvil Engineering
and Development
Department of the
Government

Bt ATRARE

Civil Engineering
and Development
Department of the
Government

HFLATIRREREE

WSD

KHE

Cvil Engineering
and Development
Department of the
Government

Bt ATRARE

Amount of works certified is based on the certificates of payment

received from client.

Nov 2015-June 2020

R =

“BTEERA

Dec 2017-Jun 2021

“3tF{7BE
e S

Oct 2020 -Oct 2022

- EES
—T__#+A

Sep 2020 -Sep 2025
“ZTZFNEE
ZZTHFNA

Dec 2020 -Jun 2024

BBREE o

FEFEERERERAT 2021/2022 F3R

“3-E{TAE
ZEIMEAA
Mz EBERIBIEBSEDREBEERBRIIZAM
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Among the above ten contracts, a contract (contract numbered
EP/SP/10/91) were newly awarded during the year ended 31
March 2022.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, contracts with
contract numbered CV/2016/10 and 1002EM19A were the
main contributors to the Group’s revenue, which generated
approximately HK$98.9 million and approximately HK$87.9 million,
constituting approximately 24.2% and 21.5% of the Group’s total
revenue respectively.

Media and advertising business

The outbreak of the COVID-19 and its escalation on a global scale
has triggered unprecedented disruptions in business operations
and to the economy. The emergence of mutated variants of the
virus has caused a persisted and prolonged outbreak and has
triggered unprecedented disruptions in business operations and to
the economy.

The Group’s media and advertising business continues
experiencing a challenging operating environment, in particular,
the overall contraction of the advertising market, intensive
competition in a crowded marketplace with different operators
and the changing user habits and preferences caused by rapid
development and ever-changing new media technology. Upon
the expiry of television broadcasting right, this segment remains
stagnant in the current year. To tackle with the declining advertising
customer demands and cater to the changing industry trends, the
Group will explore the opportunities to cooperate with reputable
partners in the industry to transform its media and advertising
business from conventional television platforms to various internet
and digital media platforms. Notwithstanding of the challenges
ahead, Group is endeavored to explore any new business
opportunities that may create synergetic value with existing media
and advertising business to expand its revenue streams.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Looking ahead, it would be a difficult year ahead as both the global
and local economy has suffered a serious hit by the COVID-19
pandemic and the economic recovery is on the blurry side. The
Group will remain cautious and closely monitor the economic and
market conditions and make necessary adjustments to its business
operations to overcome the challenges ahead.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group reported a revenue
of approximately HK$408.2 million (2021: approximately HK$239.2
million), representing an increase of approximately 70.6% as
compared with that for the previous year. All of the Group’s revenue
were derived from provision of civil engineering services during
the year ended 31 March 2022. The Group did not derive any
advertising revenue (2021: approximately HK$34.8 million) from
media and advertising business for the year ended 31 March 2022.
The overall increase in revenue was mainly due to increase in work
from civil engineering projects for the year ended 31 March 2022.

BERK > ARSI AL HEESCOVID-19
BIEER REFEHREN—F > QEEEER
SREMA - AEBRRIFER BUBERKHE
MGk THEBEESETHLENH
B PSR R BIPKEL 0

A #5 (o] 8

L

BE_Z__F-A=+—HLFE x&H

18 IR T549408,200,0008 7 (CE_—F ' &
239,200,000 7T) » BREAFIEINEI70.6% © &

EE_HF=R=+—HULEFE FEEZ
FIEWRERBRELTATRERB - BEZS
T TEFE=A=+—HIEFE AERWES
AIREERBERESEHB 2 ESHE T2 2—
F 1 £934,800,000%7T) o W EREBIEMHEE
HREBEE ST -_—_F-HA=-+—HLEFEZL
ATRIBEENIESIEM.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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During the year ended 31 March 2022, the revenue of the Group
was primarily generated from the undertaking of civil engineering
contracts in the capacity of a subcontractor and joint ventures. The
breakdown of total revenue by nature of capacity of the Group is set
forth below:

“HE=ZRA=t+—HLEFE F&EH

BHE_Z_—

WaETBREUDEBBREEDFNEEZ
ITARIREN -BEEBEMHEEDEZRU

HHERT

For the year ended 31 March

mF

HE-A=+—HLEE

Provision of civil engineering services R AT RRE
Income from construction works: REBETREA :
Main contractor TEEB
Subcontractor NEH

Jointly controlled operations HEZHILE
Sub-total INEF

Media and advertising business BERESEH
Advertising income BEHRA

Total g

2022 2021
k- e -

HK$000 % of total HK$000 % of total
AR5 AR
FET B2 H(%) FET B (%)
1,234 0.3 12,406 5.2
270,263 66.2 103,380 43.2
136,678 33.5 88,684 37.1
408,175 100.0 204,470 85.5
- - 34,763 14.5
408,175 100.0 239,233 100.0
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Cost of services

The Group’s cost of services increased by approximately 55.8% to
approximately HK$417.5 million (2021: approximately HK$268.1
million) for the year ended 31 March 2022 as compared with that
for the previous year. The Group’s cost of services mainly includes
costs of construction services and costs of media and advertising
business. Costs of construction services mainly comprise raw
materials, direct labour and subcontracting fee for services
provided by the subcontractors. Costs of media and advertising
business mainly comprise of costs of television broadcasting
business and costs of digital marketing business. Costs of
television broadcasting business mainly comprise transmission
costs, broadcasting fee and other direct costs attributable to
television broadcasting business. Transmission costs comprise
satellite transmission fee and carriage fee payable to satellite
operators while broadcasting fee comprises annual fee payable to
media broadcasting providers and China Xinhua News Network
Co., Limited (“China Xinhua NNC”). Costs of digital marketing
business mainly comprise of costs of usage of information contents
to content providers and other direct costs. The increase in cost
of services was mainly due to the overall increase in staff costs,
materials and subcontracting costs in respect of increase of works
from civil engineering projects from provision of civil engineering
services business for the year. The following table sets out a
breakdown of the Group’s cost of services:

AR #5 A 2

AEEBRE_T-__HF=-ZA=+—H1L
FEZBRBUEAREFIEMAE5.8%ELH
417,500,000 7t (ZZ& = —14F : £9268,100,000
B AEENRBRETEEZCERERS
PR R IR BE I B S T A o B RARFBE A E
ZEBRME BRS TR EBHIRHARSH
NEER - REKESEBRNEITEZCREER
BEREB R AR BISE T A o BAREN
FHENATEOREEERT - BRERAKRER
BEG R E BN A - FIER A EER
ERxERKBNEECER 2EHER M
BRERREERN TRERRHEER KT
Bl ENE B REERAT (HEMEREES
BB 2FE - BIFEHETN T2 EER
EREARSRAREHER ST ZHAKRE
thEZRE - RFAAIBNERBRREFER
HEARTERBEBHNLIATIRBEENITRE

EREMERE TRE M kD M AEREE
e MR AEBIRBMA ZEFE

hEFESRERARAS 2021/2022 £k 23



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEm R

Costs of construction services
Raw materials
Direct labour
Subcontracting fee
Other direct costs

Subtotal

Costs of media and advertising business

Transmission costs

Broadcasting fee

Depreciation of right-of-use assets of
transmission costs

Depreciation of right-of-use assets of
broadcasting fee

Cost of information contents of digital
marketing business

Other direct costs attributable to media and
advertising business

Subtotal

Total

BERBENS
Rt
BEEST
NBER
HthERmE

st

RERESEBNE
BEMA

BIER

BEmAZ EREEE
e
BHERZEREEE
i
HBEHEHZEARNS
A
HFREMEEEBEERM
BEEMA

It

B
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For the year ended 31 March
BE=B=1+—HLEE

2022 2021

—E-C _E_—F
HK$000 % of total HK$000 % of total
AR5 AR
FET B (%) FET B (%)
34,696 8.3 18,632 7.0
91,668 22.0 78,417 29.3
192,197 46.0 58,660 21.9
98,970 23.7 79,926 29.8
417,531 100.0 235,635 88.0
- - 72 0.0
- - - 0.0
- - 57 0.0
- - 1,685 0.6
- - 27,415 10.2
- - 3,189 1.2
- - 32,418 12.0
417,531 100.0 268,053 100.0




MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Gross loss

The gross loss for the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022
decreased by approximately 67.5% to approximately HK$9.4
million (2021: approximately HK$28.8 million) as compared with
that for the previous year. The gross loss margin of the Group was
approximately 2.3% (2021: approximately 12.0%) for the year
ended 31 March 2022. The decrease in gross loss was mainly due
to the increase in work from certain newly awarded civil engineering
projects which were in early working stage with higher gross profit
margin and the implementation of operation plans by the Group to
control construction costs.

Other income

The Group’s other income for the year ended 31 March 2022
decreased by approximately 63.7% to approximately HK$4.5
million (2021: approximately HK$12.4 million) as compared with
that for the previous year. The decrease in other income was mainly
due to the absence of receipt of subsidies of the Employment
Support Scheme under the Anti-epidemic Fund, set up by the
Hong Kong Government for the year ended 31 March 2022.

Other losses, net

The Group’s other losses, net for the year ended 31 March 2022
decreased by 50.4% to approximately HK$0.5 million (2021:
approximately HK$0.9 million) as compared with that for the
previous year. Other losses, net mainly consisted of allowance
for expected credit losses recognised for trade receivables and
contract assets and net gains on disposal of property, plant and
equipment for the year ended 31 March 2022.

E£i8

AEBBEE_T"F-A=+—HLEE
ZEEREERIDA67.5%FE#99,400,00078 7T
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Amortisation of intangible assets

The amortisation of intangible assets mainly consisted of
amortisation charges of television broadcasting right for the
television broadcasting business included in media and advertising
business. As the intangible assets had been fully impaired for the
year ended 31 March 2021, the Group’s amortisation of intangible
assets for the year ended 31 March 2022 was amounted to
approximately HK$nil (2021: approximately HK$18.3 million).

Selling and distribution expenses

The Group’s selling and distribution expenses for the year ended
31 March 2022 was amounted to approximately HK$0.8 million
(2021: approximately HK$0.8 million). The selling and distribution
expenses were mainly consisted of advertising expenses for the
television broadcasting business included in media and advertising
business for the year.

Administrative and operating expenses

The Group’s administrative and operating expenses for the
year ended 31 March 2022 decreased by approximately
32.9% to approximately HK$17.5 million (2021: approximately
HK$26.0 million) as compared with that for the previous year.
The administrative and operating expenses mainly consisted of
auditors’ remuneration, legal and professional fees, staff costs
(including Directors’ remuneration), depreciation expenses and
rental expenses.

Finance costs

The Group’s finance costs for the year ended 31 March 2022
increased by approximately 120.9% to approximately HK$20.6
million (2021: approximately HK$9.3 million) as compared with that
for the previous year. The finance costs mainly consist of interest
expenses for the promissory note and convertible notes.

26 CNC HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021/2022

B A E
ﬁ%%éﬁﬁiﬁ EWARBRESER
BERBENEBT  BRBRNEZ#BIES

ﬁ mﬁﬁﬁééaﬁﬁi_v_—ﬁ A
=+ HBIEFERERAE AEEAREEZS
T CE-R=+—RHIEEEZEFREEHH
HATBRIT(CTEZ—5F 1 4918,300,0005E 7T) ©

HERDHAX

FEEBRE_T - _F-A=+—HLEE

ZIHE R iHE Y A49800,0008 T (& - —
£ #9800,000/87T) c AEEHE KD IHMAS

TEOREMARBRESEH 2 BRERE
Bz BEERZ-
ITHREERS
AEERBSE_Z__F=H=+—HLF

ERITB R KSR REFRH D H32.9%E 4
17,500,000/ 75 (ZZ& Z—4F : £926,000,00078
70) TR SRS F B EIEZBENFHIM &
BENEXER BINA (BIEBEESHMW I
ERSIUEBEEMAZ

RE A

FrEERBE_ZT-__F=A=+—HL
FENRBENTREFEIMAA120.9%FEH
20,600,000 7Tt (Z &= —14F © £99,300,000%
T  RMENATIEOEARRBERABKRE
B2 H BRI



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENmBEOH

Impairment assessment of contract assets and receivables

The Group made a provision of additional expected credit
losses allowance of approximately HK$707,000 (2021: reversal
of allowance of approximately HK$74,000), approximately
HK$53,000 (2021: approximately HK$97,000) and approximately
HK$149,000 (2021: approximately HK$93,000) for trade
receivable, other receivables and deposits and contract assets
based on the impairment assessment for the year ended 31
March 2022. According to the policy of impairment provision of
receivables of the Group, the Group: (i) has decided the receivable
portfolio by using aging as the credit risk characteristics, and has
made provisions for doubtful debts for trade receivables and other
receivables based on the aging analysis approach, and (i) has
sorted the customers against whom the provisions for doubtful
debts has been made, and has estimated the expected credit loss,
taking into account the recoverability of certain receivables, in order
to estimate the impairment provisions for receivables.

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the management of the Group
concluded there was indication of impairment and conducted
impairment assessment on recoverable amounts of property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets respectively. The
recoverable amount of the relevant assets has been determined on
the basis of their value in use and fair value less cost to disposal.
Based on the result of the unexpected poor performance of the
assessment, the management of the Group determined that
the recoverable amount is lower than the carrying amount. An
impairment of approximately HK$1,517,000 (2021: HK$Nil) and
HK$NIl (2021: approximately HK$2,872,000) has been recognised
against the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets during the year ended 31 March 2022
respectively.
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Net loss

The net loss of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022
decreased by 42.9% to approximately HK$42.2 million (2021:
approximately HK$73.8 million) as compared with that for the
previous year. The decrease in net loss was mainly due to
decrease in gross loss and amortisation of intangible assets and
administrative and operating expenses during the year.

Loss per Share

The basic loss per Share attributable to the owners of the Company
for the year ended 31 March 2022 was approximately HK1.03
cents (2021: approximately HK1.80 cents).

PROSPECTS

The outbreak of COVID-19 has continued to pose the risk of
global economic slowdown and all walks of life are affected to a
certain extent. There is still a high degree of uncertainty about the
pandemic, and the outlook for the global economic recovery is
still slow. Amid the uncertain economic outlook, the provision of
civil engineering service business will continue to provide a stable
revenue source and remain the major contributor to the Group’s
revenue while the Group is endeavoured to develop its media and
advertising business. The Group will continue to adopt the strategy
of diversifying the business spectrum and broadening the revenue
base of the Group.
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Provision of civil engineering services

The general outlook of the construction industry and the business
environment remain challenging as the COVID-19 pandemic
situation dragged on with several new variants of the virus, resulting
in issues including disrupted supply chain, rising material costs,
workforce disruptions and rising labour cost which negatively
impacted the construction industry. Although the Group has
not encountered or experienced any material difficulty and/or
delay in completion of the projects and any material supply chain
disruptions of the suppliers due to the outbreak of COVID-19,
the overall rising construction costs and workforce and supply
chain disruption in the market still imposed much pressure on the
operational and financial performance of construction projects.
In addition, the intense competition in the construction industry
in recent years may affect the tendering activities such as the
adoption of more aggressive and competitive project pricing
strategy. The Group’s gross profit margin of the construction
projects and overall profitability and financial performance may be
adversely impacted as a result of the challenges ahead.

In view of the difficulties and challenges ahead in the construction
industry, the Group intends to adopt a prudent approach in
projects selection by tendering to well-established contractors and
remarkable business partners in both private and public sector.
The Group will closely monitor the tendering projects available in
the market and pay close attention to any new infrastructure and
construction projects implemented by the government to seek for
suitable tendering opportunities. Moreover, the Group will keep
the current resources in place strategically and at the same time
actively implementing tight costs-saving measures and closely
monitoring the construction procedures and operation to improve
the efficiency and effectiveness of project management.

Rt KRTREMRE

H I 2B A RS 2 EHRIEECOVID- 1915
EREIEHBERE MR LA FEH
e R F B EAERE HREEERA
Mg BRENBREINSREFRRENAT
MR o BE AL E L MECOVID-19IF 2 M
HERNEEERMEER REEERE
TRAEENERMEHEE S BREME
BELAURTSHEE N R MEERE T
BREBEENEERMBRIEMBERE It
O I FRBRENAURFZ R ERIRE
o NRAEREREAERFIINEEEBR
B AEEBRBENENRREBERME

M FRIFA R LMk B MR B AR & o

ERERERREERAINZEN DS AEER
BEEHREREENERAERINARTE
Bz AREBREFEBREN EREEESE
EHBENEE -~EBRFEYRET S LA
BRIER » W R Y& B B BUT B 5B R
ERBEEHUSKREBENEREBE LI K&
EENN B LRFRAEER  RRRGER
BB BB A BR AV IE I > YR b LA2 7 A
B> RS HE EERMERMMR

hEFESRERARAS 2021/2022 £k 29



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEm R

Media and advertising business

Affected by the COVID-19 outbreak and various unfavorable
factors, industries around the world have suffered from weakened
economic activities, intensified business competition pressure and
declining demand. The difficult business environment is anticipated
to continue in the coming year and the Group expects the media
and advertising industry’s prospects to remain challenging. Amid
the tough operating environment in media industry, the Group
has adjusted its development strategy to switch its focus from
traditional television advertising platform to internet and multimedia
advertising platforms and attempts to pursue cooperation with
reputable business partners in the media industry to generate
synergies between various platforms. In the future, the Group will
continue to promote the brand awareness and integrate multiple
resources to seek for business opportunities that can help maintain
the future development of the Group.

With the Group’s experienced management team and reputation in
the market, the Group is well-positioned to operate in the difficult
and challenging time in the coming years. The Group will continue
to exercise due care in the pursuance of this core business and
further enhance its competitive edge so as to balance the risks
and opportunities in this industry. Looking forward, amid these
challenging times, the Group will adopt a prudent and proactive
development policy to continue to develop its businesses under the
premise of controlling the business risks, and continue to explore
any healthy and suitable commercial investment opportunities to
expand valuable businesses and diversify its business profile to
generate synergy between different business segments.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENmBEOH

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The Shares were listed on GEM on 30 August 2010. The capital of
the Group comprises only ordinary shares.

Total equity attributable to the owners of the Company amounted
to approximately HK$386.8 million in deficit as at 31 March 2022
(31 March 2021: approximately HK$345.1 million). The decrease in
equity was mainly resulted from net loss for the year.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group generally
financed its operations through internally generated cash flows.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had net current liabilities of
approximately HK$404.0 million (31 March 2021: approximately
HK$315.6 million), including cash balance of approximately
HK$42.6 million (31 March 2021: approximately HK$66.7 million).
The current ratio, being the ratio of current assets to current
liabilities, was approximately 0.32 as at 31 March 2022 (31 March
2021: approximately 0.32).

GEARING RATIO

The gearing ratio, which is based on the total amount of promissory
note, convertible notes, lease liabilities and contract liabilities
divided by total assets, was approximately 173.8 % as at 31 March
2022 (31 March 2021: approximately 202.6%).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEm R

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The group entities collect most of the revenue and incur most of the
expenditures in their respective functional currencies. The Directors
consider that the Group’s exposure to foreign currency exchange
risk is insignificant as the majority of the Group’s transactions are
denominated in the functional currency of each individual group
entity. During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group was
mainly exposed to foreign currency exchange risk of Renminbi and
the management mainly monitored the foreign currency exchange
risk with advices from the Group’s major banks.

CAPITAL COMMITMENT

As at 31 March 2022, the Group did not have any significant capital
commitments (31 March 2021: Nil).

CHARGES ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

As at 31 March 2022, the Group’s machinery with net book values
amounted to approximately HK$4.0 million were held under finance
lease. As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s motor vehicles with net
book values amounted to approximately HK$1.1 million were held
under finance lease.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2022, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities (31 March 2021: Nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENmBEOH

INFORMATION ON EMPLOYEES

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had 238 full-time staff in
Hong Kong and over 90% of them are direct labour. Total staff
costs (including Directors’ remuneration) for the year ended 31
March 2022 amounted to approximately HK$99.6 million (2021:
approximately HK$88.3 million), representing an increase of
approximately 12.8% over that for the previous year. The increase
was mainly due to increase of work newly awarded project from
provision of civil engineering business for the year.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD

Except for investment in subsidiaries, during the year ended 31
March 2022 and as at the end of the reporting period, the Group
did not hold any significant investment in equity interest in any
company.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND
CAPITAL ASSETS

As at 31 March 2022, the Group did not have other plans for
material investments and capital assets.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED COMPANIES

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group did not have any
material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries and affiliated
companies.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
EEREFE

DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Dr. Jiang Yan (%), aged 54, the chairman of the Board,
is responsible for the overall business planning and corporate
strategy of the Group. Dr. Jiang obtained a Doctorate of philosophy
in Science from University of Science and Technology of China (7
BRI 25 1 A 22) in 2003. Dr. Jiang joined Xinhua News Agency
after his graduation from university in 1990 and held the positions
of the deputy officer and the officer of Scientific Editorial Office of
International Department of Xinhua News Agency* (i #E 11 Bl B
BRmAREERTERED.
of Xinhua News Agency European Regional Bureau* (i ZE 4L Bl
4831 BI*t ) since 2009, and had been re-designated as the
deputy officer of International Department of Xinhua News Agency*

(FrE B ERE) E ) from 2015 to 2017. Apart from the
positions held in Xinhua News Agency, Dr. Jiang took a temporary

He had been the vice-president

post as the deputy general secretary of Cheng Jiang County of
Yun Nan Province of the PRC* (ERE LB H HEBZRERIZEED) . He
had also held the positions as the Deputy Secretary of Chinese
Society for Science and Technology Journalism* (F B3} 57 3 5 &2
@ E|FEE) and the Secretary of The Beijing Press Association—
Science Field* At REHEZEEHME ), and was a member of the
International Journalists Alliance-Science Field* (tt R0 #&
F4%88) . Dr. Jiang is currently the chairman of the board and chief
executive officer of CNC China and director of China Xinhua NNC.
In the last three years, he held no directorship in any listed public
companies. Dr. Jing has entered into a service contract with the
Company for an initial term of three years commencing from 14
August 2017, and will continue thereafter until terminated by not
less than three months’ notice in writing served by either party on
the other or three months’ salary being payment in lieu of notice.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
EEREFE

Dr. Li Yong Sheng (F7k#), aged 52, vice-chairman of the
Board and chief executive officer of the Group, is responsible for
overseeing the overall project management and daily operations.
Dr. Liis a reporter superior (E{E527&) of Xinhua News Agency and
has been working in Xinhua News Agency since his graduation
from Wuhan University with a degree of Bachelor of Economics and
Management in 1992. Dr. Li obtained a Doctorate of philosophy
in Economics from Wuhan University of Technology in 2010.
Dr. Li has participated in the financial investment seminar of
Tsinghua University and passed the China Securities Qualification
Examination. Dr. Li has held the positions of reporter and editor
in financial and economical businesses. Dr. Li has served as the
associate director of the service line of Xinhua News Agency (#
1 ARFE E4F B4R ES) since 2003 and the editor of Xinhua News
Agency Audio and Video News Desk and the officer of the Financial
Television Centre (B£8R H.0FE 1F) since 2009. Dr. Li also
has extensive management experience and culture and media
operation experience, including working with the General Office of
the Standing Committee of the National People’'s Congress (£
AKEBZEZGIHABE) and the general office of the special steering
committee of the Central Government (FI REIESEE NAHEA
%), and serving as the final correspondent of Xinhua News Agency
GREHRE IR A), the deputy general manager of China
Xinhua NNC and the director of China Finance Television (1 E <
REREEE). Dr. Liis a director of China Xinhua NNC. In the
last three years, Dr. Li did not hold any directorships in any listed
public companies. Dr. Li has entered into a service contract with
the Company for an initial term of three years commencing from 8
December 2017, and will continue thereafter until terminated by not
less than three months’ notice in writing served by either party on
the other or three months’ salary being payment in lieu of notice.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
EEREFE

Mr. Liu Da Yong (B K 8), aged 48, obtained a Bachelor degree
of Law in Armed Police College in 2007. Mr. Liu joined Xinhua
News Agency in 2005 and held the positions of assistant editor of
Xinhua News Agency Audio News Desk (FrEE& &0y and the
legal specialist of Xinhua News Agency Audio and Video News Desk
(RrEErE B ARFESEE) from 2005 to 2010. Mr. Liu was the head of
the legal department of CNC China from 2013 to 2017. Mr. Liu is
a deputy director of administration department of CNC China and
a director of China Xinhua NNC. In the last three years, Mr. Liu did
not hold any directorships in any listed public companies. Mr. Liu
has entered into a service contract with the Company for an initial
term of three years commencing from 8 December 2017, and will
continue thereafter until terminated by not less than three months’
notice in writing served by either party on the other or three months’
salary being payment in lieu of notice.

Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung (f§E#¥), aged 58, is the founder of
the Group. Mr. Kan formed TYW and TY Civil in 1996 and 2000
respectively and has been the director of both companies since
their formation. Mr. Kan has over 29 years of experience in handling
civil engineering projects of various types. In the last three years, he
held no directorships in any listed public companies. Mr. Kan has
entered into a service contract with the Company for an initial term
of three years commencing from 11 August 2010, and will continue
thereafter until terminated by not less than three months’ notice in
writing served by either party on the other or three months’ salary
being payment in lieu of notice. In addition, Mr. Kan has entered into
an employment contract with TYW to act as the director of TYW
for a continuous term commencing from 6 February 1996 until
terminated by not less than thirty days’ notice in writing served by
either party on the other or thirty days’ salary being payment in lieu
of notice.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
EEREFE

Non-Executive Directors

Ms. Tang Li (BRE), aged 45, obtained a master of business
administration in executive management degree in Royal Roads
University in 2010. Ms. Tang joined Xinhua News Agency in 2009
and held the positions of accountant of Xinhua News Agency
Audio News Desk* GHTE & 1R #/0)) and was re-designated as the
accountant of Xinhua News Agency Audio and Video News Desk”
(FrEEHLF1RF8E6) in 2010. She was the Planning and Finance
Director of CNC China from 2013 to 2017. She is currently the
Deputy Director of Financial Assets Department of CNC China and
a director of China Xinhua NNC. In the last three years, she held no
directorships in any listed public companies.

Mr. Law Cheuk Hung (Z£%#), aged 66, has been the
administration manager of TYW and TYC since December 2012
and further been appointed as a director of TYW and TYC since
November 2015. Mr. Law is experienced in office administration
and tender estimate relating to construction projects and has
over 35 years of experience in civil construction works for various
companies prior to joining the Group. Mr. Law obtained a diploma
in civil engineering and a higher certificate in civil engineering from
The Hong Kong Polytechnic University (formerly known as Hong
Kong Polytechnic) in 1978 and 1980 respectively. In the last three
years, he held no directorships in any listed public companies.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
EEREFE

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Wu Guo Ming (52 E#§), aged 60, holds two master degrees
and has over 21 years of experience in enterprise management,
investment, project operations and capital market operations.
Mr. Wu was awarded the qualification of State Senior Corporate
Culture Lecturer* (B &4k (X {EEM) in 2014 and obtained
the required qualification to work in the fund management sectors
(E2ZEEHR)in 2016. He obtained a bachelor degree of
Mathematics from South China Normal University in 1983, a
degree of master of Education from South China Normal University
in 1988 and a degree of master of Business Administration from
Indiana University of Pennsylvania in 1993. Mr. Wu is currently the
deputy general manager of Guangdong Ande Equities Investment
Company Limited* (BERZEREXEFRAE). Mr. Wu also
served as the director and deputy general manager of Guangdong
Zhujiang Investment Company Limited* (B EE T % AR #EE AR (D
A R/AE)) from 2002 to 2003 and as the chairman and president
of Guangdong Yingtong Network Investment Company Limited*
(BEREBAKRLEHRAF) between 2003 and 2015. In the
last three years, Mr. Wu did not hold any directorships in any listed
public companies. He has not, by himself or through his firm in
which he practices, provided professional services to the Company
in last two years.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
EEREFE

Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron, B8s, Jp (BE385%4%), aged 72,
obtained a degree of master of Business Administration from The
Chinese University of Hong Kong in 2008 and a degree of master
of Buddhist studies from The University of Hong Kong in 2010.
Mr. Wan was appointed as a Justice of the Peace (JP) in 1997
and was awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star (BBS) in the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region 2004 Honours List. Mr. Wan
is engaged in the business of property and chattel valuation and
auction. Mr. Wan is a fellow of The Royal Institution of Chartered
Surveyors, an associate of The Institution of Business Agents,
a member of The Land Institute (London), an associate of The
Chartered Institute of Arbitrators and a fellow of The Institute of
Administrative Accounting. Mr. Wan is currently appointed as
the independent non-executive director of Lee & Man Chemical
Company Limited (a company listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 746) and Tongda Hong Tai Holdings Ltd (a
company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 2363). Mr. Wan has been appointed as the independent
non-executive director of Universe Printshop Holdings Limited (a
company listed on the GEM board of the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 8448) until 1 July 2022. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Wan
did not hold any directorships in any other listed public companies
in last three years. He has not, by himself or through his firm in
which he practices, provided professional services to the Company
in last two years.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXELARS

The Board hereby presents this Corporate Governance Report for
the year ended 31 March 2022.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards
of corporate governance to safeguard the interests of the
Shareholders and enhance the performance of the Group.

The Company has applied the principles and code provisions in the
Code on Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”) as set out in
Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules.

In the opinion of the Board, the Company has complied with
the Code throughout the year ended 31 March 2022, except for
paragraphs C.1.8, C.1.6 and C.2.7 of the Code. This report further
illustrates in detail as to how the Code was applied, inclusive of the
considered reasons for any deviation throughout the year ended 31
March 2022.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors on terms which are the same as the
required standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the
GEM Listing Rules.

The Company periodically issues notices to its Directors reminding
them of the general prohibition on dealing in the Company’s listed
securities during the blackout periods before the publication of
announcements of financial results.

The Company has confirmed, having made specific enquiry of the
Directors, that all the Directors have complied with the required
standards of dealings throughout the year ended 31 March 2022.
The Company was not aware of any non-compliance in this respect
throughout the year ended 31 March 2022.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXELRS

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is accountable for promoting the success of the
Company by directing and supervising its affairs in a responsible
and effective manner. Each Director has a duty to act in good faith
and in the best interests of the Company.

Matters reserved for the Board include, but not limited to:

e approval of the Group’s long term objectives and strategy,
policies and annual budgets;

e oversight of the Group’s operations and management;

e approval of major changes to the Group’s corporate structure,
management and control structure;

e approval of quarterly, interim and annual results;

e approval of any significant changes in accounting policies or
practices;

e responsible for the system of internal control and risk
management;

e approval of matters in relation to Board membership and
Board remuneration;

e review of the existing policies of the Company on corporate
governance;

e review of the coverage of knowledge and skills of the training
sessions arranged for the Directors and senior management
by the Company;

e evaluated the effectiveness of internal safeguard procedure for
overseeing timely disclosure of material inside information and
perseverance of its confidentiality;
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e review and monitor the policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regularity requirements;

e monitor the compliance of code of conduct by the Directors
and relevant employees of the Group; and

e review of the Company’s compliance with the Code and
disclosure in this report.

Composition of the Board

The Board currently comprises eight Directors, including four
executive Directors, two non-executive Directors and two
independent non-executive Directors. Biographical details of the
Directors are set out in the “Biographical Details of Directors”
section on pages 34 to 39 of this report. The composition of the
Board is set out as follows:

Executive Directors

Dr. Jiang Yan (Chairman)

Dr. Li Yong Sheng (Vice chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Liu Da Yong

Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung

Non-Executive Directors
Ms. Tang Li
Mr. Law Cheuk Hung

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Wu Guo Ming

Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron, BBS, JP

Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth (resigned on 14 October 2022)
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The list of Directors (by category) is also disclosed in all corporate
communications issued by the Company pursuant to the GEM
Listing Rules from time to time. The independent non-executive
Directors are expressly identified in all corporate communications
pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules. Every Director is entitled to have
access to Board papers and related materials and has access to
the advice and services of the Company Secretary. The Board and
each Director also have separate and independent access to the
Company’s senior management.

The Board consists of a diverse mix of Board members in terms
of age, gender and tenure of office. Besides, the Board members
come from a variety of different backgrounds and have a diverse
range of business, academic and professional experience. Current
female Director accounts for about 12.5% of the Board (one female
out of eight Directors). The board considers that gender diversity
is currently achieved in the Board and is committed to maintaining
gender diversity in the Board. The Board will engage independent
professional search firms, as and when appropriate, in its work
to increase female representation on the Board and to develop a
pipeline of potential successors to the Board to achieve gender
diversity.

Non-compliance with Rules 5.05(1), 5.05(2), 5.36A and 5.28
of the GEM Listing Rules

Throughout the year under review, the Company has complied
with the requirements under Rules 5.05(1) and (2) and 5.05A of
the GEM Listing Rules and has appointed three independent
non-executive directors, representing one-third of the number of
Directors at the Board, with at least one independent non-executive
director possessing the appropriate professional qualifications, or
accounting or related financial management expertise.

Reference is made to the announcements of the Company dated
11 August 2020 and 14 October 2022 in relation to its non-
compliance with Rules 5.05(1), 5.05(2), 5.05A, 5.36A and 5.28 of
the GEM Listing Rules.
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Following retirement and resignation of certain former directors on
11 August 2020 and 14 October 2022, the Company has failed to
meet the requirement that (1) there will be two independent non-
executive directors on the Board which falls below the minimum
number as required under Rule 5.05(1) of the GEM Listing Rules;
(2) there will be no independent non-executive directors have
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise as required under Rule 5.05(2)
and Rule 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules; (3) there will be two
independent non-executive directors representing less than one-
third of the Board as required under Rule 5.05A of the GEM
Listing Rules; and (4) there will be two independent non-executive
directors on the Nomination Committee which does not fulfil the
requirement of establishing a nomination committee comprising a
majority of independent non-executive directors as required under
Rule 5.36A of the GEM Listing Rules.

The Company is in the process of looking for a suitable candidate
to fill the vacancy. It takes time for the Company to look for and
consider the qualifications of the candidates and the potential
contributions the candidates can bring to the Board and to
complete the internal selection and approval procedures for the
appointment of new Board members in accordance with the
nomination policy and procedures of the Company.

Chairman and chief executive officer

In order to have a clear division between the management of the
Board and the day-to-day management of the business operations
of the Group, the role and duties of the chairman and the chief
executive officer of the Company are carried out by different
individuals.

Dr. Jiang Yan is the chairman of the Board. The chairman is
responsible for strategic and business directions to the Board and
ensures its effectiveness in all aspects. The Chairman provides
leadership for the Board and ensures that the Company establishes
sound corporate governance practices and procedures. He also
encourages all the Directors to make a full and active contribution
to the affairs of the Board.
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Dr. Li Yong Sheng is the chief executive officer of the Company.
The chief executive officer of the Company is responsible for the
Company'’s day-to-day management and operations and focuses
on implementing objectives, policies and strategies approved and
delegated by the Board.

Responsibilities, accountabilities and contributions of the
Board and senior management

The Board is the primary decision-making body of the Company
and takes the responsibility to oversee all major matters of the
Company, including the formulation and approval of all policy
matters, overall strategies, internal control and risk management
systems, and monitor the performance of the senior executives.
The Directors have to make decisions objectively in the interests
of the Company. The Board directly, and indirectly through its
committees, leads and provides direction to the management
by laying down strategies and overseeing their implementation,
monitors the Group’s operational and financial performance, and
ensures that sound internal control and risk management systems
are in place.

The Board has delegated the responsibilities of the execution
of strategies and decision making for day-to-day operation and
administration functions of the Company to the management
team headed by the chief executive officer. The Board has set out
guidelines for management team as to when final authority should
rest with the Board and its prior approval should be obtained before
making decisions or entering into any commitments; issue of such
include but not limited to any proposed notifiable transactions,
connected transactions, significant investments, major business
decisions related to operation and business strategy, change of key
management of the Group and disclosure of inside information.
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Appointment, re-election and removal

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with the Company for an initial fixed term of three years subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election at the AGM pursuant to
the articles of association of the Company. The appointment of
executive Directors will continue thereafter until terminated by either
party giving not less than three months’ prior written notice to the
other or the payment of three-month salary in lieu of notice.

Each of the non-executive Directors was appointed for a specific
term of three years subject to retirement by rotation and re-election
at the AGM pursuant to the articles of association of the Company.
The appointment of non-executive Director will continue thereafter
until terminated by either party giving not less than three months’
prior written notice to the other or the payment of three-month
salary in lieu of notice.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors was appointed
for a specific term of three years, subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at the AGM pursuant to the articles of association
of the Company. The appointment of independent non-executive
Directors will continue thereafter until terminated by either party
giving not less than three months’ prior written notice to the
other or the payment of three-month salary in lieu of notice. If an
independent non-executive director serves more than 9 years, his
further appointment will be subject to a separate resolution to be
approved by shareholders of the Company in accordance with the
Code.
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In accordance with the articles of association of the Company,
at each AGM one third of the Directors for the time being shall
retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.
Such retiring Directors may, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election at the AGM. All Directors appointed by the Board to fill a
casual vacancy shall hold office until the first general meeting of
Shareholders after their appointment and be subject to re-election
at such meeting and all Directors appointed by the Board as an
addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the next
following AGM and shall then be eligible for re-election.

None of the Directors has a service contract with any member
of the Group which does not expire or is not determinable
by the relevant employer within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

Independent Non-executive Directors

The Company has established mechanisms to ensure independent
views and input are available to the Board, including without
limitation by reviewing that the independent non-executive
Directors have appropriate qualifications and expertise from time
to time with sufficient time commitment to the Group, that the
number of independent non-executive Directors comply with the
requirements of the GEM Listing Rules, and that channels are
established (including without limitation by questionnaires or at
Board meetings) to assess and evaluate the independent non-
executive Directors’ contribution and views. The implementation
and effectiveness of such mechanisms will be reviewed by the
Board on an annual basis.
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The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company
considers all of the independent non-executive Directors are
independent.

Paragraph C.2.7 of the Code provides that the chairman should at
least annually hold meetings with the independent non-executive
Directors without the executive Directors and non-executive
Directors present. Although the chairman did not hold a meeting
with the independent non-executive Directors, excluding the
executive Directors and non-executive Directors during the year
ended 31 March 2022, he delegated the company secretary to
gather any concerns and/or questions that the independent non-
executive Directors might have and report to him for setting up
follow-up meetings, whenever necessary, in due course.

Relation of the Board Members

All Directors are no relationships (including financial, business,
family or other material or relevant relationships) among members
of the Board.

Meeting of the Board

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Board had convened
total five meetings, four of which are in regular nature. The
attendance record of individual Directors at the Board and
committees’ meetings and general meetings are set out in page 63
of this report.

Directors’ Training and Professional Development

Every Director keeps abreast of responsibilities as a director of the
Company and of the conduct, business activities and development
of the Company. The Company provides all members of the Board
with monthly updates on the Group’s performance and financial
position.
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The Directors are aware of the requirement under the paragraph
C.1.4 of the Code regarding continuous professional development.
During the year, the Directors reviewed the monthly business
and financial updates and other reading materials provided to
them concerning latest developments in corporate governance
practices and relevant legal and regulatory developments. A record
of the Directors’ participation in various continuous professional
development program is kept by the company secretary as below:
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Training
2=
Self-learning  Attend seminar
BHREE 2mfstE
Executive Directors WITES
Dr. Jiang Yan ZalEt v
Dr. Li Yong Sheng FKFAEL v
Mr. Liu Da Yong KRBIE 4
Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung B E 4
Non-executive Directors ERITES
Ms. Tang Li ERXL "4
Mr. Law Cheuk Hung BISESE v/
Independent non-executive Directors EIIIEHITES
Mr. Wu Guo Ming SEEIE 4
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Directors’ insurance cover of legal action

Pursuant to code provision C.1.8 of the Code, the Company
should arrange appropriate insurance cover in respect of legal
action against its Directors. Such directors’ liability insurance will be
reviewed and renewed annually. Upon the expiry of insurance cover
on 30 August 2020, the Company did not arrange appropriate
insurance cover in respect of legal action against its Directors as it
took time for the Company to solicit a suitable insurer at reasonable
commercial terms and conditions.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established four committees, namely audit
committee (the “Audit Committee”), nomination committee
(the “Nomination Committee”), remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) and risk management committee (the
“Risk Management Committee”), to oversee particular aspects of
the Company’s affairs. Their respective terms of reference are set
out in the Company’s website.

Audit Committee

The Company has established the Audit Committee on 11 August
2010 with terms of reference in compliance with paragraph D.3.3
of the Code.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee include, among
other things, reviewing and supervising the financial reporting
process and internal control systems, as well as the overall risk
management of the Group, reviewing the financial statements
and the quarterly, interim and annual reports of the Group, and
reviewing the terms of engagement and scope of audit work of the
external auditors.
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The composition of the Audit Committee is as follows:

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Wu Guo Ming

Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron, BBS, JP

Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth
(Resigned on 14 October 2022)

Non-executive Directors
Ms. Tang Li
Mr. Law Cheuk Hung

During the year, the members of the Audit Committee possess
diversified industry experience and the chairman of the Audit
Committee has appropriate professional qualifications and
experience in accounting matters.

Following the resignation of Mr. Wong Chun Yip, Kenneth on 14
October 2022, the Company has failed to meet the requirement
that (1) there will be no independent non-executive directors have
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise as required under Rule 5.05(2) and
Rule 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules and terms of reference of the
Audit Committee and (2) there will be a vacancy for chairman of the
Audit Committee as required under the terms of reference of the
Audit Committee.

The Company is in the process of looking for a suitable candidate
to fill the vacancy. It takes time for the Company to look for and
consider the qualifications of the candidates and the potential
contributions the candidates can bring to the Board and to
complete the internal selection and approval procedures for the
appointment of new Board members in accordance with the
nomination policy and procedures of the Company.
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Summary of work

During the year, the Audit Committee had reviewed the first
quarterly results for three months ended 30 June 2021, the interim
results for the six months ended 30 September 2021, the third
quarterly results for the nine months ended 31 December 2021
and the annual results for the year ended 31 March 2022 and is of
the opinion that the preparation of such results complied with the
applicable accounting standards and that adequate disclosures
have been made.

Nomination Committee

The Company has established the Nomination Committee on 11
August 2010 with terms of reference in compliance with paragraph
B.3.1 of the Code.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing
the structure, size and composition of the Board, identifying and
nomination of directors and making recommendations to the
Board on appointment and re-appointment of Directors, reviewing
the board diversity policy, reviewing the nomination policy and
reviewing and accessing the independence of the independent
non-executive Director and making recommendation if necessary.

The composition of the Nomination Committee is as follows:

Executive Directors
Dr. Jiang Yan (Chairman)
Dr. Li Yong Sheng

Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Wu Guo Ming

Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron, B8S, JP

Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth (Resigned on 14 October 2022)

Following the retirement and resignation of certain former
Directors on 11 August 2020 and 14 October 2022, there will
be two independent non-executive directors on the Nomination
Committee which does not fulfil the requirement of establishing
a nomination committee comprising a majority of independent
non-executive directors as required under Rule 5.36A of the GEM
Listing Rules.
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The Company is in the process of looking for a suitable candidate
to fill the vacancy. It takes time for the Company to look for
and consider the qualifications of the candidates and the
potential contributions the candidates can bring to the Board
and to complete the internal selection and approval procedures
for the appointment of new Board members in accordance
with the nomination policy and procedures of the Company.
Notwithstanding of the vacancy in the Nomination Committee,
other members of the Nomination Committee have extensive
and diversified experience in different aspects in the industries of
the Group to well perform its duties including but not limited to
identifying and nominating right candidates to the right positions to
lead to the success of the Group. Further announcement(s) will be
made by the Company as and when appropriate.

Summary of work

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Nomination Committee
had convened one meeting to review the structure, size and
composition of the Board, assessed the independence of the
Independent non-executive Directors and considered the Directors
to retire and stand for re-election at the AGM. The Nomination
Committee has also reviewed the board diversity policy as set out
in the paragraph headed “Board Diversity Policy” above.

When identifying suitable candidates for directorship, the
Nomination Committee will carry out the selection process by
making reference to the skills, experience, education background,
professional knowledge, personal integrity and time commitments
of the proposed candidates, and also the Company’s needs and
other relevant statutory requirements and regulations. Qualified
candidates will then be recommended to the Board for approval.
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Nomination Policy

The Board has adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination
Policy”) which sets out the selection criteria and nomination
procedures to identify, select and recommend candidates for
Directors. The Nomination Policy aims to (i) set out the criteria and
process in the nomination and appointment of directors of the
Company; (ii) ensure that the Board of the Company has a balance
of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to
the Company; and (iii) ensure the Board continuity and appropriate
leadership at Board level.

Selection Criteria

The Nomination Committee shall consider a number of the factors
in assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate to the Board,
including but not limited to the following:

(@) character and integrity;

(b) qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience and diversity aspects under the
Board Diversity Policy that are relevant to the Company’s
business and corporate strategy;

(c) any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity on
the Board;

(d) requirement for the Board to have independent directors in
accordance with the GEM Listing Rules and whether the
candidate would be considered independent with reference to
the independence guidelines set out in the GEM Listing Rules;

(e) any potential contributions the candidate can bring to
the Board in terms of qualifications, skills, experience,
independence and gender diversity;

() wilingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge

duties as a member of the Board and/or Board committee(s)
of the Company; and
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(@ such other perspectives that am appropriate to the

Company’s business and succession plan and where
applicable, may be adopted and/or amended by the Board
and/or the Nomination Committee from time to time for
nomination of directors and succession planning.

Nomination Procedures

Appointment of New Director

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board may select
candidates for directorship from various channels, including
but not limited to internal promotion, re-designation, referral
by other member of the management and external recruitment
agents.

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should, upon
receipt of the proposal on appointment of new director and the
biographical information (or relevant details) of the candidate,
evaluate such candidate based on the criteria as set out
above to determine whether such candidate is qualified for
directorship.

If the process vyields one or more desirable candidates, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board should rank them by
order of preference based on the needs of the Company and
reference check of each candidate (where applicable).

The Nomination Committee should then recommend to the
Board to appoint the appropriate candidate for directorship,
as applicable.

For any person that is nominated by a shareholder for election
as a director at the general meeting of the Company, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board should evaluate
such candidate based on the criteria as set out above to
determine whether such candidate is qualified for directorship.
Where appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/or the
Board should make recommendation to shareholders in
respect of the proposed election of director at the general
meeting.
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Re-election of Director at General Meeting

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should review
the overall contribution and service to the Company of the
retiring director and the level of participation and performance
on the Board.

i.  The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should also
review and determine whether the retiring director continues to
meet the criteria as set out above.

i. ~The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should then
make recommendation to shareholders in respect of the
proposed re-election of director at the general meeting.
Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect or re-elect
a candidate as director at the general meeting, the relevant
information of the candidate will be disclosed in the circular to
shareholders and/or explanatory statement accompanying the
notice of the relevant general meeting in accordance with the
GEM Listing Rules and/or applicable laws and regulations.

Monitoring and reporting

The Nomination Committee will monitor the implementation of
the Nomination Policy and report to the Board when necessary.
Also, the Nomination Committee will review the Nomination Policy,
as appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness of the Nomination
Policy and will discuss any revisions that may be required, and
recommend any such revisions to the Board for consideration and
approval.

The Company reviewed its nomination policy for a formal,
considered and transparent procedure to help identifying and
nomination of candidates for Directors. All valid nomination of
candidates, accompanied with biographical details, would be
presented to the Board for consideration. Consideration would
be given to factors such as the candidate’s integrity, experience
and qualifications relevant to the Group’s business. It is believed
that members of the Nomination Committee collectively would
have required relevant knowledge and skills to identify, invite and
evaluate qualifications of nominated candidates for directorship.
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Board diversity policy

The Company has adopted the board diversity policy on 30
August 2013 with a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced
development of the Group. The Company sees increasing
diversity at the Board level as an essential element in supporting
the attainment of its strategic objectives and its sustainable
development. A summary of the Board Diversity Policy together
with the measurable objectives for implementing such policy and
the progress on achieving such objectives are disclosed below.

Summary of the Board Diversity Policy

The Company recognises the importance of diversity in board
members to corporate governance and the board effectiveness.
The purposes of the Board Diversity Policy are to set out the
basic principles to be followed to ensure that (i) a diverse
range of candidates are considered; and (ii) the Board has
the appropriate balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives necessary to enhance the effectiveness of the
Board and to maintain high standards of corporate governance.
Board nomination and appointments will be made on merit basis
based on its business needs from time to time while taking into
account the benefits of diversity. The Company has identified
and implemented programs that will assist in the development
of a broader and more diverse pool of skilled and experienced
employees and that, in time, their skills will prepare them for senior
management and board positions.

Measurable objectives

Selection of board candidates shall be based on a range of diversity
perspectives with reference to the Company’s business model
and specific needs, including but not limited to gender, age, race,
language, cultural background, educational background, industry
experience and professional experience. The ultimate decision shall
be based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates
shall bring to the Board.
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For the purpose of implementation of the Board Diversity Policy, the
following measurable objectives were adopted:

()  Independence:

The Board should include a balanced composition of
executive and non-executive Directors (including independent
non-executive Directors) so that there is a strong element of
independence in the Board. The independent non-executive
Directors shall be of sufficient caliber and stature for their views
to carry weight.

(i)  Skills and experience:

The Board possesses a balance of skills appropriate for
the requirements of the business of the Company. The
Directors have a mix of finance, academic and management
backgrounds that taken together provide the Company with
considerable experience in a range of activities.

Workforce Diversity

The gender ratios in the workforce by categories of employees
are set out in the section headed “B1: Employment” in the
Environment, Social and Governance (ESG) Report in this Annual
Report. The Board considers that gender diversity is currently
achieved and is committed to maintain gender diversity in respect
of the workforce level.

Monitoring and reporting

The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board
Diversity Policy, developing and reviewing measurable objectives
for implementing the Board Diversity Policy and monitoring
the progress on achieving these measurable objectives. The
Nomination Committee shall review this policy and the measurable
objectives at least annually to ensure the continued effectiveness of
the Board.
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The Nomination Committee considered and reviewed the board
diversity policy and the director nomination policy of the Company,
with recommendations to the Board for approval.

Remuneration Committee

The Company has established the Remuneration Committee on 11
August 2010 with terms of reference in compliance with paragraph
E.1.2 of the Code.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include,
among other things, formulating and making recommendations
to the Board on the remuneration policy, determining the specific
remuneration packages of all executive Directors and senior
management and making recommendations to the Board of the
remuneration of non-executive Directors.

The Company adopts the remuneration policy to its Directors as
disclosed in the section headed “Remuneration Policy” in this
Directors’ report.

The composition of the Remuneration Committee is as follows:

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron, B8S, JP (Chairman)

Mr. Wu Guo Ming

Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth (Resigned on 14 October 2022)

Following the retirement and resignation of certain former Directors
on 11 August 2020 and 14 October 2022, there will be two
members on the Remuneration Committee which falls below the
minimum number as required under the terms of reference of the
Remuneration Committee.
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The Company is in the process of looking for a suitable candidate
to fill the vacancy. It takes time for the Company to look for and
consider the qualifications of the candidates and the potential
contributions the candidates can bring to the Board and to
complete the internal selection and approval procedures for the
appointment of new Board members in accordance with the
nomination policy and procedures of the Company.

Summary of work

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Remuneration
Committee convened one meeting to consider the revision of
Directors’ remuneration and the remuneration packages of all the
Directors, reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on
the remuneration package of the proposed Directors in accordance
with the Remuneration Committee’s written terms of reference.

Risk Management Committee

The Company established the Risk Management Committee on 15
June 2016 with written terms of reference in compliance with the
GEM Listing Rules and the Code.

The main duties of the Risk Management Committee include,
among other things, reviewing the risk management system
of the Group; assessing the risks from major decisions and to
consider solutions for significant risk; monitoring the Group’s
risk profile; reviewing and monitor emerging risks relating to the
Group’s business and strategies; having periodic assessment on
the Group’s risk profile and risk management capabilities; and
overseeing the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems on an ongoing basis.

The composition of the Risk Management Committee is as follows:
Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Wu Guo Ming

Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron, BBS, JP
Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth (Resigned on 14 October 2022)
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Following the retirement and resignation of certain former Directors
on 11 August 2020 and 14 October 2022, there will be two
members on the Risk Management Committee which falls below
the minimum number as required under the terms of reference of
the Risk Management Committee and there has been a vacancy
for chairman of the Risk Management Committee as required under
the terms of reference of the Risk Management Committee.

The Company is in the process of looking for a suitable candidate
to fill the vacancy. It takes time for the Company to look for and
consider the qualifications of the candidates and the potential
contributions the candidates can bring to the Board and to
complete the internal selection and approval procedures for the
appointment of new Board members in accordance with the
nomination policy and procedures of the Company.

Summary of work

The Risk Management Committee should meet at least once a
year to consider major investigation findings on risk management
matters and the scope and quality of management’s ongoing
monitoring of risks. During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Risk
Management Committee had convened one meeting to consider
the risk assessment of the Group.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Company has not established any committee responsible
for the corporate governance function of the Group and the
function has been collectively performed by the Board. The
Board acknowledges the overseeing of the corporate governance
function by the Board collectively. The Board is responsible for the
corporate governance functions with the following duties:

e to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and make recommendations on
changes and updating;

e toreview and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;
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e to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

e to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors;

e to review the Company’s compliance with the Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report; and

e such other corporate governance duties and functions set
out in the Code (as amended from time to time) for which the
Board are responsible.

The Board has reviewed and approved the Corporate Governance
Report set out in this report. The Board reviewed the Company’s
corporate governance policies and practices, and the Company’s
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements.

ATTENDANCE RECORDS OF MEETINGS

The Board is scheduled to meet regularly at least four times a
year, and Directors will receive at least 14 days prior written notice
of such meetings. For any ad hoc Board meetings, Directors
are given as much notice as is reasonably practicable in those
circumstances. Agendas and accompanying papers are sent not
less than 3 days before the date of Board meetings to ensure that
the Directors are given sufficient time to review the same. Draft and
final versions of minutes of regular board meetings are circulated
to all directors for their comment and records respectively. All
Directors are kept informed in a timely manner of major changes
that may affect the Group’s businesses, including relevant rules and
regulations. The Board also understands where potential conflicts
of interests arise, the independent non-executive Directors shall
take the lead the physical meetings in discussing the relevant
transactions being contemplated when there is a Director or any
of his associates having a material interest in the transactions and
shall abstain from voting. All directors, in the discharge of their
duties, are allowed to seek independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances at a reasonable cost to be borne by the
Company.
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Details of the Directors’ attendance at Board and committees’ HE_Z - _F=ZHB=+—HIEFE - EERN
meetings and general meetings for the year ended 31 March 2022 Z#EZREETEZURKRIEAGZHER

are set out below: SFIBUWT
Risk
Audit Nomination Remuneration ~ Management General
Board Committee Committee Committee Committee meeting

Exf BHEET RYERT FHWEET EREREZEE RRAE

Number of meetings BERY 5 4 1 1 1 2

Executive Directors WTES

Dr. Jiang Yan ZafEt 4/5 - 11 - = 2/2

Dr. Li Yong Sheng FkAtEL 5/5 - 17 - - 2/2

Mr. Liu Da Yong ARBEE 4/5 - - - - 12

Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung s 5/5 - 11 - = 2/2

Non-executive Directors FHTES

Ms. Tang Li EELT 0/5 0/4 - = = 02

Mr. Law Cheuk Hung BN 5/5 4/4 = = = 2/2

Independent non-executive Directors BinTEE

Mr. Wu Guo Ming SEREE 4/5 3/4 0/1 1 1 22

Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron, 885, /7 FEREL wenes Pt 5/5 4/4 11 11 17 2/2

Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth TRERSE 5/5 4/4 1N 1N 1 22
(Resigned on 14 October 2022) (R=E-—f+A+TART)

Average attendance rate TFHLER 82.2% 75.0% 83.3% 100% 100% 83.3%

RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS EERIINEZHMEMSENEE

AND EXTERNAL AUDITORS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the Financial BEZ&EREAEEZEAGEMERREIZIK
Statements, which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs, FEiRE > HFEEE KA Tk MAEEREHEIR
results and cash flows of the Group in accordance with relevant law - #E RIS REZMHERE -

and disclosure requirements under the GEM Listing Rules.

The statement of the auditors of the Company about its ZAAS LM FREMBELNRESE
reporting responsibilities on the Financial Statements is set out in BB N AREE156E EFH161 B EILIZ
“Independent Auditors’ Report” section on pages 156 and 161 of ~ EET¥RE | —&io

this report.
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Disclaimer of Opinion (the “Disclaimer of Opinion”)

The Company’s auditor, HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
(the “Auditor”) issued a disclaimer of opinion on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group, details of which are set out in the
independent auditors’ report.

Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion
Material uncertainties relating to the going concern basis

As stated in Note 3(c) to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group incurred a net loss of approximately HK$42,152,000 during
the year ended 31 March 2022 and as of that date, the Group’s
net current liabilities and net liabilities amounted to approximately
HK$404,003,000 and HK$385,308,000 respectively. In addition,
included in the Group’s liabilities as at 31 March 2022 were: (i)
convertible notes of principal amount of HK$257,030,000 (the
“Convertible Notes”) and interests thereon of approximately
HK$64,128,000 (the “Convertible Notes Interest”) in respect of
which the Group was in default in settlement; (i) amount due to
a substantial shareholder of HK$24,587,000 (the “On Demand
Debt”) which was repayable on demand; and (jii) promissory notes
of principal amount of HK$45,040,000 and interest thereon of
approximately HK$6,271,000 which are due for repayment in the
next twelve months after the date of this report (the “Promissory
Notes”). These events and conditions, along with other matters as
set forth in Note 3(c), indicate that material uncertainties existed as
at 31 March 2022 that cast significant doubts on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern.
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The Directors have assessed the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern and are undertaking measures to improve the
Group’s liquidity and financial position and enable the Group
to meet its liabilities as and when they fall due. These plans for
future actions in relation to the going concern assessment, which
are set out in Note 3(c) to the consolidated financial statements,
include: (i) management is endeavoring to improve the Group’s
operating results and cash flows through cost control measures
and will focus on the existing business of the Group; (ii) the
Company has entered into conditional agreement with Mr. Kan,
a shareholder of the Company, for the allotment and issuance
of a total of 1,666,666,667 subscription shares at the share
subscription price of HK$0.012 per subscription share for a total
consideration of approximately HK$20,000,000; (i) the Company
has entered into conditional agreement with the holder of the
Convertible Notes, which is also a substantial shareholder of the
Company, for the amendments of certain terms of the Convertible
Notes and the issuance of new convertible bonds in the principal
amount of approximately HK$64,128,000 to set off the Convertible
Notes Interest; (iv) the Company has entered into a conditional
agreement to issue new convertible notes in the principal amount
of HK$16,240,000 to set off part of the outstanding balance of
the On Demand Debt; and (v) the Company is negotiating with its
promissory notes holder to extend the repayment dates of principal
and the interest amounts accrued on the Promissory Notes.

The validity of the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements on going concern basis depends on the successful
eventual outcome of the above mentioned plans and measures,
which are inherently uncertain and as at the date of this report
cannot be ascertained with reasonable certainty and are still
subject to multiple uncertainties, including whether the Group
being able to successfully negotiate and agree with the holders of
Convertible Notes and Promissory Notes to renew or extend the
existing debts or complete shares subscription to provide funds for
the Group to meet its liabilities as they fall due.
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Should the Group fail to achieve successful outcomes from the
above-mentioned plans and measures, it might not be able to
continue to operate as a going concern, and adjustments would
have to be made to write down the carrying amounts of the
Group’s assets to their net recoverable amounts, to provide for any
further liabilities that may arise and to reclassify non-current assets
and non-current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities
respectively. The effects of these adjustments have not been
reflected in these consolidated financial statements.

We have not been provided with sufficient appropriate audit
evidence to conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use
of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements because of the lack of detailed
analyses provided by management in relation to its plans and
measures for future actions in its going concern assessment which
take into account the uncertainty of outcome of these plans and
measures and how variability in outcome would affect the future
cash flows of the Group. Any adjustments found to be required
may have consequential significant effects on the consolidated net
assets of the Group as at 31 March 2022 and the consolidated loss
and other comprehensive income or expense and cash flows of the
Group for the year ended 31 March 2022, and the related elements
and disclosures thereof presented or disclosed in the consolidated
financial statements.

The Board’s response to the Auditor’s Opinion

The management of the Company is of the view that Group will be
able to continue to operate as a going concern. The consolidated
financial statements had been prepared on a going concern basis,
the validity of which depends on the outcome of those plans and
measures as mentioned in Note 3(c) to the consolidated financial
statements.
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After discussion with the auditors, the management of the
Company expects that, on the assumptions that (i) the plans and
measures as mentioned in Note 3(c) to the consolidated financial
statements have been successfully implemented, (ii) each of
the Company’s operating subsidiaries has continued to operate
as normal, (iii) neither the Company nor any of its operating
subsidiaries is the subject of any winding-up proceedings and (iv)
there are no other material threats to its status as a going concern,
the Directors considered that the Group will have sufficient liquidity
to finance its operations for the foreseeable future and therefore
of a view that the Group would be able to continue as a going
concern. In this regard, although the implementation of the plans
and measures as mentioned in Note 3(c) to the consolidated
financial statements are subject to conclusion and finalisation of
definitive formal agreement such that the auditors were not able to
obtain sufficient audit evidence, the above-mentioned plans have
been initially formulated and is in an advanced stage and thus the
management of the Company is optimistic about the outcome of
plans and measures thereof.

Audit Committee’s view on whether the Company’s plan
could address the underlying matters leading to the
Disclaimer of Opinion

The auditors have informed the Audit Committee about their view
regarding the basis of operating as a going concern, that due to
the absence of sufficient appropriate audit evidence, the auditors
were unable to express their audit opinion whether the Group can
continue to operate as a going concern. As abovementioned, the
Disclaimer of Opinion was mainly due to the auditor’s concern as
to whether the Company will be able to implement the plans and
measures mentioned in Note 3(c) to the consolidated financial
statements.
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The Audit Committee had critically reviewed the Disclaimer of
Opinion, the management’s position concerning the Disclaimer
of Opinion and measures taken by the Group for addressing the
Disclaimer of Opinion. After discussion with the Directors,
the Audit Committee concurred with the going concern basis
and assumptions adopted in preparing the consolidated financial
statements based on the reasons above. Accordingly, the audit
committee agreed that it was appropriate to use a going concern
assumption to prepare the consolidated financial statements.
Moreover, the Audit Committee requested the management to
take all necessary actions to address the uncertainties regarding
going concern underlying the Disclaimer of Opinion that no such
Disclaimer of Opinion will be made in the forthcoming audited
financial statements. The Audit Committee had also discussed with
the Auditor regarding the financial position of the Group, measures
taken and to be taken by the Group, and considered the Auditor’s
rationale and understood their consideration in arriving their
opinion.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION
The remuneration in respect of audit services provided by the

Company’s auditor, during the year ended 31 March 2022
amounted to HK$0.65 million.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibilities for the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems to safeguard the
interests of the Company and its shareholders as a whole. To
this end, the Board oversees and approves the Group’s risk
management and internal control strategies and policies, which
are aimed at evaluating and determining the nature and extent of
the risks that are compatible with the Group’s strategic objectives
and risk appetite, with main purpose for provision of reasonable
assurance against material misstatement or loss rather than
absolute elimination of the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives. The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for
establishing and maintaining the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness. The
risk management and internal control measures are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

In June 2016, the Group has established a risk management
framework, which consists of the Board, the Audit Committee,
Risk Management Committee and the senior management of the
Group. The Board determines the nature and the extent of risks
that shall be taken in achieving the Group’s strategic objectives
and has the overall responsibilities for monitoring the design,
implementation and the overall effectiveness of risk management
and internal control systems. The Board, through the Audit
Committee, conducts reviews of the effectiveness of such systems
at least annually, covering all material controls including financial,
operational and compliance controls.
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Risk Management Philosophy

Risk taking is a necessary and accepted part of the Company’s
business. Effectively managing risk is a competitive necessity
and an integral part of creating shareholder value through good
business practices designed to ensure that the Company achieves
its strategic, business and governance objectives, and protects
its corporate reputation, values and integrity. Risk management
applies to all aspects of the Company’s business and forms a
critical part of developing strategic plans, preparing operational
plans and budgets, completing detailed project approval requests
and designing and managing project plans.

Risk Management Process

In addition to the Board’s oversight responsibilities, the Company
has developed a risk management process to identify, evaluate
and manage significant risks and to resolve material internal control
defects (if any). Senior management is responsible for the annual
risk reporting process. Risks are compiled, ratings are assigned
and mitigation plans are documented. The risk assessment
is reviewed by certain members of senior management and
presented to the Risk Management Committee and the Board
for their review. Risks are evaluated by the Board and senior
management based on (i) the severity of the impact of the risk on
the Company’s financial results; and (i) the probability that the risk
will occur.

Based on the risk evaluation, the Company will manage the risks as
follows:

¢ Risk elimination — senior management may identify and
implement certain changes or controls that in effect eliminate
the risk entirely.

¢ Risk mitigation — senior management may implement a risk

mitigation plan designed to reduce the likelihood, velocity or
the severity of the risk to an acceptable level.
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e Risk retention — senior management may decide that
the risk rating is low enough that the risk is acceptable for
the Company and that no action is required. The risk would
continue to be monitored as part of the risk management
program to ensure the level of risk does not increase to an
unacceptable level.

Reporting, monitoring and evaluating are essential and integral
parts of managing risk. Senior management has established an
annual risk reporting process to gather risk issues affecting the
Company. A risk template has been developed to assist in the
identification, documentation, assessment and management of risk
exposures.

Review the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control system

The Risk Management Committee met at least annually during
the year and reported to the Board for assessment. Key risks
are identified and their responsive mitigating controls are
documented in the risk registers and report to the Board by the Risk
Management Committee.

The Group does not have an internal audit function as the Board
has reviewed the effectiveness of the internal control system of the
Company and is currently of the view that there is no immediate
need to set up an internal audit function within the Group in light
of the size, nature and complexity of the Group’s business. The
situation will be reviewed from time to time.
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The Board has engaged APAC Compliance Consultancy and
Internal Control Services Limited as its risk management and
internal control review adviser (“the Adviser”) to conduct the annual
review of the risk management and internal control systems for the
year ended 31 March 2022. Such review is conducted annually
and cycles reviewed are under rotation basis. The scope of review
was previously determined and approved by the Board. The
Adviser has reported findings and areas for improvement to the
Audit Committee and management. The Board/Audit Committee
are of the view that there are no material internal control defeats
noted. All recommendations from the Adviser are properly followed
up by the Group to ensure that they are implemented within a
reasonable period of time. The Board therefore considered that the
risk management and internal control systems are effective and
adequate.

Inside information policy

The Company recognises the significance of consistent practices
of fair disclosure with the aim of disclosing inside information in a
timely and accurate manner. The Company has a policy with regard
to the principles and procedures for handling and disseminating the
Company’s inside information in compliance with the requirements
under Part XIVA of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap 571
of the laws of Hong Kong) and the GEM Listing Rules, and such
policy has been communicated to the relevant senior executives
of the Group. Company Secretary works closely with senior
executives in identifying potential inside information and assess
the materiality thereof, and where appropriate, to escalate such
information for the attention of the Board to resolve on further
action(s) complying with the applicable laws and regulations.

In prevention of premature leakage of inside information, the
Company has taken all reasonable measures from time to time to
ensure proper preservation of confidentiality of inside information
until disclosure to the general public, including inter alia:

e restrictive access to inside information to a limited number of
employees on a need-to-know basis. Employees who are in
possession of inside information are fully conversant with their
obligations to preserve confidentially;
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e appropriate confidentiality agreements are put in place when
entering into any significant negotiations;

e inclusion of a strict prohibition on the unauthorised use or
disclosure of inside information in employee code of conduct;
and

e policy is issued to all employees annually reminding their
duties and obligations in respect of any dealings in the listed
securities of the Company as well as its subsidiaries and
associated corporations.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Li Yuet Tai (ZEH#), aged 41, joined in the Company in
September 2011 as assistant to chief financial officer and re-
designated as company secretary on 1 June 2012. Ms. Li holds
a bachelor’s degree in business administration in Professional
Accountancy from The Chinese University of Hong Kong and has
over 7 years of working experience in auditing and accounting
in Hong Kong and the PRC. Ms. Li is a member of Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Prior to joining the
Company, Ms. Li has served in an international accounting firm for
five years. In the last three years, Ms. Li held no directorships in any
listed public companies.

The company secretary took more than 15 hours’ professional
training for the year ended 31 March 2022. Reporting to the chief
executive officer, the company secretary plays an important role in
ensuring proper Board procedures are tailored to the Company’s
business needs and compliance with all applicable laws, rule
and regulations. The Directors could obtain advices and services
from the company secretary for any updates and developments
in corporate governance, applicable laws and regulations when
necessary.
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The company secretary, as delegated by the Chairman, is
responsible for preparing the meeting agenda, serving notice to
the Board at least 14 days before the regular meetings or at a
reasonable time for other ad-hoc meetings, and providing relevant
Board papers to Directors at least 3 days before the meetings, so
as to ensure that the Directors receive adequate, accurate, clear,
complete and reliable information in a timely manner for effective
and informed decision making.

The company secretary also ensures that the Board meetings are
convened and constituted in accordance with all applicable laws,
regulations and the procedural requirements set out in the articles
of association at all times. In addition, the company secretary
will take minutes of the meetings and circulate them to Directors
for comments at a reasonable time after the meetings. After
incorporating Directors’ comments, the executed version of the
minutes will be maintained by the company secretary and be open
for Directors’ inspection during normal office hours.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Board believes that general meetings can provide an
open forum for communication between the Board and the
Shareholders. Shareholders are encouraged to attend general
meetings of the Company and give valuable advices to the
Company through this direct communication platform. The
Company will convene AGM every year and convene any other
extraordinary general meeting (“EGM”) as required.

1. The way in which Shareholders can convene an EGM
Any one or more Shareholders holding not less than 10% of
the issued share capital at the time of deposit of the requisition

and carrying the right of voting at general meeting can deposit
a written request to convene an EGM.
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The written request must state the purposes of the meeting,
signed by the Shareholders concerned and deposited to the
Board or the company secretary at the Company’s principal
place of business at Flat 314, 3/F., Fuk Shing Commercial
Building, 28 On Lok Mun Street, Fanling, New Territories, and
may consist of several documents in like form each signed by
one or more Shareholders. The request will be verified with
the Company’s share registrar and upon its confirmation that
the request is proper and in order, the company secretary
will notify the Board to convene an EGM and include the
resolution in the agenda. The Board shall convene and hold
such general meeting within two months after the deposit of
such requisition. If the request is verified to be not in order,
Shareholders concerned will be advised of the result and no
EGM will be convened.

If within twenty-one days of such deposit, the Board fails to
proceed to convene such general meeting, the Shareholders
or any of them representing more than one-half of the total
voting rights of all of them, may themselves convene an EGM,
but any EGM so convened shall not be held after the expiration
of three months from the said date.

The procedures for sending enquiries to the Board

Shareholders who wish to raise any queries with the Board
may write to the Company’s investor relationship contact
at Flat 314, 3/F., Fuk Shing Commercial Building, 28 On
Lok Mun Street, Fanling, New Territories, by phone on
+852 3104 2962 or by email at cnc@cnctv.hk.

The procedures for making proposals at Shareholders’
meetings

To put forward proposals at Shareholders’ meetings, the
Shareholders shall submit a written notice of those proposals
with the detail contact information to the company secretary
at the Company’s principal place of business. The request
will be verified with the Company’s share registrar and upon
its confirmation that the request is proper and in order, the
company secretary will ask the Board to include the resolution
in the agenda for the general meeting.
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Communications with Shareholders

The Board believes regular and timely communication with
shareholders forms part of the Group’s effort to help our
shareholders understand our business better. Copies of
the annual reports and interim reports of the Company are
distributed to its shareholders in accordance with statutory
and regulatory requirements and also to interested parties
recorded in the Company’s mailing lists. The publications
of the Company, including financial reports, circulars and
announcements, are also available on the Company’s
website.

The Company acknowledges that general meetings are good
communication channel with the shareholders. At the general
meeting, each substantially separate issue is considered by a
separate resolution, including election of individual directors,
and the poll procedures are clearly explained. Paragraph C.1.6
of the Code requires that independent non-executive directors
and non-executive directors shall generally attend general
meetings to gain and develop a balanced understanding of the
views of shareholders.

A non-executive Director, namely Ms. Tang Li, did not attend
the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 11
June 2021 due to overseas commitment and pre-arranged
business engagements. Other Board members and the
chairmen of the relevant Board committees also attended the
extraordinary general meeting to inter-face with, and answer
questions from the Shareholders.
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A non-executive Director, namely Ms. Tang Li, did not attend
the annual general meeting of the Company held on 11
August 2021 due to overseas commitment and pre-arranged
business engagements. Other Board members, the chairmen
of the relevant Board committees and the external auditor of
the Company also attended the annual general meeting to
inter-face with, and answer questions from the Shareholders.

The attendance of the Directors at the general meetings of the
Company is set out on page 63 of this report.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company’s corporate website is www.cnctv.nk. The Company
may from time to time conduct investor/analysts briefings and
presentations, roadshows, media interviews, marketing activities
for investors and specialist industry forums etc.

All corporate communication materials published on the GEM
website (http://www.hkgem.com) are posted on the Company’s
corporate website as soon as practicable after their release. The
Company’s constitutional documents are also available on our
website. No significant changes were made to these documents
during the year ended 31 March 2022. Information on our website
will be updated on a regular basis.

The Board was satisfied with the review of the implementation and
effectiveness of the communication with the shareholders, which
could effectively provide a two-way communication platform by the
Company with the investors and shareholders by way of regular
meetings and timely update of the Company’s financial results and
developments.
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The Directors are pleased to present this annual report together
with the Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in the provision of civil engineering services
for the public sector in Hong Kong and media and advertising
business comprising television broadcasting business in the Asia-
Pacific Region (excluding the PRC) and digital marketing business
on overseas market in return for advertising and related revenue.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Further discussion and analysis of business activities of the Group,
including a business review of the Group and an indication of likely
future developments in the Group’s business, can be found in the
Management Discussion and Analysis set out on pages 17 to 33
of this annual report. This discussion forms part of this directors’
report. Description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the
Group can be found throughout this annual report.

An analysis of the Group’s performance using financial key
performance indicators is provided in the Five Year Financial
Summary from pages 3 to 4 and Financial Highlights on pages 307
to 308 respectively of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to supporting the environmental
sustainability. The Group is committed to implementing policies
and measures in our daily business operations to foster reduction
of the Group’s environmental impact. Detail information regarding
the environmental, social and governance practices adopted by the
Group are set out in the ESG Report on pages 98 to 155 of this
report.
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COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year, as far as the Company is aware, there was no
material breach of or non-compliance with applicable laws and
regulations by the Group that has a significant impact on the
business and operations of the Group.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES

The employees of the Group are one of the most important assets
and stakeholders of the Group and their contribution and support
are values at all times. The Group regularly reviews compensation
and benefits policies accordingly to industry benchmark as well
as the individual performance of employees. Other fringe benefits,
mandatory provident fund, share options and share award scheme
are provided to retain loyal employees with the aim to form a
professional staff and management team that can bring the Group
to different levels of success.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The declaration, form, frequency and amount of any dividend
payout of the Company must be in accordance with relevant laws,
rules and regulations and subject to the Articles of Association
of the Company. Subject to compliance with applicable laws,
rules, regulations and the Articles of Association, in deciding
whether to propose any dividend payout, the Board will take into
account, among other things, the financial results, the earnings and
distributable reserves, the operations and liquidity requirements,
the debt ratio and possible effects on the credit lines, and the
current and future development plans of the Company.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s results for the year ended 31 March 2022 are set
out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 162 to 163 of this report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2022.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the year are set out in note 18 to the Financial
Statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the Company’s share capital during the
year are set out in note 33 to the Financial Statements.

RESERVES

Movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during the
year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
on page 166 of this report and note 43 to the Financial Statements.

DONATIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group made the
charitable donations amounting to approximately HK$0.1 million.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2022, the Company’s distributable reserves,
including the share premium account, calculated under the
Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and
revised) of the Cayman Islands, amounted to approximately
HK$290.8 million in deficit.

CONVERTIBLE NOTES

Details of the convertible notes of the Group are set out in note 31
to the Financial Statements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the Group’s results and financial position for the last
five financial years is set out on pages 307 to 308 of this report.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentage of the Group’s revenue, subcontracting costs
and purchases of raw materials attributable to the Group’s major
customers, subcontractors and suppliers respectively for the year
ended 31 March 2022 is as follows:

FTEERKRMER

BE_Z__F="A=+—HULIEE &x&H
ZWE DB AREMEREE (LR ER T
ERR - DEBREERNEDLESRWT

Revenue Yz

The largest customer RAER 21.5%
Five largest customers in aggregate AREF AT 83.8%
Subcontracting costs DEEA

The largest subcontractor BRADEHE 39.5%
Five largest subcontractors in aggregate ARDEEEL 64.1%
Purchases of raw materials (Notes) REBEME (752)

The largest supplier BRAMER 13.6%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate AAREEEEN 49.3%

During the year, none of the Directors, their associates or any
Shareholders (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more
than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any interest
in any of the Group’s five largest customers, subcontractors and
suppliers.

Notes:

Total purchases of raw materials by the Group included purchases of raw
materials by main contractors for the Group’s use in carrying out waterworks
engineering services as a subcontractor for respective contracts. However,
the suppliers from which main contractors purchased the raw materials were
not included as the suppliers of the Group as the Group did not have direct
relationship with these suppliers.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 March 2022 are set
out in note 41 to the Financial Statements.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year and up to the date of
this report are:

Executive Directors

Dr. Jiang Yan (Chairman)

Dr. Li Yong Sheng (Vice chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Liu Da Yong

Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung

Non-Executive Directors
Ms. Tang Li
Mr. Law Cheuk Hung

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Wu Guo Ming

Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron, BBS JP

Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth (Resigned on 14 October 2022)

NON-COMPLIANCE WITH RULES 5.05(1), 5.05(2),
5.36A AND 5.28 OF THE GEM LISTING RULES

Following the retirement and resignation of certain former Directors
on 11 August 2020 and 14 October 2022, the Company has failed
to meet the requirement that (1) there will be two independent non-
executive directors on the Board which falls below the minimum
number as required under Rule 5.05(1) of the GEM Listing Rules;
(2) there will be no independent non-executive directors have
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise as required under Rule 5.05(2)
and Rule 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules; (3) there will be two
independent non-executive directors representing less than one-
third of the Board as required under Rule 5.05A of the GEM
Listing Rules; and (4) there will be two independent non-executive
directors on the Nomination Committee which does not fulfil the
requirement of establishing a nomination committee comprising a
majority of independent non-executive directors as required under
Rule 5.36A of the GEM Listing Rules.

82 CNC HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021/2022

e

REFERARBEEFRRSAHERNESZE
T

BITES

=gt (/%)

FXFHEL (BIZ/ERTTEHAEZ)
BIRB&RE

BT E

FHTEE
BREXL
SIS

BIJERITES

BRI E

FERISE LB X FHT

FERERE (R _E - _F+H+IIHEHE)

R EGEM L HREE5.05(1)%  F
5.05(2)% « $5.36A15 & 55.28(%

ETRAEER_ZE_ZEFN\B+—HBKR_E
T TE+ATUARERETE  AABKRME
FETHWNER (WEFTEHEEMLBILIEHR
TES LD IGEMLETRBES.05(1)KFRE
ZEIUFEHITEFTAMRBHENER ;=
NEIREBIFNITESAREEEXEER
FEEBENGHAEANTEERER X
BERF&GEM EM#RRIEE5.05(2) 1% K 555.281% ;
QEFZCEMBLBIULIFNITES  VIRGEM
L HRAIES.05ARPMRE 2 B IFMITES
ANBLEESEAEEL =92 —HEK ; K@)
RELBESRKEEMABIUIFRNITES Kk
MAEGEMLEMRAIES.36AKERBIEREER
HASHBIIENTESEARNZER-



DIRECTORS' REPORT
EETHRS

The Company is in the process of looking for a suitable candidate
to fill the vacancy. It takes time for the Company to look for and
consider the qualifications of the candidates and the potential
contributions the candidates can bring to the Board and to
complete the internal selection and approval procedures for the
appointment of new Board members in accordance with the
nomination policy and procedures of the Company.

INDEPENDENCE CONFIRMATIONS OF INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company
considers all of the independent non-executive Directors are
independent.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

The Company’s Articles of Association provide that all Directors
and officers of the Company shall be indemnified and secured
harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from and
against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses
which they shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act
done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their
duty.

Upon the expiry of the previous insurance cover in year 2020, the
Company did not arrange appropriate insurance cover in respect
of legal action against its Directors as it took time for the Company
to solicit a suitable insurer at reasonable commercial terms and
conditions.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with the Company for an initial fixed term of three years subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election at the AGM pursuant to
the articles of association of the Company. The appointment of
executive Directors will continue thereafter until terminated by either
party giving not less than three months’ prior written notice to the
other or the payment of three month salary in lieu of notice.

Each of the non-executive Directors was appointed for a specific
term of three years subject to retirement by rotation and re-election
at the AGM pursuant to the articles of association of the Company.
The appointment of non-executive Director will continue thereafter
until terminated by either party giving not less than three months’
prior written notice to the other or the payment of three month
salary in lieu of notice.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors were appointed
for a specific term of three years, subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at the AGM pursuant to the articles of association
of the Company. The appointment of independent non-executive
Directors will continue thereafter until terminated by either party
giving not less than three months’ prior written notice to the other
or the payment of three month salary in lieu of notice.

None of the Directors has a service contract with any member
of the Group which does not expire or is not determinable
by the relevant employer within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

The biographical details of Directors as at the date of this report are
set out in the “Biographical Details of Directors” section on pages
34 to 39 of this report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract, other than employment contracts, concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial
part of the business of the Group was entered into or existed during
the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACT

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Connected
Transactions”, no contract of significance to which the Company
or any of its subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end
of the year or at any time during the year.

REMUNERATION POLICY

Remuneration is determined with reference to the nature of
job, performance, qualifications and experience of individual
employees, as well as the result of the Group and the market trend.
The Group carries out staff performance appraisal once a year and
the assessment result is used for salary reviews and promotion
decisions. The Group recognises the importance of staff training
and thus regularly provides internal and external training for its staff
to enhance their skills and knowledge.

The remuneration of the Directors is determined with reference
to the duties and level of responsibilities of each Director, the
remuneration policy of the Group and the prevailing market
conditions.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and of the five highest
paid individuals of the Group are set out in notes 13 and 14 to the
Financial Statements.

PENSION SCHEMES

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong) for employees
employed under the jurisdiction of the Employment Ordinance
(Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The MPF Scheme
is a defined contribution retirement plan administered by an
independent trustee. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and
its employees are each required to make contributions to the MPF
Scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap
of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the
MPF Scheme vest immediately.

Pursuant to the relevant labour laws, rules and regulations in the
PRC, the Group participates in defined contribution retirement
benefit scheme (the “Retirement Benefit Scheme”) organised by
the relevant local government authorities in the PRC whereby the
Group is required to make contributions to the Retirement Benefit
Scheme at a certain rate of the standard wages determined by the
relevant authorities in the PRC during the year. Contributions to the
Retirement Benefit Scheme vest immediately.

During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Group
had no forfeited contributions under the MPF Scheme and the
Retirement Benefits Scheme utilised to reduce the existing levels
of contributions. As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, there was no
forfeited contribution under the MPF Scheme and Retirement
Benefit Scheme which may be used by the Group to reduce the
contribution payable in the future years.

Particulars of the pension schemes are set out in note 14 to the
Financial Statements.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A share option scheme was adopted and approved by the
shareholders of the Company on 11 August 2010. The share
option scheme expired on 10 August 2020. No share options have
been granted pursuant to the share option scheme during the year
ended 31 March 2022.

The Board has resolved to propose the adoption of a new share
option scheme for the approval by the shareholders of the
Company. The purpose of the new share option scheme is to
provide incentive or reward to eligible persons for their contribution
to the Group and/or to enable the Group to recruit and retain
highcalibre employees and attract human resources that are
valuable to the Group or any entity in which the Group holds any
equity interest.

The new share option scheme will constitute a share option
scheme under Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Board
will propose the new share option scheme for shareholders’
approval at a general meeting of the Company to be convened in
due course for the purposes of, among other things, seeking the
approval from the shareholders of the Company for the adoption
of the share option scheme and authorising the Board to grant the
share options pursuant to the share option scheme and to allot and
issue the shares of the Company pursuant to the exercise of the
share options. As at the date of this report, the new share option
scheme remains subject to the obtaining of () the approval from the
shareholders of the Company at a general meeting of the Company
to be convened in due course; and (i) the approval from the Stock
Exchange for the listing and trading of any Shares to be issued
under the share options that may be granted under the new share
option scheme.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES OR DEBENTURES OF THE
COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2022, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) which have to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions in which they are taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or which were
required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein; or which were required to be notified

EERETETHRABREF AR KREMREX
B9 B {5 ~ AR R AR 15 B (5 1 55 B 7 ma e 3¢
B

RIEZZTHF=R=+—H EFREANEE
BEITBABRARBIHEEH EZE (TERFE
%5 R E R B SEXVER) B MK ~ BRI & E
PR ARIEE S RPERAEXVE S
TR FEBDEHE AN B R B R PTEIE m R A
(BIEREBEESRPERINBREAEXHES
WEMFRRIEREENERDRXE) ; WREE
% R AR E 1R 352 A BRI % IR FT i & 52
MR R X E ; HIREGEM EH#RA555.46
BATMEBEBEETRZNREREBNGTEAR

to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the required B R E#RZFRAVER RS ATT ©
standard of dealings by Directors as referred to in Rule 5.46 of the
GEM Listing Rules, were as follows:
Long position in the Shares: RPN E -
Percentage of
aggregate
interests to
Number of total issued
Name Capacity/Nature of interest Shares held share capital
HEDIERER
BRITREN
e 517 #wmtE Fr¥siR{n 8B Bt
Mr. Kan (Note) Interest in controlled corporation 69,000,000 1.70%

L (Hat) NZEGEE 2w
Notes:

Mr. Kan is the sole beneficial owner of Shunleetat, which was interested in
69,000,000 Shares. Under the SFO, Mr. Kan is deemed to be interested in all
the Shares held by Shunleetat.
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Saved as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, none of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company had any other
interests or short positions in any Shares, underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short
positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO); or which were required, pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein;
or which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the required standard of dealings by
Directors as referred to in Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

So far as was known to the Directors, as at 31 March 2022,
the following persons/entities (other than the Directors or chief
executive of the Company) had, or are deemed to have, interests
or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures
of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO
or who were directly or indirectly interested in 5% or more of the
nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in
all circumstances at general meetings of any member of the Group
or who/which were recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company under Section 336 of the SFO with details as follows:

BRENEBEEN R _E__F=F=+—
B BEEERETRFEIETHAEBREAF
HARKEE (E& REBEF RAIEFRAIEXVER)
BYERIRR D BRI R B E R A AR E
AR ERAEXVBETRESD I E
NE R EREMEZ KA (BER
BESRIERANARBECRSHEFNL
BREEAENEDZIKR) ; IRBEEFRAE
150 55 3521 JR5C # 1Y BZ %R PR 2 & 52 MR AV AR 1
Higm ek g ; NiRHEGEM LM ARAISE5.46
R EFETXSNREREANGER
B KB X P R R H i e Bk A o

FERRREMATRE2E ARG KRIEM
RPN ERRXE

MBEMN - R_ZE__#=B=+—H8"TF
SIANL/EBE EFHEARDEETHAER
N RAERBRM HERARNUEEZERN
BARFHEARBE ST RPAEHRA EXVEE2
R B35 BBIR X R A A A B 4% B8 B 1 a0
B NERNBEEARREMABER T EERE
EEARELATANRREAE ERENEME
IR AEES%I N LRI KR HER
LRI A R R IR 55 M A B 1R B 553361% R
FEZECMz Rk FIB0T
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Long position in the Shares: RERMAHEFE :
Number of underlying
Shares under
Number of Shares held convertible notes (Note a)
AHMREEETZ
PRl 8 e HERNEE (fia)
Percentage
of aggregate
Interest in Interest in interests to
Beneficial controlled Beneficial controlled Total total issued
Name owner corporation owner corporation interests share capital
el 4
R R RS HEHEET
218 BEEEA EBZ BaBEAA HEZEE el e BRAF AL
China Xinhua NNC HEITE R ERA 1,188,621,377 - 1,311,378,622 - 2,499,999,999 61.65%
(Note b) (Note b)
(Hzto) (Hzto)
CNC China FEFEREERS (FE) - 1,188,621,377 - 1311378622  2,499,999,999 61.65%
(Note b) (Note b)
(Hiztb) (Hiztb)
Notes: Mzt -
(@) Details of the convertible notes were set out in the circulars of the (@) BARIFTIARKREZHEAFIE %Zﬁfﬁﬂﬂ HEEA—-Z
Company dated 19 November 2011, 6 January 2015, 17 January 2018, ——E-f— B+AH- —HFE—HB/H-Z
16 January 2019 and 18 May 2021. —N\NF—HB+tB8- :g hWE—B+"HK
:gi—iﬁﬁ +/\BREBRA

(b)  China Xinhua NNC is wholly and beneficially owned by CNC China.
Accordingly, CNC China is deemed to be interested in the 1,188,621,377
Shares and 1,311,378,622 underlying Shares held by China Xinhua NNC
under the SFO.

Saved as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, the Directors
were not aware of any other person/entity (other than the
Directors or chief executive as disclosed in the paragraph headed
“Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and short positions in the
Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company and its
associated corporations” above) who which had, or is deemed to
have, interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares
or debentures of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to
the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO or who which were directly or indirectly interested in 5%
or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying
rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any
member of the Group or who/which were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Details of the equity-linked agreements entered into during the year
or subsisting at the end of the year are set out below:

On 9 December 2011, the Company issued convertible notes with
the principal amount of approximately HK$607,030,000, carried
interest at the rate of 5% per annum as part of the consideration
for the acquisition of Xinhua TV Asia-Pacific. Each note entitles
the holder to convert to ordinary shares at a conversion price of
approximately HK$0.196 per share. Conversion may occur at any
time between 9 December 2011 and 8 December 2014. If the
notes have not been converted, the Company would redeem on
9 December 2014 at the outstanding principal amount. Interest of
5% per annum would be paid annually until the notes are converted
or redeemed.

On 9 December 2014, the Company entered into the first
supplemental deed with China Xinhua NNC pursuant to which the
Company and China Xinhua NNC agreed to amend certain terms
and conditions of the convertible notes, where (i) the maturity date
of the outstanding convertible notes with outstanding principal
amount of HK$277,030,210 was extended for 3 years and the
conversion period was accordingly extended for 3 years to 9
December 2017; and (i) the interest rate of the convertible notes
was amended from 5% per annum to 3% per annum for the
extended period, being from 9 December 2014 to 9 December
2017. Except for above-mentioned, the other terms remained
unchanged. If the notes have not been converted, the Company will
redeem on 9 December 2017 at the outstanding principal amount.
Interest of 3% per annum will be paid annually until the notes are
converted or redeemed.

R 2o 1 59 177

RERFTUINFREFEZEmHBHEL
SHBEHEIINT -

A TE——F+ZANH AABBITAEEE
##9607,030,000/8 70 > R E B 5%t EZ2H
MREE EAKREMEEBRE A ZEHRMT
B-BHEBEERFRHEARINZEREHH
0.196BTTZ RMNERRNATBER -IIAKRE
BIR_E—F+_ANHE_ZS—NE
+ZENBHERNBR IR - HEEHEAR
B XABRRZE—NE+ZH A BERIX
THEAERE NERERIRNER 251 B
5% FHESEZN—RFE o

ATE—OFE+"BNH > AATEAPEE
MEERETIE —MHARE  BitAR
BETEMENEERARREIIBRRKRE
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#277,030,2108 Tt 2 MA R A BRKRERZ
I HERSF  BRMIEEERIFEZS
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On 13 December 2017, the Company entered into the second
supplemental deed with China Xinhua NNC pursuant to which
the Company and China Xinhua NNC agreed to amend term and
condition of the convertible notes, where the maturity date of the
outstanding convertible notes with outstanding principal amount
of HK$257,030,210 was extended for 1 year and the conversion
period was accordingly extended for 1 year to 9 December
2018. Except for above-mentioned, the other terms remained
unchanged. If the notes have not been converted, the Company will
redeem on 9 December 2018 at the outstanding principal amount.
Interest of 3% per annum will be paid annually until the notes are
converted or redeemed.

On 9 December 2018, the Company entered into the third
supplemental deed with China Xinhua NNC pursuant to which
the Company and China Xinhua NNC agreed to amend term and
condition of the convertible notes, where the maturity date of the
outstanding convertible notes with outstanding principal amount
of HK$257,030,210 was extended for 2 years and the conversion
period was accordingly extended for 2 years to 9 December
2020. Except for above-mentioned, the other terms remained
unchanged. If the notes have not been converted, the Company will
redeem on 9 December 2020 at the outstanding principal amount.
Interest of 3% per annum will be paid annually until the notes are
converted or redeemed.

On 25 January 2021, the Company entered into the fourth
supplemental deed with China Xinhua NNC pursuant to which
the Company and China Xinhua NNC agreed to amend term and
condition of the convertible notes, where the maturity date of the
outstanding convertible notes with outstanding principal amount
of HK$257,030,210 was extended for 1 year and the conversion
period was accordingly extended for 1 year to 9 December
2021. Except for above-mentioned, the other terms remained
unchanged. If the notes have not been converted, the Company will
redeem on 9 December 2021 at the outstanding principal amount.
Interest of 3% per annum will be paid annually until the notes are
converted or redeemed.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this report, none of the Directors and their
respective associates including spouses and children under 18
years of age was granted by the Company or its subsidiaries any
right to acquire Shares or debentures of the Company or any other
body corporate, or had exercised any such right during the year
ended 31 March 2022.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Shares during the year ended 31
March 2022.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the
Company’s total issued share capital was held by the public
throughout the year ended 31 March 2022 and as at the date of
this report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s articles of association and the laws of Cayman Islands,
which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata
basis to existing Shareholders.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group entered into following continuing
connected transactions:

EEREROUEEZVEF
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Television Broadcasting Right Agreement

On 5 September 2011, Xinhua TV Asia-Pacific entered into
a television broadcasting right agreement (the “Television
Broadcasting Right Agreement”) with China Xinhua NNC, pursuant
to which China Xinhua NNC granted the television broadcasting
right in respect of broadcasting information contents from Xinhua
News Agency under CNC Channels on television channels in the
Asia-Pacific region (excluding the PRC) to the Group for an annual
fee of approximately HK$1.0 million prior to 31 December 2016
and approximately HK$3.0 million with effective from 1 January
2017. The Television Broadcasting Right Agreement has a term of
120 months from 1 September 2011 to 31 August 2021. Since
China Xinhua NNC is a substantial shareholder of the Company,
and therefore a connected person of the Company within the
meaning of the GEM Listing Rules, the transactions contemplated
under the Television Broadcasting Right Agreement constitute
continuing connected transactions for the Company pursuant to
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The Board wishes to inform the shareholders and potential
investors of the Company that upon expiration of the Television
Broadcasting Right Agreement on 31 August 2021, Xinhua
TV Asia-Pacific and China Xinhua NNC has yet to conclude
on the renewal of a new agreement due to the delay in the
commencement of negotiations. Notwithstanding the expiration
of the Television Broadcasting Right Agreement, Xinhua TV Asia-
Pacific and China Xinhua NNC are in discussion for a renewal up to
the date of this report. However, there is no assurance that Xinhua
TV Asia-Pacific and China Xinhua NNC will be able to conclude on
the renewal of a new agreement at any time.

Further announcement(s) will be made by the Company to keep the
shareholders and potential investors of the Company informed of
the progress of the renewal of a new agreement or termination of
services as and when appropriate.
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GEM Listing Rules Implications

Pursuant to Rule 20.41 of the GEM Listing Rules, the transactions
contemplated under the Television Broadcasting Right Agreement
are subject to the applicable reporting, annual review and
disclosure requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing
Rules. The Company will comply with the applicable reporting,
disclosure and independent shareholders’ approval requirements,
as the case may be, under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules
upon any variation or renewal of the Television Broadcasting Right
Agreement.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, controlling
Shareholders and their respective associates has any other conflict
of interests with the Group during the year ended 31 March 2022.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Group’s corporate governance practices are set out
in the “Corporate Governance Report” section on pages 40 to 77
of this report.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(@ On 30 June 2022, a promissory note with principal amount of
HK$45,040,000 issued by the Group was expired and on 31
August 2022, the Company entered into a supplemental deed
with the noteholder of promissory note, pursuant to which
the Group and the noteholder of promissory note agreed to
amend certain terms and conditions of the promissory note,
where (i) the maturity date of the outstanding promissory note
of principal amount of HK$45,040,000 will be extended to
30 June 2024 and (ii) the interest rate of the promissory note
was amended from 3% per annum to 0.5% per annum for the
extended period, being 1 July 2022 to 30 June 2024.
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(b) On 5 September, 2023, Mr. Kan, China Xinhua NNC, the
substantial shareholder of the Company and holder of the
Convertible Notes and the Company entered into a conditional
agreement, among other things,

1. the proposed allotment and issuance of a total of
1,666,666,667 subscription shares at the share
subscription price of HK$0.012 per subscription share
to Mr. Kan, a shareholder of the Company for a total
consideration of approximately HK$20,000,000;

2. the proposed amendments of certain terms of the
Convertible Notes with the holder of the Convertible
Notes, which is also a substantial shareholder of the
Company and proposed issuance of new convertible
notes with the principal amount of approximately
HK$64,128,000 to the holder of the Convertible Notes,
which is also a substantial shareholder of the Company
to set off the Convertible Notes Interest; and

3. the proposed issuance of new convertible bonds in the
principal amount of HK$16,240,000 to the holder of the
Convertible Notes, which is also a substantial shareholder
of the Company to set off part of the outstanding balance
of the On Demand Debt.
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Save for disclosed in note 44 and above, no significant event has
taken place subsequent to 31 March 2022 and up to the date of
this report.

AUDITOR

The Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2022
have been audited by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited which
will retire and, being eligible, offer itself for re-appointment at the
forthcoming AGM. A resolution to re-appoint HLB Hodgson Impey
Cheng Limited and to authorise the Directors to fix its remuneration
will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board
Jiang Yan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 October 2023
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

CNC Holdings Limited (the “Company”), together with its
subsidiaries (the “Group”), is pleased to present this Environmental,
Social and Governance Report (the “Report”) to provide an
overview of the Group’s management of significant issues affecting
the operation, including environmental, social and governance
(“ESG”) issues.

PREPARATION BASIS AND SCOPE

This Report is prepared in accordance with Appendix 20 to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM (the “GEM
Listing Rules”) of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”)-“Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide” and has complied with the “comply or explain”
provisions in the GEM Listing Rules.

This Report summarises the performance of the Group in respect
of corporate social responsibility, covering its operating activities
which are considered as material by the Group—namely (i) provision
of civil engineering services for the public sector in Hong Kong (the
“Civil Engineering Services Business”) and (i) media and advertising
business (the “Media and Advertising Business”) comprising
television broadcasting business in the Asia-Pacific region
(excluding the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”)) and digital
marketing business on overseas market. With the aim to optimise
and improve the disclosure requirements in the Report, the Group
has taken the initiative to formulate policies, record relevant data as
well as implement and monitor measures.
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REPORTING PERIOD

This Report demonstrates our sustainability initiatives during the
reporting period from 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022.

ESG GOVERNANCE

The Group has developed its internal strategies and policies with
aims to create sustainable values to its stakeholders, thereby
to large extent minimising the Group’s undue impact on the
environment. In order to carry out the Group’s sustainability
strategy from top to bottom, the Board has ultimate responsibilities
for ensuring the effectiveness of the Group’s ESG policies. In order
to fulfill the social expectation of our ESG strategies, along with
our operational and financial performance, we have established
an ESG workforce which comprises of our senior management
to enhance the Group’s ESG governance. While the Board of
Directors holds the overall responsibility for the achievement of
green and sustainable development of the Company, the ESG
workforce is responsible for effective implementation of our ESG
strategies. The major responsibilities and process of the ESG
workforce are developing the ESG vision, missions and values
of the Company; identifying, assessing and handling the ESG
risks and issues; monitoring and reviewing the ESG management
system for effective operation and reporting regularly to the Board
the material ESG issues and achievements.

In addition to the environmental issues, we are also dedicated to
complying with applicable laws and regulations of our operating
locations. Therefore, we have established interactive and bilateral
communication channels for both our internal and external
stakeholders for reporting and communication of potential
irregularities.
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With the forward-looking guidance and well-designed plans of
action to address underlying ESG matters, the management and
responsible teams keep reviewing and adjusting the Group’s
sustainability policies to satisfy the ever-changing needs of
its stakeholders on a regular basis. For instance, through the
assignment of the responsibility of progress tracking to different
management-level positions, the Group is committed to achieving
an excellent performance in ESG management while also remaining
competitive compared with its peers. Details of the Group’s
management approaches in both the environmental and social
aspects are elaborated in different sections of this ESG report.

CONTACT INFORMATION

The Group welcomes your feedback on this Report for our
sustainability initiatives. Please contact us at cnc@cnctv.hk.
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INTRODUCTION

The Group is principally engaged in the Civil Engineering Services
Business and the Media and Advertising Business. The Civil
Engineering Services Business includes provision of waterworks
engineering services, road works and drainage services and site
formation work for public sector in Hong Kong. For the Media
and Advertising Business, it involves the business of broadcasting
television programmes on television channels operated by
television broadcasting companies in the Asia-Pacific region
(excluding the PRC) and digital marketing business on overseas
market in return for advertising and related revenue.

Sustainable development is an integral part of the Group’s
business strategy in order to enhance capabilities for long-term
competitiveness. The Group is committed to operating in a manner
that is economically, environmentally and socially sustainable while
balancing the interests of its stakeholders and fostering a positive
impact on the society. To demonstrate its commitment, the Group
has established and implemented various policies to manage
and monitor the risks related to the environment, employment,
operating practices and community. Details of the management
approaches to sustainable development of different areas are
illustrated in this Report.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND MATERIALITY
ASSESSMENT

The Group understands the success of the Group’s business
depends on the support from its key stakeholders, who (a) have
invested or will invest in the Group; (b) have the ability to influence
the outcomes within the Group; and (c) are interested in or affected
by or have the potential to be affected by the impact of the Group’s
activities, products, services and relationships. It allows the Group
to understand risks and opportunities. The Group will continue to
ensure effective communication and maintain good relationship
with each of its key stakeholders.

Stakeholders are prioritised from time to time in view of the Group’s
roles and duties, strategic plan and business initiatives. The Group
engages with its stakeholders to develop mutually beneficial
relationships and to seek their views on its business proposals and
initiatives as well as to promote sustainability in the marketplace,
workplace, community and environment.

The Group acknowledges the importance of intelligence gained
from the stakeholders’ insights, inquiries and continuous interest
in the Group’s business activities. The Group has identified key
stakeholders that are important to our business and established
various channels for communication. The following table provides
an overview of the Group’s key stakeholders, and various platforms
and methods of communication are used to reach, listen and
respond.
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Key Stakeholders
FERGRE

Government

BT

Shareholders and
Investors

RERGES

Employees

(==

Expectations
HAZ

e Compliance with the applicable laws
and regulations

o ETBREREKRA

e Proper tax payment

o RIEMIR

e Promotion of regional economic
development and employment

o HFEHHBRMIE

e | ow risk
o (EEP

e Return on the investment

o B[O
e |nformation disclosure
o BIFE

e Protection of interests and fair treatment
of shareholders
e RERREDNTEHEHF

e Safeguard the rights and interests of
employees

o RIEEESREN KED

e Working environment

o T{RIRIR

e Career development opportunities

o HEXEEKE

e Health and safety

o BERHEZE

Engagement Channels
BHERE

e On-site inspections and checks

s BMHERKBE

e Conferences

s B

e Work reports preparation and submission
for approval

o TIRREMHRMNRIEHE

e Annual and interim reports

s FERPTHIRSG

e Company website

o NE)HTUL

e Annual general meeting and other
shareholder meetings

e RERBFAGRAMBRERE

e Annual, interim and quarterly reports

s FE -HFHKFERS

e Announcements

o N
e Newsletter
o fh

e Feedback forms

o REEFRAE

e Training, seminars and briefing sessions
o FiI-HNERENE

e Employee activities

s BEEH
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Key Stakeholders Expectations
FERFHDE HAE

Suppliers and Partners

HERREIEBH

Peer/Industry
Associations

[FI% R A

Market Regulator
TISEEHE

e Long-term partnership

REAB AR

e Honest cooperation

o BHSE

e Fair and open tendering process
o RNENAHBEME

e Information resources sharing

o BHBERE=E

e Experience sharing
o KENZE

e Cooperation

e &5fF

e Fair competition
. ATHTF

e Compliance with applicable laws and

regulations
o BTEAEEKRRL
e Information disclosure
o Bl

Engagement Channels
SERE

e Business meetings and supplier
conferences

s EBIRRMEEEE

e Strategic cooperation

o HERSE

® Review and assessment

o @5t ReETh

e Tendering process

o KIRAZ

e Industry conference and seminars
s TTEGHEKMNE
e Site visit

o BMFEFH

e Consulting

o B3

e |nformation disclosure

o EFUIKEE

e Annual, interim, quarterly reports and
other published information

o FE - -FERSRAEMTIFEN
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Through general communication with stakeholders, the Group
understands the expectations and concerns from stakeholders.
The feedbacks obtained allow the Group to make more informed
decisions, and to better assess and manage the resulting impact.

The Group has adopted the principle of materiality in the ESG
reporting by understanding the key ESG issues that are important
to the business of the Group. All the key ESG issues and key
performance indicators (KPIs) are reported in the Report according
to recommendations of the ESG Reporting Guide (Appendix 20 of
the GEM Listing Rules) and the GRI Guidelines.

The Group has evaluated the materiality and importance in ESG
aspects through the following steps:

Step 1: Identification - Industry Benchmarking

e Relevant ESG areas were identified through the review of

relevant ESG reports of the local and international industry
peers.

e The materiality of each ESG areas was determined
based on the importance of each ESG area to the Group
through internal discussion of the management and the
recommendation of ESG Reporting Guide (Appendix 20 of the
GEM Listing Rules).

Step 2: Prioritization — Stakeholder Engagement

e The Group discussed with key stakeholders on key ESG
areas identified above to ensure that all the key aspects were
covered.

Step 3: Validation - Determining Material Issues

e Based on the discussion with key stakeholders and
internal discussion among the management, the Group’s
management ensured that all the key and material ESG areas,
which were important to the business development, were
reported and in compliance with ESG Reporting Guide.

As a result of this process carried out in 2022, those important ESG
areas to the Group were discussed in this Report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS

The Group is committed to continuously improving its
environmental sustainability and integrating environmental
considerations into its operations. For the Civil Engineering
Services Business, the Group endeavours to manage
construction sites in an environmentally friendly and energy
efficient manner with the implementation of the “Environmental
Management Policy” and the “Environmental Management
Plan”.

The “Environmental Management Policy” (the “EMP”)
summarises the Group’s commitment in ensuring
environmentally responsible operation, including establishing
and attaining environmental objectives and targets,
communicating with employees and sub-contractors the
Group’s standards, as well as preventing or reducing
environmental pollution and nuisance with adequate
protective measures.

The “Environmental Management Plan” outlines how the
Group intends to minimise the environmental nuisance of air,
noise and wastewater pollution, and minimise the generation
of surplus construction and demolition (“C&D”) materials and
complying the requirement of Environmental Permit under
Environmental Impact Assessment Ordinance.

For the Media and Advertising Business, it is wholly office-
based and its environmental impacts are relatively insignificant
as compared to the Civil Engineering Services Business.
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A1. EMISSIONS Al HERY

The Group has implemented the “Environmental Management
Plan” and various emission control initiatives to address air,
noise, water and waste pollution during construction. The
Group strictly complies with the relevant laws and regulations,
including but not limited to the Noise Control Ordinance
(Cap. 400), the Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap. 311),
the Water Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap. 358), the Waste
Disposal Ordinance (Cap. 354) and the Environmental
Impact Assessment Ordinance (Cap. 499), to ensure the
environmental impacts arising from its business are managed
in a proper manner.

During the reporting period, the Group was not aware of any
non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations relating
to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water
and land, generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

Air Pollutant Emissions

Air pollutants is a major concern for construction industry.
Construction activities such as concrete breaking and
demolition works, drilling works, excavation works and
combustion of fuels resulted in generation of air pollutants. The
Group has implemented various mitigation and preventative
measures to reduce its air pollutants emission.

In managing the dust generation, all stockpile of construction
materials including excavated soft materials, demolition
debris, fill materials, etc. which are dusty by their nature are
properly covered by tarpaulin or other approved means. For
carrying out dusty construction activities such as demolition
works, drilling works or excavation works, the Group provides
dust screens or enclosure, water spraying system, the fitting of
vacuum cleaning services to the pneumatic or drilling, cutting
and polishing machines or other appropriate abatement
measures to reduce the air nuisance to the public.
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The Group also provides wheel washing systems at all existing
points of construction sites, comprising high-pressure water
jets and heavy duty metal grating capable for supporting the
heaviest vehicles and a tough for collecting wastewater.

For the fuel control, the Group uses Ultra-Low-Sulphur Diesel
for non-road mobile machinery. All non-road mobile machinery
must be approved with a proper label in a prescribed format
issued by the Environmental Protection Department in
accordance to the Air Pollution Control (Non-road Mobile
Machinery) (Emission) Regulation. The increase in air pollutant
emissions in 2022 was mainly attributable to the increase in
work from newly awarded civil engineering projects from the
Civil Engineering Services Business during the year. During the
reporting period, the air pollutant emissions were as follows:

Type of air pollutant Unit
RIS RYEER B
Nitrogen oxides (NOx) tonnes
AL 1EMIINOY U}
Sulphur oxides (SOx) tonnes
& 1E¥(SOx) WA
Particulate matter (PM) tonnes
FBRYI(PM) 55
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Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”) Emission

GHG is considered as one of the major contributors to the
climate change and global warming. During the operation
of the Group, electricity and fuel consumptions account for
a major part of its GHG emission. The Group places great
emphasis on improving energy efficiency and reducing energy
consumption to reduce GHG emission. The Group has
adopted energy saving initiatives mentioned in the section
“Use of Resources” of this Report.

Regarding GHG emissions of the Group, scope 1 direct
emissions and scope 2 indirect emissions mainly result from
combustion of fuels in stationary sources and purchased
electricity respectively for business operations. During the
year, the Group complied with all applicable environmental
laws and regulations or prosecution for non-compliance with
the relevant laws and regulations relating to emissions. The
increase in GHG emissions in 2022 was mainly attributable
to the increase in work from newly awarded civil engineering
projects from the Civil Engineering Services Business during
the year.

During the reporting period, the GHG emission was as follows:
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Type of GHG emission Unit 2022 2021
= R AR HE R B el - BT —F
Scope 1! tonnes of CO2¢e 4,304.67 2,945.63
#HEN" W—EbikES
Scope 2? tonnes of CO2e 215.50 181.72
#i[E]2? W—EbikES
Total GHG emission tonnes of CO:ze 4,520.17 3,127.35
mERBHINEE WSk EE
GHG emission intensity tonnes of CO2e/HK$’000 0.011 0.013

BEREBINEE

i Scope 1: Direct emission from sources that are owned or controlled
by the Group.

2 Scope 2: Indirect emissions from the generation of purchased
electricity consumed by the Group.
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Hazardous and Non-hazardous Wastes

The Group generates non-hazardous waste from construction
sites and office operation. The construction sites produce
waste that includes C&D materials and household waste. The
Group strives to reduce the generation of C&D materials in
particular the metallic waste, timber, cardboard packaging and
chemical waste.

The approaches include proper planning of works, good
site management, avoiding cross contamination to reusable
materials, use of metal formwork and maximising the reuse of
excavated inert C&D materials. All C&D materials arising from
or in connection with construction works shall be sorted to
recover the inert C&D materials and reusable and/or recyclable
materials prior to disposal of the waste portion off-site. The
disposal of waste is managed properly in accordance with the
relevant legislations.

Furthermore, the Group strives to minimise the use of timber
for temporary construction works. Alternative environmentally
friendly materials, such as metal scaffolding and metal
formwork shall be used to replace timber. The Group reuses
timber as much as possible and try to avoid treating the timber
with chemicals which make it difficult to be reused or recycled.

The Group provides recycling bins for collection of aluminum
cans, papers and plastic bottles on construction sites. The
recyclable materials are collected by recycling company on a
regular basis.
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In addition, the Group has implemented the “Environmental
Office Practices”, which provides guidelines on reducing
waste in office operation. The Group strives to reduce the
paper waste by encouraging employees to use both sides of
paper and suitable font size and shrinkage mode. Besides,
communication by electronic means is promoted to minimise
the use of paper and paper waste. Employees are also
encouraged to use reusable items, such as reusable cups
and cutleries to reduce the amount of waste. The increase in
the amount of non-hazardous waste generated in 2022 was
mainly attributable to the increase in work from newly awarded
civil engineering projects from the Civil Engineering Services
Business during the year. During the reporting period, the non-
hazardous waste generated by the Group was as follows:

Type of waste Unit
EE¥EE R B
Non-hazardous waste generated tonnes
FREL 2 mEREEY iR

Non-hazardous waste generated intensity tonnes/HK$ 000

PREEZ BERREYRE g,/ FEIT

During the reporting period, there was no significant
hazardous waste generated by the Group. The Group will
closely monitor its operation to the possible generation of
hazardous waste in the future.
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Noise

Noise is generated from the Group’s construction activities,
such as excavation of hard materials, operation of plants
and machinery, falsework dismantle and formwork removing.
In managing the impacts of construction noise on the
surrounding environment, the Group strictly adheres to the
relevant laws and regulations, including the Noise Control
Ordinance (Cap.400). The Group strives to mitigate the noise
nuisance by controlling the noise source and adopting noise
abatement practices.

The Group undertakes various construction planning to
eliminate noise source. Except for those machinery operations
and construction works stated in the Construction Noise
Permit issued by the Environmental Protection Department,
other operations are not allowed to be carried out from
7 p.m. to 7 a.m. or at any time on Sunday or public holidays.
The Group also selects the quieter plants to be used on site
instead of noisy plant when feasible.

In order to minimise the noise pollution on construction sites,
the Group has adopted noise abatement practices. The Group
uses non-percussive equipment such as sawing and coring
machines for demolition and concrete breaking work. Mufflers
or silencers, and dampening layer with steel collars are fitted
to hand held pneumatic breakers. Where percussive breakers
are used, the breaker tip is enclosed with sound insulating
material to reduce the noise.
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A2,

Wastewater

Wastewater such as toilet sewage generated from site depot
is discharged into a foul sewer if connection to foul sewer can
be made. Otherwise, it is temporary collected in the sewage
tank. The Group has engaged licensed sewage contractor for
sewage disposal. Direct discharge of wastewater produced
during construction into rainwater gutter is prohibited.
Wastewater generated from the sites is properly treated by
appropriate means before disposal such as sedimentation
tank or waste treatment plant whenever necessary.

During the reporting period, the Group was not aware of any
non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations that would
have a significant impact on the Group relating to air and
greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land,
and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

USE OF RESOURCES

The Group places great emphasis on ensuring efficient use of
energy and resources. The Group aims to promote resources
saving by adopting green office practices and motivating our
employees to participate in resources conservation activities.
The Group’s “Environmental Office Practices” provides
guidelines on saving energy and water in the office operation.
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Energy

The energy consumption of the Group comes from electricity
and fuel consumptions. In view of the scarcity of energy, the
Group has advocated various energy conservation strategies.
Electrical appliance should be set as energy-saving mode
where possible. Computers are set as standby mode when
they are not in use for a long period of time. Besides, room
temperature should be maintained at an energy-efficient level.
Lightings and power supply should be switched off when they
are not in use. The increase in energy consumption in 2022
was mainly attributable to the increase in work from newly
awarded civil engineering projects from the Civil Engineering
Services Business during the year.

During the reporting period, the energy consumption was as

follows:

Type of energy Unit

REIRERR B
Purchased electricity MWh

BAS Ik FL B
Petrol MWh

UH JKE B

Diesel MWh

! JKFUBF

Total energy consumption MWh
RERFEFEE JE B
Energy consumption intensity MWh/HK$’000
SERFEARE JKEEE,FHET
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ENERER FEEDREZIRAER
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REMDBEEHRRENLTARIEREE
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552.58 476.06
1,255.57 960.52
16,205.44 10,951.12
18,013.59 12,387.70
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Water

Water is another important resource used by the Group.
Employees are reminded to turn off the tap when not in use.
In case of leaking faucet or pipe, employees should report to
the relevant authority to avoid wastage of water. The increase
in water consumption in 2022 was mainly attributable to the
increase in work from newly awarded civil engineering projects
from the Civil Engineering Services Business during the year.

During the reporting period, the water consumption was as

follows:

Water Unit

KEIR B

Water consumption m?3

FEKE K

Water consumption intensity m3/HK$’000
FEKEE MAKSFHBT

THE ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL RESOURCES

As stipulated in EMP, the Group considers in its construction
planning all the statutory and contractual environmental
protection and pollution control requirements that are
applicable to the proposed construction works, which
are likely to pose potential harm to the environment or
environmental nuisance to the members of general public.
Before the intended commencement of individual construction
operation, the environmental officers and site agents identify
the potential adverse impacts on the environment and develop
pollution and mitigation measures, in order to reduce the
environmental impacts to the minimal. The Group establishes
and maintains a routine site inspection programme as part
of its active monitoring programme to identify and rectify
environmental problems and assess the adequacy of existing
pollution control and waste management measures with a
view to achieve progressive improvements.

AS.
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2022 2021
—T-= B —F
26,147.00 18,828.00
0.06 0.08
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In addition, the Group adopts various promotion activities to tESh » REBRMZIEHE TH IERE
enhance the environmental awareness of its employees. The BENIRFRE# -AEERIEZE2KRIRR
Group establishes safety and environmental notice boards for 7 \iﬁ'ﬁ ARRFREH REHLRETER
displaying environmental information, provides and displays ENIRRREEYEIEERRE®R B
adequate and appropriate environmental protection and #bﬂﬁf%ﬁﬁfjiﬂ?*fﬁﬁ)ii?zﬁwEEETHJ
waste management signs and posters, delivers environmental MRE R UELESMEEERIRR
talks and distributes environmental protection and waste REEYER AEETERKEH T AE
management publications and information sheets to generally RREE BAEE T2 HIRRES -

promote environmental protection and waste management
to the workforce. The Group also launches environmental
campaigns such as model worker to encourage frontline staff
to participate in environmental protection activities.

With the integration of policies and measures to reduce air BEEMABRRERMR D ERSR K
pollutants and GHG emissions, waste generation, noise BRERBHI -BEVEL - BRIRENU
nuisance and resources consumption, the Group strives RERER 2B B HNRIRIRZATF
to enhance environmental sustainability and minimise the BEEUTRENVHIRIENEZE-

impacts on the environment.
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A4. CLIMATE CHANGE Ad. RIEEE

Climate change is one of the most complicated challenges
faced by mankind’s in the new century. Global warming
gives rise to more frequent extreme weather conditions
including changes in precipitation mode, droughts, floods
and bushfires. Rise in sea level will make tens of thousands
of people in densely populated coastal areas and island
countries homeless. Faced with all sorts of problems,
individuals, corporations and governments must take
immediate actions to tackle climate change.

Over-emission of greenhouse gases is the main factor in
causing global climate change. To achieving a low carbon
economy, the Group is committed to reducing its greenhouse
gas emissions through the approaches of mitigation and
adaptation. For example, the Group has strived to mitigate
the risks brought by climate change through the adoption of
various environmental policies and measures; and promoting
energy saving measures and habits in office. The Group has
also considered potential physical risks of climate change
to its daily operation such as storms, fires or heatwaves and
through implementation of the relevant protection measures to
minimize the risks.

Managing the possible impact of extreme weather on human
security and infrastructure, precautionary measures have been
taken by the Company, including work arrangements in the
case of adverse weather conditions such as Black Rainstorm
Warning and Typhoon Signal No. 8, as well as insurance
coverage for fire, flood and typhoon damages to equipment
and assets. The Group are focused on reducing emissions
in its operations, engaging suppliers to reduce emissions in
supply chains, strengthening the resilience of its business and
using its voice to advocate for collective action.
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Governance

Supported by our ESG Working Group, our Board oversees
climate-related issues and risks and ensures that they are
incorporated into our strategy.

Our Group addresses climate-related risks based on
their impact on our operations. Immediate risks, such as
extreme weather events or facility damage, are treated as
operational risks. Long-term challenges and emerging ESG
issues, including climate-related risks and opportunities, are
discussed by our ESG Working Group. We are committed
to implementing, maintaining, and improving our Quality,
Environmental, Health and Safety (QEHS) management
system to uphold this policy. Our goal is to achieve
Environmental Friendliness, Pollution Prevention, and Green
and Gracious practices, reducing the impact of global
warming and promoting a positive site environment.

Our ESG Working Group provides effective governance for
integrating and addressing ESG issues, including climate
change, in our business. We oversee our ESG strategy,
policies, and disclosure, regularly reporting important matters
to the Board. The Board plays a key role in decision-making
and supervision of ESG-related issues.

The board indicates the Company’s development direction,
supervises whether all subsidiaries have completed the
targets, and assesses and manages climate-related risks and
opportunities.

To keep up on climate-related issues, our management
receives climate competence training to enhance our
expertise and skills in addressing these issues. Additionally,
our Board seeks external expert advice when needed to
support informed decision-making.
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The ESG Working Group approves operational emissions
targets and commissions benchmarking exercises to identify
gaps in disclosure and policies. Moreover, the ESG Working
Group collaborates with different operational departments
to develop consistent approaches to address climate risk
and report to management. The team also works with
consultants to review green-mark ratings for our development,
ensuring thorough consideration of sustainable materials,
and technology that is more climatic responsive, energy
effective, resource efficient, smarter and has healthier indoor
environments.

Strategy

Climate change risk is incorporated into our overall risk profile
due to its impact on diseases, natural disasters, and health
outcomes. Our business strategy and broad geographic
presence help distribute risk and provide resilience against
short-term climate change effects. Climate-related risks and
opportunities influence a company’s adaptability and success
in the market.

In the short term, higher costs for environmentally friendly
projects, considering investor and consumer preferences. In
the medium term, assessing results of initial investments for
expansion and returns. In the long term, improved reputation,
environmental contribution, and higher economic benefits
through sustainable development.

The Company will incorporate advanced technology and
integrated solutions to meet various functional needs of a
home, including lighting, thermal comfort, air quality, and noise
control. The system will be regularly updated to incorporate
the latest market-available technology.
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Our services prioritize community protection from weather-
related diseases and promote climate resilience. We engage
business partners in renewable energy and energy efficiency
initiatives. Reducing our operational carbon footprint is a
priority, considering various climate scenarios, including a “2°C
or lower scenario.” This is accomplished through the following
steps:

Step 1: Foresee Future Images Assuming Climate Change

Effects

e Introduce and increase carbon pricing

e  Technological advancements and customer awareness

e Multiple future images based on |EA scenarios, including
the 2°C scenario (2DS)

Step 2: Consider the Impacts

e Assess impacts on the Group for each future scenario

e Business opportunities and expanded efforts in a carbon
reduction-focused society

e  Supply chain disruptions due to inadequate climate
change measures

Step 3: Confirm Measures

e  Reduce non-renewable energy use in daily operations

e  Strategically address high emission regions

e Aim for zero carbon emissions through energy-saving
and renewable energy measures

e  Set targets to reduce purchased electricity and engage
with stakeholders for sustainable funding and increased
corporate value.
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Risk Management

Our Group identifies the climate change related risks or tests
the existing risk management strategies under climate change
with the aid of risk assessment, and therefore the areas where
new strategies are needed could be identified.

The risk assessment takes a standard risk-based approach
using national data, local information and expert knowledge,
which can identify how climate change may compound
existing risks or create new ones. The risk assessment is
conducted through the following steps:

Step 1: Establish the context

The objective/goal is to address climate change through
targeted actions, considering the scale and time frame of
implementation, and taking into account various climate
variables and sea level changes.

Step 2: Identify existing risk (past and current)

The identification of past occurrences of climatic hazards
in the area and the implementation of risk management
strategies are crucial for addressing future occurrences of the
hazard.

Step 3: Identify future risk and opportunities

Explore climate change projections for the selected time
frame(s) and emission scenario(s) to identify potential hazards.
Investigate existing risk worsening and identify new risks
emerging under future projected changes.

Step 4: Analyse and evaluate risk

e |dentify a set of decision areas or systems that has the
potential to be at risk in future
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As outlined within the ESG Governance section above, The
Group has strong risk management and business planning
overseen by the Board to address climate-related risks. The
Board instructs the ESG Working Group to provide specific
rectification measures to business units. We engage with
government and relevant organizations to stay updated on
regulatory and fiscal changes.

The Group continues to raise awareness of climate change
in regard to monitoring of carbon and energy footprint in our
daily operation. However, there remain gaps in understanding
how such climate risks and opportunities may impact our
operations, assets and profits. During the reporting period,
Climate-related risks impact our Group’s businesses and
strategy in various areas. We have taken steps to manage
these risks. the steps taken to manage these risks are as
follows:
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Steps taken to

Climate-related risks description Financial Impact manage the risks

SR AH A L B i 2t MBRE # B 12 B b Fr BR BN BV 45 b
Physical Risk

ERAER

Acute physical risks

=MERERE

e Risks from extreme weather events. e QOperating cost increases such e Plan to adopt scenario

Worker accessibility is hindered, rebar as the inadequate water supply analysis to disclose an

gets damaged, and excavation areas for power plants organization’s planning under

B B AN 1T N 0 90 2% B R At
KRB

become hazardous. Reconstruction is future scenarios, (e.g., the 2°C

needed, leading to increased material scenario.)

SHEIRABR DRI EAER
EARRER THRE (IR
R2EBER) -

demand and potential supply shortages.
Erosion of excavation slopes poses risks e Capital cost increases due to
to workers in pits/trenches.
iR R EGHNER  TARTEER

BE 55 = B BIR LU Z i & B 215

the damage to facilities
RMIRIRE R E T AL

s BESREBMMEBREME
BT IEIE R - B AR R A
BRI T AERAR -

Increased likelihood and severity of
wildfire. Natural or man-made natural
fires can cause a large number of trees
to be burned. Thereby affecting the
supply of raw materials.
FNEEROEM REEEZEEEM-
BRI ABNBANKGERKER
AR EMT BRI HAE-

Ensure all sites are provided
with proper drainage systems.
BRAMMAEMBREEENST
IKFH 0

Maintain and regularly service
the Earth Control Measures
(ECM) machine. This prevents
delays caused by chemical
shortages.
AESE N TE BRAE R E G RI 2
(TECM) #2838 - HBIER1E
EE|}T TR IS AL SR ©

A plan to deal with possible
natural disasters is

established.
FIEEREAIEEZELENBEAKE
SR
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Steps taken to
Climate-related risks description Financial Impact

S 152 4 R L B i 2t MBTE

manage the risks

B R AR HE

Chronic physical risks
1814 B 58 A B
e Revenue reduced from

e Changes in precipitation patterns and e Plan areas susceptible

extreme variability in weather patterns,
rainy seasons unpredictable.

S RERERUTEN .

Sites may experience delays and
damage to materials and equipment
due to high water levels from excessive
rainfall.

BB ERERIEMNEKA > THE
SEB IR MR AT R AR R I8IE o

Rising temperatures can affects
construction progress and material
efficacy. Extreme temperatures pose
health risks for staff and workers,
increasing the risk of illness.

BE AR R B TERE kMK
W -BimFREH BTN T AEN
22 R R\ e > ¥ 1 T SR LB ©

Rising sea levels: The rise in sea

level may cause the coastal area to

be submerged. The original building
planning area cannot be constructed
normally, or the completed building is
submerged.

BYE LA BTELARESERS
B E AR BRERFI &R
ERBMT g TIEFWEL

decreased production capacity
and the negative impacts of
workforce
WAREEE D NERSH
M s | EmE
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to extreme weather and
enhance design flexibility to
accommodate situations like
sea level rise.

FRE 22 minE KR ENM
& Wi AR5t B H > UE
fEBTFE EAERR

Develop the habit of saving
resources.

EERMNERINEE-

Increase water conservation
efforts through effective use of
water coming out from water
treatment plants, and joint all
reservoirs together to ensure
water discharge to open

drains.
BABMNABKEERES
7K MAREKNDE > BE PR
BKE—RERKBEARER-

Engage with local or national
governments and local
stakeholders on local resilience
to promotes healthy living to all
staff and workers.
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Steps taken to
Climate-related risks description Financial Impact manage the risks
1 A8 B L B M E # B 12 B b Fr BR BN BV 45 b

Transitional Risk
BE R b

Policy risk
B R g

e The complied standard of construction e Operating cost increases due e Source out alternative

materials may be required. to high compliance costs for construction materials.
AEZEEFEREEMENEZ. the updates of equipmentand ~ FREZFREBEM K -
inspections
e Suppliers are unable to adapt to new HRREEMREREEEE o Outsource to overseas
changes. RERWMAELF FEEK  suppliers.
HEmE A EEREE Z3E 0 SMNEL T B IMEFE RS o
e The price of fuel will be increased to e Construction costs increase ~ ® The Group adopts clean
restrict the use of traditional fuel sources as the price of materials and energy technology and utilizes
MEERE SRS URFIEREH  traditional fuels rise energy-efficient appliances,
AR 2R © IR MR R EHEMEEBI £ like 5-ticks air conditioners.
R R A A IE N REBERBBREREM > I
 The Group allocates significant time LA Ak = AL BN E RS ©
and resources annually for ISO quality
inspections to meet government e The management carefully
requirements. studies the requirements of
KEESFRARERERERET ISO and implements it.
ISOmERE » UFFSBNRE BIEEFMAMERBERISOE
Ko
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Steps taken to
Climate-related risks description Financial Impact

S 152 4 R L B i 2t fit

manage the risks

B R AR HE

?\/ =

Legal risk
EREE

Complaints and lawsuits may arise from e Operating cost increases due

construction site impacts on nearby
residents, such as noise pollution.
MTIRGHKITEERNFEE  flung

=

EREE ARG -l = E i N

Unable to tender for a new project.
FOARRIRIIEE -

Will be blacklisted by the Government
bodies.

AR AR B E -

The Group will be fined when they fail
to comply with relevant government
regulations.
MAEBEARTEBNTBRBRE » K #%
BRLASIR o

The Group may be required to cease
operations when they fail to obtain

certificates.
EXAEEELIESEER  UEIH
ERZILEE

to high compliance costs
BRRERmALEH SEK
BN

Additional cost increases when
the companies are fined
EATDRANDRE B
INEEINBI PR A
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e Monitor environmental
law updates, proactively
implement GHG emissions
accounting, and proactively
implement GHG emissions
accounting to align with any
changes in legal requirements.
BRERIREAGIEN THEK
BEREHBRZE UkETH
EfRERBEIRZE LR
BIEBRRENEEEE

e Engage the Environmental
Control Officer to advise the
site on any issues.
BRERIEEFIAE
I B % o

LAY (E

e Conduct inspection and report
to ensure compliance.

ETIREL RS UERGR

e Seriously abide by relevant
laws and regulations proposed
by the government.
BB ST BN D8 i B AR R A 12
ERR e
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Steps taken to
Climate-related risks description Financial Impact manage the risks
SR AH A L B i 2t MBRE 7 B 12 [ % Fr £R X R FE
Technology risk
£ i B
e More green building strategies with low- e Capital investment in e Examine the feasibility and
carbon, energy-saving technologies technology development benefits of applying the latest
may weaken our competitive edges. increases environmental technologies.
FIEEZEM HERMANGEBEER RWHAENEREEEN 1% 5 e Al R AT IR R BT RV BT 47
RIS EHISHFANFEREED - M
¢ R&D expense in new and
e Advanced training is required to use new  alternative technologies e Educate the staff on how to
technology. increases use the technology.
REETERTRMASRIEI- MM kEARMNMAEE HEFETWRLHRIIM-
FAE 0
e Requires more space consumption due e (Cater the space for the
to the advancement of technology. advancement of technology.
EREmNEY  BELAEZHNE B R T P R R 2= R o
fE e
e Ensure the supplier is well
e The technology fails due to inadequate recognised to prevent failure in
experience/is still in the research and technology.
development (‘R&D”) phase. BREERBES DA NHEE
RMTAERLRNE MERARR 72 LABR LE R AT 2R 54 o

FEE (THAF2%)) BEERMAER XL
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Steps taken to

Climate-related risks description Financial Impact manage the risks

SR 15 48 BR & B 4 il MiEFE A EIRE PR 55
Market risk
5 E S

Consumers’ growing preference for
environmentally friendly homes can
negatively impact profits from traditional
houses.
HEEHRBRFRFREEUESH
BREENENESaETE-

Green buildings become one of the
factors to affect property prices.

HERERATEVEERIEEREZ

— 0

More environmentally friendly raw
materials may be much more expensive.
BENRRREMAAEESERES

=
ch ©

Fewer suppliers can provide
environmentally friendly raw materials.

AHRMHIRR R R HERHE D o

The changes in consumer preferences
lead to an increase in the risks that
companies have to bear.
HEBERENESIECERRFAEKEN
JRL B S8 0

e Revenue decreases due to the
change in revenue mix and
sources
BRI AMES KRR IREE L&
16> EEUW AR D

e QOperating cost increases as
abrupt and unexpected shifts
in energy costs
% BB TR B S B9 2 28 e Bk
29N EBME  BEEER A
120

e Construction cost increases
due to changing input prices
and output requirements and
the increased cost of raw
materials.

R ABE R HE R

ine R AR
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Study the application of eco-
friendly materials.

MERIRRMEIBIFER o

Allocated appropriate budget
or costing while tendering
projects.
TEERERDEEENTESR
SRR AN ©

Source out suppliers

overseas to maintain pricing
competition.

SRBIMEEE URISERSR S
FHe

Actively conduct surveys on
user preferences to formulate
appropriate development
strategies.
HBRAERRRERAE  HIE
TEER R R o

Increased revenues through
access to new and emerging
markets.

25 1B 3 N T 35 B R B T 35 LU
BANWA ©

Increased diversification of
financial assets.

RATHMEESRIEREE-
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Climate-related risks description

S 15 1) R L B i 2t

Reputational risk

BEER

e Shifts in consumer preferences. More
customers are considering climate-
related risks and opportunities, which
may lead to changes in customer
preference for houses with greener
designs.
HEZREFHNEZ - HRBZHNER
BT E R E R =R RY & bR s s
M EERE R RFERRS FIR
RERE-

e Stigmatization of sector, or negative
stakeholder feedback in a less
environmentally-friendly way.
BARFRN AR GERITETRIEH
FhEknTamrbaE-

e Violating environmental laws during
construction damages reputation
reduces contract opportunities, and
may lead to blacklisting. It also erodes
public trust in the Company.
MIMEERRE ZEEETEE
BLEHNHE o BRWII AR
BB -HNTEHSFARKARTIE
f£o

* Reputation damage impacts investor
decisions and capital flow.
BETHEREREERARKRET Mo

Financial Impact
M E

e Revenue decreases as a
decrease in demand for
properties/engineering
services, and in engineering
work capacity
WAREME TERBEN
BRI EER MR

7N
-

e QOperating costs increase from
negative impacts on workforce
management and planning
HEsHHEEBERRENER
T ETHEEMN AN

Steps taken to

manage the risks

7 E 2 R P EREX R HE

°

Organizing more activities

or actions to show how the
corporation place importance.
HBEZEFTH BRE
EMNER

Engaged Environmental

Control Officer to advise the
site on environmental issues.
EAEIREETASMNIRIRRE
MR MRz

Management conducts
inspections and reports to
ensure compliance.
BIEBETRERRS  UE
RER

Review the environmental

plan for any change in legal
requirements.

WA RERERERLEE > R

SIRIESHE]

The construction work will

be terminated if any non-
compliance is found.
HEREMAERER T2
A& LE o

Meet all government
requirements for climate
protection.
MEBRNHRIERENFIBEE
Ko
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During the reporting period, the primary climate-related RSN BREEEN T EH B AR
opportunities and the corresponding financial impacts were as B ZEMT .

follows:

Detailed description of
climate-related opportunities

RIZMERA B FE

Resource efficiency

BiRY @

J Construct and move to more efficient buildings
BRIUBEEAYmIET

e Reduce water usage and consumption

B K F HFE

Energy source

ak )
BEin

e Use of lower-emission sources of energy

ERHMELDBBEIR

e Use of supportive policy incentives

{58 A S F5 1 B R BB

e Use of new technologies

foE PR B2 4l
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Financial Impact

ﬂjﬁ ‘?\/ =

e QOperating cost is reduced through efficiency gains
and cost reductions

38 0 et WA e S B TR RR A PR AR B R A

e QOperating cost is reduced through the use of lowest
cost abatement

BRI AHEERBREEEMAE

e Returns on investment in low-emission technology

HEBFR BRI R BRI

e Revenue increases through new solutions to
adaptation needs, such as insurance risk transfer

services
u_frﬁz_ﬁ = SREVHT AR VR 5 I U A > B W £
B f B AR5



Detailed description of
climate-related opportunities

RIZERRBRFE

Products and services

E KRR

e Development of climate adaptation and insurance
risk solutions

€ AR FE K (R R PR AR R AR R 75 56

e Ability to diversify business activities

ESCAETIE S (v NS

Markets
i

e Access to new markets
EAFTES

Resilience

%

e Participation in renewable energy programs and
adoption of energy-efficiency measures
S E T B4 AR 5T 8 R IR A A RUE

e Resource substitution or diversification
BREBRSZHRI
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Financial Impact
MBEE

e Revenue increases through access to new and
emerging markets
BB E AFTE IS IE N A

e Market valuation increases through resilience
planning, such as infrastructure, land, buildings
BIBERREIEMHHEE AR T BF

e The reliability of the supply chain and its ability to
operate under various conditions increase

BREB R THHEEREM REEEREIRA

e Revenue increases through new services related to
ensuring resiliency

BBAE R RE R IRFS S I A
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Metric and Targets

Our Group adopts the key metrics to measure and manage
climate-related risks and opportunities. The energy
consumption and GHG emissions indicators are the key
metrics used to assess and manage relevant climate-related
risks we consider such information to be material and crucial
for assessing the impact of our operation during the year. We
track our energy consumption and GHG emissions indicators
to assess the effectiveness of emission reduction initiatives,
as well as set targets to contribute to our effort to limit global
warming.

The details of the time frames over which the target applies
and the base year from which progress is measured are
described in the section A1: “Emissions” and section A2:
“Use of Resources” of this Report. Our Group adopt absolute
target to manage climate-related risks and opportunities and
performance.
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SOCIAL ASPECTS HtEAE
EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES BEREFEIER
B1. EMPLOYMENT Bi. E{E

The Group believes people are the most valuable assets to the
continuing development and success of the Group. As such,
the Group strives to attract and retain talents and maintain
a safe and equal working environment for its employees.
Through the staff handbook, the Group has stated the terms
of compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods and other benefits and welfare.

The Group strives to construct a diverse and inclusive
workplace where all its employees are treated with dignity and
respect. The Group provides equal opportunity in all aspects
of employment and maintaining a workplace that is free from
discrimination or harassment against any individual on the
basis of seniority, nationality, gender, age, marital status,
disability, race, color, religion or sexual preference.

Remuneration and promotion opportunities are crucial to
retain and motivate employees in achieving key objectives
of the Group. The Group provides remuneration for its
employees in accordance with the Employment Ordinance
(Cap. 57), the Minimum Wage Ordinance (Cap. 608) and the
Labour Law of the PRC. For promotion of employees, the
Group conducts performance appraisal annually to evaluate
overall performance of employees.

The data collected is used to serve as reference in considering
promotion. In addition, the Group provides mandatory
provident fund in accordance with the Mandatory Provident
Fund Ordinance (Cap. 485) to its Hong Kong employees and
required social insurance to its PRC employees.

FEBFRE EIAAERFELERKE
MRz REBEE It AEEE N
RSIRBEBAL  TAHHEEEEELER
TENTHRRR - ETFMBEIACEERF
BTN R B BT TR 80
REAR H AR5 18 K B ) Z AR

FERBHEIZ TR IFR
B BEREELRES - AEENER
BHHREHRFERG TESE—ETF
REFE - BIFE MR F 8L~ EWEARRE5R
B TENR 8B RS R A i A
{8 A FH AR SR IB R TFIRIR ©

HHRETREBNERE RSB ESEN
AEENTEZEERMEBEEZ KAEEH
B (REERD) (E578) ~(REILERK
BI) (35608%) KkTEFHE AR RER M
HW-TREESHA TE AEEESFE
TTRFTE LT BREENEBERR-

FRENBERETFEEANSEZ 1L
5> REBIR R (SR F M QAR5 BIFRAE)

(55485%) S HBEBEERMRFIER
B TAHPEEEBRERENLER

AN
Peg o
oS
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During the reporting period, the Group was not aware of

any non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations
that would have significant impact on the Group relating to

compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,

working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-

discrimination and other benefits and welfare.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had a workforce of 239 full-
time employees and zero part-time employees. The employee

compositions by gender, age group, geographical region,

employment category and employment mode were as follows:

Employee compositions

BE4HRK

By gender
e Male
e Female

By age group
e Age 30 or below
e Age 31-40
e Age 41-50
e Age 51 or above

By geographical region
e Hong Kong
e PRC

By employment category
e Senior management
¢ Middle management
e General staff

By employment mode
e Full-time staff
e Part-time staff

bz gk sy
o« B
o 2tk

¥ Ee AH R
e 30AETIAT
e 31-40%%

o 41-507%
e 515 E

HHERSH
. BE

o FAE

BREELER 2 2
s SHRERE
o HREERE
o —fRET

BREREEE 2
e 2HET
s BT
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RREHE AEEHAINBTEARE
STERF MR R B AE s TIER
BB TERE S0 REEBEUK
HMGBREMNZEEERRERMY
FEFBELEEATZEZBR

RN_E__—_F=ZBA=+—H x&EEAE
230% 2 HEERTLRBMES - M
AN ERER B E  BEER &IE
BERE D ZEEALAMBERAOT !

2022 2021
—E- - —F
76% 72%
24% 28%
13% 13%
23% 22%
17% 18%
47% 47%
100% 97%
- 3%

9% 12%
9% 10%
82% 78%
100% 100%
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B2.

During the reporting period, the employee turnover rate
by gender, age group and geographical region during the
reporting period was as follows:

Employment turnover rate

BlEREE
By gender iR E o
- Male - B4
- Female -
By age group s ERIE )
- Aged 30 or below - 30 EIA T
— Aged 31-40 - 31&E40m%
— Aged 41-50 — 417508
— Aged 51 or above - 51U L
By geographical region i E & 5o
- The PRC - E
- Hong Kong - &8
Overall g
HEALTH AND SAFETY

The Group places the highest priority on securing health and
safety of all its employees. Adhering to the Occupational
Safety and Health Ordinance (Cap. 509) and the Law of
the PRC on the Prevention and Control of Occupational
Disease, the Group strives to minimise workplace accidents
and continuously improves workplace safety. The Group
has established the “Health and Safety Policy Statement”
and the “Safety Management Policy”, covering the Group’s
commitment, safety objectives and safety measures in
ensuring occupational safety.

RIS %15 FieER KitEE
BoNEERKRLERAT !

2022 2021
—E£== 2 —F
47% 42%
45% 34%
53% 13%
34% 22%
40% 18%
54% 47%
0% 40%
47% 40%
47% 40%

B2. @EH% 2

FEERREEREEZRRAZEN
FE -AEERRET(HELZE2RE
BRAFA) (55509F) MUK (R BEIZE&wB 8
) AR THRER A MR A TF
BRIEZE2M -AEECHERREEZE
HERBRI RZ22EEHR > ERHA
FEBENAE - RE2ERRZEERK U
FEREERZ 2o
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Safety education is crucial to ensure that employees are fully
understand the safety risks and well-equipped to handle the
job duties in a safe manner. All workers on sites are required to
attend an induction training on the safety policies of the Group.
Depending on work nature, the safety officers are responsible
to provide safety briefing regularly to illustrate major safety
issues to the workers. Besides, safety reminders and warnings
are posted at prominent areas at the sites to enhance the
safety awareness of workers.

In addition, safety monitoring is important to identify the
potential safety risks. The safety officers, site agents and
the Group’s clients carry out weekly on-site inspection to
identify the existing and potential safety issues. In case any
safety issue is noticed, the site agent will implement safety
precautions and rectification measures to minimise the risk.

During the reporting period, the Group recorded 1 case (2021:
1 case) and zero case (2021: zero case) of work-related injury
for the Civil Engineering Services Business and the Media and
Advertising Business respectively. The Group did not have any
work-related fatality during the past three years including the
reporting year. Besides, the Group was not aware of any non-
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that would
have significant impact on the Group in providing a safe and
healthy working environment during the reporting period.
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B3. DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING B3. & E Rz

The Group considers the skills and knowledge of its
employees as the key elements of the Group’s continued
business growth and success. By encouraging employees
to participate in training programmes, the Group strives
to enhance employees’ work performance, personal
development and promotion opportunities.

According to the Group’s staff handbook, the Group provides
internal trainings for employees, including induction training,
on-the-job training and professional training. The induction
training covers the corporate culture, corporate facilities and
regulations such as security and confidentiality. The on-the-job
training includes the business knowledge and skills required
for specific positions, with the aim to enhance employees’
work performance. The Group also encourages employees
to attend professional training and obtain relevant certification
and license.

For Civil Engineering Services Business, the Group
encourages employees to participate in training programmes
organised by professional institutes, including Construction
Industry Council, Occupational Safety and Health Council,
Hong Kong Institute of Construction, Vocational Training
Council, etc.

FEERS HESNKRERNBMT R E
EXEBIEIE R R MINHIRREE @8
wEMEE 2 MEIERE  AEES DR
BEIFRFE - BEAZERKREAKS

BEAEEESETIFM AEERESRM
MEREFI > B iR ABIE S ERIEII R E
EEl o ABIEIIRE L E b ¥R
MEREE WZRREE)  ERIENEE
15 E R ALFT |EB M i se > SRR
BEIFRR -AEETHREELESR
FiEdl o BEERAE B RAER

MEARTERBEZMS > AERXEE
E2NREXZE BELE2BER &
ARE2E BHERESFEXRBHES
AYIEEIERAE ©
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RS HARE MR R R DB =
BIlREF DD

During the reporting period, the percentage of employees
trained by gender and employment category was as follows:

Percentage of employee trained (%) 2022 2021
ZiEEE B 9 (%) —E_— 5
By gender BR8N 5
- Male - B4 10% 30%
— Female - 17% 25%
By employment category ¥EEERN S 2
— Senior management - SREEE 25% 51%
- Middle management - FEEEE 45% 49%
- General staff - —mREBT 6% 23%
Overall B 12% 29%

PR S HARE » R KRB R IR R DB =
RS (B0 t) k& EETMBIFIgE
AR N -

During the reporting period, the detailed breakdown of
employees trained (in percentage) and the average training
hours completed per employee by gender and employment
category was as follows:

Average training hours Breakdown of

(hours/employee) employee trained (%)
ploy ploy

Training 33 R &
1Za (B EB) =155/ {e & BRAH(%)
2022 2021 2022 2021
“ERICEFE B ZEIF BT —F
By gender BERE 2
- Male - B 1.0 0.3 63% 77%
— Female - 2.0 0.9 37% 23%
By employment category REFEE 2
- Senior management - BREIEE 2.6 2.3 19% 21%
— Middle management - FEEEE 4.7 1.2 37% 17%
- General staff - —RBT 0.7 0.1 44% 62%
Overall 2 1.2 0.5 100% 100%
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B4. LABOUR STANDARDS B4. BT #8|)

With the implementation of “Labour Standards Policy”, the
Group is committed to prohibiting the use of forces and child
labour in any part of its business. The Group strictly adheres
to the relevant laws and regulations, including the Employment
Ordinance (Cap. 57) and the Labour Law of the PRC. As
stipulated in the staff handbook, newly recruited employees
are required to present their identity documents to Human
Resources Department for age verification as prevention of
engaging child labour. Besides, all work should be voluntarily
performed and should not involve forced labour. Employees
are free to leave employment upon giving reasonable notice.

During the reporting period, the Group was not aware of any
non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations related to
recruitment of child labour or forced labour practices.

HEBITREABRI NET 7B
SRR E AR R ZE TS ER 0 o A SR ) 55
IThEBI -FEBEEBRETHBEERRE
R BIE(RREEG) (B578) kTES
EeHME TFMAATE M EERR
ANEREBFIETRE S RDBUEEE
ZE B EEET - ULSh > BB TR
BREETT AR RAFIFE T - EENKH
& IR AR DI R o

R SR ZEET AN B ERRET
ERBREIRAEGHS T ZHAERR
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OPERATING PRACTICES EEEG

B5. SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT B5. (LFEEEIR

During the Reporting Period, there were 86 suppliers and all
of them were located in Hong Kong. The Group strives to
maintain long-term and stable relationships with suppliers
and sub-contractors who meet our standards of technical
competence, innovation, product quality, reliability and
delivery performance, financial soundness, ethics and social
responsibility.

The Group has implemented a “Supply Chain Policy” and
ensures that its suppliers and sub-contractors meet the
Group’s requirement regarding quality, environmental, safety,
labour and confidentiality standards. It ensures the production
capacity, technology level, quality assurance capabilities,
supply capacity, safety and environment management
qualifications if needed. Only the highly qualified suppliers/
subcontractors complied with regulatory requirements are
eligible for the supplier/subcontractor selection by the Group.
The Group also carries out regular assessment on suppliers’/
subcontractors’ overall capabilities, assets position, nature of
business, reputation in the industry, quality of products, goods
delivery and compliance with law and regulations. The Group
provides technical assistance and supervision to suppliers and
sub-contractors for quality assurance and educate them with
anti-corruption terms. Meanwhile, the Group encourages any
feedback from our suppliers and sub-contractors, which may
help the Group in understanding their needs and facilitate us
in formulating the future policy.
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B6. PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY B6. EmE1E

Service quality is always of the utmost concern in the Group’s
operation. The Group continues to provide high-quality and
safe services to its clients in order to meet their expectations
and enhance their satisfaction. The Group has implemented
the “Quality Management Policy”, which covers the Group’s
commitment to enhance the service quality by providing
trainings for employees, monitoring the progress and building
action plan.

For the Civil Engineering Services Business, the Group’s
subsidiaries are certified for ISO9001:2008 Quality
Management System Standards. To pursue quality
construction work, the Group has adopted various quality
control procedures, including regular monitoring, inspection
and testing at different stage of construction, recording
data and controlling non-conforming works. The Group
implements project quality plan for each project, covering
the specifications, timing of delivery, quality of construction
materials and manpower required. The project manager is
responsible to ensure the progress is in line with the project
quality plan. Besides, the site agent or foreman conducts
inspection to ensure the quality of the completed work
conforms to the requirements specified in the contract.

The Group is aware of the importance in handling customer
information. The Group takes high precaution in ensuring
their confidentiality to avoid misuse or leakage of personal
data. As stipulated in the Group’s Code of Conduct and staff
handbook, employees are required to abide by the guidance
on prohibiting any unauthorised disclosure of confidential
information.

RBEEAEREEN B ERERM -
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B7.

In addition, the Group does not make false claims regarding
the service provided. Besides, we respect intellectual rights
and purchase products and services from authorised suppliers
and copyright holders.

The Group is in strict compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations, including the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance
(Cap. 486), the Copyright Ordinance (Cap. 528) and the
Copyright Law of the PRC. During the reporting period, the
Group did not receive any complaint related to the services
provided. The Group was not aware of any non-compliance
with relevant laws and regulations relating to health and safety,
advertising, labelling and privacy matters during the reporting
period.

ANTI-CORRUPTION

The Group is committed to upholding the high standards of
business ethics and integrity. Abiding to the Prevention of
Bribery Ordinance (Cap. 201) and the Criminal Law of the
PRC, the Group has incorporated its requirement towards
anti-corruption into the Code of Conduct. All employees
should decline an offer of advantage if acceptance of it
could affect their objectivity in conducting the Group’s
business. Employee who violates the Code of Conduct after
investigation will be subject to disciplinary actions, including
termination of employment. The Group will also report the
case to relevant legal authorities.

The Group’s “Whistle-blowing Policy” encourages and
enables employees to report on observed and suspected
non-compliance and questionable practice by mail, email
or phone. The Group treats all disclosures in a confidential
and sensitive manner to reasonably protect whistle blowers
against intimidation and reprisal.
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The Group plans to host regular trainings delivered by

representatives from regulators and professionals to all

Directors and employees in regards to anti-corruption policies

and procedures so to maintain employees’ awareness on anti-

corruption best practices.

During the reporting period, no legal case regarding corrupt
practices was brought against the Group. The Group was

not aware of any non-compliance with the relevant laws and

regulations that would have significant impact on the Group

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering

during the reporting period.

Anti-corruption training

Number of employees received training
e Board of directors

e Senior management

¢ Middle management

e General staff

Total employees

Number of training hours
e Board of directors

e Senior management

¢ Middle management

e General staff

Total training hours
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COMMUNITY

B8. COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

As a socially responsible enterprise, the Group is constantly
aware of the community needs and strives to bring a positive
impact on community development. The Group encourages
and supports community development initiatives to enhance
social benefits such as environment, health and education.
Besides, the Group encourages its employees to dedicate
their time and skills to supporting local communities.
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The Group supports community development by cash AEBRBBREBEESZFHEERE TR
donation. The table below summarises the cash donated by B4t N 55 B 5R R S HR ) P 8 R [B) 25 & 1
the Group to different charities during the reporting period: BIEHZ IR
Donation
Amount
HEE£RE
Name of Charities HK$
ZEWELTE BT
Construction Charity Fund Integrated BERAREXMEFRLBRAR
Service Centre Ltd 110,000
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
REPORTING INDEX

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key
Performance Indicators (KPIs)

FTEHF BE  —RINBERARERIER

A. Environmental
A IRIE

A1: Emissions

Al BEBHD

General Disclosure

— AR R

KPI'A1.1 The types of emissions and respective
emissions data

RARGNIEE  BFRELE A HRHER R

Al

KPI A1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions in total and, where
appropriate, intensity

FRGENIEE RERRGHNER WER) BE

Al1.2

KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced and, where
appropriate, intensity

FRENIER MELEESEEVEER MER BE

A1.3

KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced and,
where appropriate, intensity

FRGENIER MELARSEEVEER ER ZE

Al.4

146 CNC HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021/2022

RIE-HEREBRSRSI

Section

4]

“Emissions”

CHE .

“Emissions — Air Pollutant Emissions”

CHEI) — ZE RS BRI

“Emissions — Greenhouse Gas
Emission”

MHF) — R = RAS B

Not applicable to the Group’s business.

NERRAEEER-

“Emissions — Hazardous and Non-
hazardous Wastes”

Y — B E REEEEY)

Pages

BR

107

108

109

111
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key
Performance Indicators (KPls)

TEHR - EE - —RIKRERARERIER

KPI A1.5 Description of measures to mitigate emissions
and results achieved

RERENIER AR EBIRERIERRPIEHR
A1.5

KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-
hazardous wastes are handled, reduction
initiatives and results achieved

FRENIER HMAREEEREEEEMN S L REE

A1.6 FENEHRFTIERR

A2: Use of Resources
A2 . BIRFIA

General Disclosure
— AR EE

KPI'A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by
type in total and intensity

RAREMIEE RBEHASNEER HEEEREEER

A2.1 RE

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity
FRGENIER HEKEREE

A2.2

KPI'A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency initiatives

and results achieved
RIRGEMIERE WM RERMmeTE RAAENER
A2.3

Section

=111

“Emissions — Air Pollutant Emissions”
“Emissions — Greenhouse Gas
Emission”
THER) — B RS 2 H
MBER) —R=EREHIRU

“Emissions — Hazardous and Non-
hazardous Wastes”

MY — A ERESEREY)

“Use of Resources”
M& R %)

“Use of Resources — Energy”

ME R A — B8Ry

“Use of Resources — Water”
& RA B —KER]

“Use of Resources — Energy”

MERHM A — e TR

Pages
BR

107-109

110

113

114

115

114
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key
Performance Indicators (KPIs)

TEHE EE - —RIKERARERIER

KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in
sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water
efficiency initiatives and results achieved

RARGENIEE MW KEUBEANKR LRI AR AREE Uk

A2.4 F+ AR 5T B R TS AR

KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished
products and, if applicable, with reference to per
unit produced

RRAENIER NAmPTREEMENESER WER) §4%

A2.5 EBEMUGEE

A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
A3 IRIBERKRARER

General Disclosure

— R R

KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of
activities on the environment and natural
resources and the actions taken to manage
them

FRRAEMIER BAEBITHHRIERRAERNEATLE

A3.1 RERNEEERATZENTH
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Section

411

“Use of Resources — Water”

ME R A —KER

Not applicable to the Group’s business.

NERRAEEER-

“The Environment and Natural
Resources”
NRIEKRRAE R

“The Environment and Natural
Resources”

NRIERRARE IR

Pages
BR

115

N/A

115

116
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key
Performance Indicators (KPls)

TEHR - EE - —RIKRERARERIER

A3: Climate Change
A3 RiEE1E

General Disclosure

— IR E

KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related
issues which have impacted, and those which
may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to
manage them

FRGENIEE WMAEKKAEEHETAEEEZENEK

A4.1 RIRHERAEE > REH1TE

B. Social

B.#g

Employment and Labour Practices

EBEKREIER

B1: Employment
Bl : EfE

General Disclosure

— R

KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type,
age group and geographical region

RBENMIER R EEHE  FhHeMER RIS DI E

B1.1 B

KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group
and geographical region

RRAEMIER B FRAR K& E SRS MK

B1.2 -

Section Pages
=111 BR
“The Environment and Natural 117-122
Resources”

NRERKRAEIR]

“Climate Change” 123-132
MR )

“Employment” 133
MEf&

“Employment” 134
ME&

“Employment” 135

M 8.
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key

Performance Indicators (KPIs) Section Pages
TEHE - BEH —REERARERISE =1-] BR

B2: Health and safety
B2 EEHEZS

General Disclosure “Health and Safety” 135
— AR R MEEHZ2)

KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities “Health and Safety” 136
RAEMIER REIERMAMETHABKIEE MEREZ S

B2.1

KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury “Health and Safety” 136
FRGENIEE HEIGERIEEH MEREZ S

B2.2

KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety “Health and Safety” 136

measures adopted, how they are implemented

and monitored
RSRAAMIER MMM EREELDENH UKRE TREEZZS)
B2.3 RABMITRER A%
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key
Performance Indicators (KPls)

TEHR - EE - —RIKRERARERIER

B3: Development and Training
B3 ! #E&IE

General Disclosure

— R

KPI B3.1 The percentage of employee trained by gender
and employee category

RBEMIER UM REESMNEDNZIEETDL

B3.1

KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per
employee by gender and employee category

RREMIER BUIREEHENED S4LEETMZ

B3.2 B 15 5 84

B4: Labour Standards
B4 @ % IT#R|

General Disclosure

—RiREE

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment
practices to avoid child and forced labour

FRGENIER MWt sBRIE A M E B R E T KRl

B4.1 BT

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such
practices when discovered

RARAENIER WMERIRERBRE HFRE IS5 ERE

B4.2 B2 B

Section

411

“Development and Training”

M8 e Ko 15551

“Development and Training”

M8 e Ko 15551

“Development and Training”

Mt e K tg il

“Labour Standards”
M8 T#E81

“Labour Standards”

M8 T 2RI

The Group current does not report on

this indicator.
AREEBRI I EFLUILIEREITRS

Pages
BR

137

138

138

139

139
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key

Performance Indicators (KPIs)

TEHE EE - —RIKERARERIER

Operating Practices

EEER

B5: Supply Chain Management

B5 : HEHEE IR

General Disclosure

— IR EE
KPI B5.1

B SRAEIE 1R
B5.1

KPI B5.2

BSRAENIE R
B5.2

KPI B5.3

FREMIE R
B5.3

KPI B5.4

B AENIE R
B5.4

Number of suppliers by geographical region

ZiE | DA EH A

Description of practices relating to engaging
suppliers, number of suppliers where the
practices are being implemented, how they are
implemented and monitored

faiA AR R FE R AV IE 6 - BT A RAIE A
NS E « URERHIT RERE

Description of practices used to identify
environmental and social risks along the supply
chain, and how they are implemented and
monitored.
HRAMBEEEESERANIRERTE
EBRRIIEG] > LURABRA TR E 5% o

Description of practices used to promote
environmentally preferable products and
services when selecting suppliers, and how they
are implemented and monitored

H T RE R R 2 RIRIRE KR AR
BRVIEG) > URABRARITREER %
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Section

411

“Supply Chain Management”
MitFEE S I8

“Supply Chain Management”
MEEREE)

“Supply Chain Management”

MitpEsE EIE )

“Supply Chain Management”

MR e IR

“Supply Chain Management”

MR EIE

Pages
BR

140

140

140

140
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key

Performance Indicators (KPls)

TEHR - EE - —RIKRERARERIER

B6: Product Responsibility

B6: EmEME

General Disclosure

—RRE

KPI B6.1

AR
B6.1

KPI B6.2

RIS R
B6.2

KPI B6.3

AR
B6.3

KPI B6.4

RIS R
B6.4

KPI B6.5

RIS R
B6.5

Percentage of total products sold or shipped

subject to recalls for safety and health reasons
EENEEXERMAHPRL 2 EEREIER
mZABKNE 2

Number of products and service related
complaints received and how they are dealt with
BERNERMBRBNRAFBEURES S
=

Description and practices relating to observing
and protecting intellectual property rights

HE T B A T S AR R S A RABYIE B

Description of quality assurance process and
recall procedures
i B S 1% E B2 K E m N F

Description of consumer data protection and
privacy policies, how they are implemented and
monitored

HaoH & E B RHRIE KA REER » LU AER]
HITREE &

Section

411

“Product Responsibility”
EmEE]

Not applicable to the Group’s business.

NEBRANAEEES-

No complaint related to the service
provided was received.

BERER BT RMRFB 2 &R

“Product Responsibility”

EmREE

“Product Responsibility”

EmEE

“Product Responsibility”

MEmEE

Pages
BR

141

142

142

141

141
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key

Performance Indicators (KPIs)

TEHE -EH - —RRERARERISR

B7: Anti-corruption

B7: k&S

General Disclosure

—RRIREE

KPI B7.1

FREMIE R
B7.1

KPIB7.2

BRI 1R

B7.2

KPIB7.3

RS AR
B7.3

Number of concluded legal cases regarding
corrupt practices brought against the issuer or
its employees during the reporting period and
the outcomes of the case
RREARAH BT ANEHEERE L EES
NESFHFARGHNEE KFFLER

Description of preventive measures and whistle-
blowing procedures, how they are implemented
and monitored

ML A BRI LURAERAIT R
BERAGE

Description of anti-corruption training provided
to directors and staff.
HiiPESERETIRHENRESE -

Section

&

“Anti-corruption”

TR&E5]

No legal case regarding corrupt
practices was brought against the

Group.

BEN A EBME 51T AR HEES
ZIEREM

“Anti-corruption”

“Anti-corruption”

&5

Pages
BR

142

N/A

143
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key

Performance Indicators (KPls)

TEHR - EE - —RIKRERARERIER

Community
&

B8: Community Investment

BS: #HBKE

General Disclosure

—ARIER

KPI B8.1

AR

B8.1

KPI B8.2

RIS R
B8.2

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education,
environmental concerns, labour needs, health,
culture, sport)

EIEREE WHE RBESE - FIE
K @R -XE-8H)

Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to
the focus area
AEFHEFAEAER NS5 ERE)

Section

411

“Community Investment”

MERE]

“Community Investment”

ttERE]

“Community Investment”

MERE]

Pages
BR

144

145
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BT g3t EH A R A G
HODGSON IMPEY CHENG LIMITED

HLB

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
CNC HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements
of CNC Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(“the Group”) set out on pages 162 to 306, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March
2022, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. Because of the significance of the
matters described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of
our report, we have not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on these
consolidated financial statements. In all other respects, in our
opinion, the consolidated financial statements have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION
Material uncertainties relating to the going concern basis

As stated in Note 3(c) to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group incurred a net loss of approximately HK$42,152,000 during
the year ended 31 March 2022 and as of that date, the Group’s
net current liabilities and net liabilities amounted to approximately
HK$404,003,000 and HK$385,308,000 respectively. In addition,
included in the Group’s liabilities as at 31 March 2022 were: (i)
convertible notes of principal amount of HK$257,030,000 (the
“Convertible Notes”) and interests thereon of approximately
HK$64,128,000 (the “Convertible Notes Interest”) in respect of
which the Group was in default in settlement; (i) amount due to
a substantial shareholder of HK$24,587,000 (the “On Demand
Debt”) which was repayable on demand; and (iii) promissory notes
of principal amount of HK$45,040,000 and interest thereon of
approximately HK$6,271,000 which are due for repayment in the
next twelve months after the date of this report (the “Promissory
Notes”). These events and conditions, along with other matters as
set forth in Note 3(c), indicate that material uncertainties existed as
at 31 March 2022 that cast significant doubts on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern.

FTHREREE

ARFREENSHEFIRERR

ARG I IRERMIES(c)Frat 0 EEER
BE_T__F#=B=+—BHLtEEHSB
FE1E442,152,0008 0 BEEZH &
EENRBABRFEAEBEFESINOS
404,008,000 7t 5% 385,308,000/ T It
Shy EEER_E__£=B=+—H
NaEaE() EEEHREENEIES
257,030,000 I AT i R (TAI AR =2
1) REF E 464,128,000/ ¢ (AR ERE
MR ;(iEN—%EEREIE24,587,000
B (REREEETR) ABREREE &
(iii) 2= 5= 38 445,040,00078 TT R A R 248 R E A
B#96,271,00078 70 W A AR S HHRB AR K
+ZERRNIHAEER (RRER)) - ZFEH
KIERERM 3 (Cc)MENEMEBIERRA 1
TECICFE=RA=+—HEASAFEEMS
BN SEEBESECEZENELEXN
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The Directors have assessed the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern and are undertaking measures to improve the
Group’s liquidity and financial position and enable the Group
to meet its liabilities as and when they fall due. These plans for
future actions in relation to the going concern assessment, which
are set out in Note 3(c) to the consolidated financial statements,
include: (i) management is endeavoring to improve the Group’s
operating results and cash flows through cost control measures
and will focus on the existing business of the Group; (ii) the
Company has entered into conditional agreement with Mr. Kan,
a shareholder of the Company, for the allotment and issuance
of a total of 1,666,666,667 subscription shares at the share
subscription price of HK$0.012 per subscription share for a total
consideration of approximately HK$20,000,000; (i) the Company
has entered into conditional agreement with the holder of the
Convertible Notes, which is also a substantial shareholder of the
Company, for the amendments of certain terms of the Convertible
Notes and the issuance of new convertible bonds in the principal
amount of approximately HK$64,128,000 to set off the Convertible
Notes Interest; (iv) the Company has entered into a conditional
agreement to issue new convertible notes in the principal amount
of HK$16,240,000 to set off part of the outstanding balance of
the On Demand Debt; and (v) the Company is negotiating with its
promissory notes holder to extend the repayment dates of principal
and the interest amounts accrued on the Promissory Notes.

The validity of the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements on going concern basis depends on the successful
eventual outcome of the above mentioned plans and measures,
which are inherently uncertain and as at the date of this report
cannot be ascertained with reasonable certainty and are still
subject to multiple uncertainties, including whether the Group
being able to successfully negotiate and agree with the holders of
Convertible Notes and Promissory Notes to renew or extend the
existing debts or complete shares subscription to provide funds for
the Group to meet its liabilities as they fall due.
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Should the Group fail to achieve successful outcomes from the
above-mentioned plans and measures, it might not be able to
continue to operate as a going concern, and adjustments would
have to be made to write down the carrying amounts of the
Group’s assets to their net recoverable amounts, to provide for any
further liabilities that may arise and to reclassify non-current assets
and non-current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities
respectively. The effects of these adjustments have not been
reflected in these consolidated financial statements.

We have not been provided with sufficient appropriate audit
evidence to conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use
of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements because of the lack of detailed
analyses provided by management in relation to its plans and
measures for future actions in its going concern assessment which
take into account the uncertainty of outcome of these plans and
measures and how variability in outcome would affect the future
cash flows of the Group. Any adjustments found to be required
may have consequential significant effects on the consolidated net
assets of the Group as at 31 March 2022 and the consolidated loss
and other comprehensive income or expense and cash flows of the
Group for the year ended 31 March 2022, and the related elements
and disclosures thereof presented or disclosed in the consolidated
financial statements.

i BEERER LB RIEMESEIRE
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PR Z AR RITE 5 8 R IEHE 2 5F
Mo MARMDITE BEIZS 58 RIEkE
RPTREEURGERNBLERUOFEE &
EENARRFETRE - WERBTE2FHEMN
AE TSN EEER-_T_"F=A8
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. We report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. However, because of the
matters described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section
of our report, we were not able to form an audit opinion on these
consolidated financial statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
18 1L 1% BB R S

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditors’ report is Shek Lui.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Shek Lui
Practising Certificate Number: P05895

Hong Kong, 24 October 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROHAT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

mefRmkHEMEENER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiE_—LF - _—F =F=+—HIFFZ

Notes
Kzt

Revenue Wz 6
Cost of services AR 75 AY A
Gross loss Ei8
Other income Hhlk A 7
Other losses, net HihEs183%8 8
Amortisation of intangible assets B EEE 20
Selling and distribution expenses HE KD IHFAS
Administrative and operating expenses 1T 48 & B 52
Impairment loss on intangible assets I EERERE 20
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets  {FHE S EREGE 79
Impairment loss on property, plantand ¥ - BEKRZE

equipment BEEE 18
Change in fair value of financial assets at BBEBHIRAFEARZ

fair value through profit or loss EHMBEZ N TFEEE
Loss from operations EiERsIE 10
Finance costs BB A 12
Loss before income tax PREFIS M ATRSIE
Income tax Fri% 15
Loss for the year FAEIE
Other comprehensive income Ethz2mikz=s
Items that may be reclassified BEOEHTEE

subsequently to profit or loss EmEHE

MERIIEF 2 ERERR

Exchange differences on translating
foreign operations

Total comprehensive loss for the year FE R 2 H 5184858

162 (CNCHOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021/2022

2022 2021
—E-C s
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FAET
408,175 239,233
(417,531) (268,053)
(9,356) (28,820)
4,487 12,374
(453) (913)
- (18,316)
(770) (770)
(17,452) (26,005)
- (7,679)
- (2,872)

(1,517) =
3,575 2,965
(21,486) (70,036)
(20,573) (9,314)
(42,059) (79,350)
(93) 5,598
(42,152) (73,752)

37 1,031
(42,115) (72,721)




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROAT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
ERmMkEMEEKRER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 EiE —L - " =H=+—HIFFEZ

Loss for the year attributable to:

— Owners of the Company
— Non-controlling interest

Total comprehensive loss for the
year attributable to
— Owners of the Company
— Non-controlling interest

Loss per share attributable to
owners of the Company
— Basic and diluted (HK cents)

THALEE
FAEE
—RRBEHEAA
—IFEER S

THALTREER
EHEREE
e NCIE T DN
—IFER R

TABEE AW
SREE
— B EE B

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.

2022 2021
—E-C —EC—fF

Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
ivf=3 FET FET
(41,729) (72,946)

(423) (806)

(42,152) (73,752)

(41,692) (71,915)

(423) (806)

(42,115) (72,721)

17 (1.03) (1.80)

FEt 2 i sE UL EAR G M B RET 2 —a o -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

mEMBIRRR

As at 31 March 2022 K _ZE__#=H=+—H

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets

Current assets
Trade and other receivables
Contract assets
Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss
Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Contract liabilities
Lease liabilities
Promissory note
Convertible notes
Employee benefits
Tax payable

Net current liabilities

Total assets less current liabilities

FRBEE
Y ENNCEYSE
EREEE

MEEE

B 5 K B A FE W IE
BHNEE
BBBmE A TE
MNRZ EREE
RERIAEEEY

MEE

REaE
B 5 R EMELRIE
BHasE
HEaE
AR ER
EIEYCE S
BEE7F
FE(T R IE

nEERFE

HMEERRBERE
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Notes

Kfat

18

24

25
26

24
28
30
31
29

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
17,922 23,138
3,975 1,106
21,897 24,244
124,266 68,716
24,758 10,408
- 4,800
42,560 66,743
191,584 150,667
213,481 174,911
217,335 150,018
65,228 62,613
2,648 3,371
44,949 -
257,030 243,605
7,590 5,638
807 1,060
595,587 466,305
(404,003) (315,638)
(382,106) (291,394)




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

mEMBIRRER

As at 31 March 2022 R_-_ZE - _#=H=+—H

Non-current liabilities ERHEER
Interest payables FEF] B
Lease liabilities HEsE
Promissory note AR EE
Deferred tax liabilities FIERIEAE

Total liabilities waB

Net liabilities BEFEH

Capital and reserves BERRKE#E
Share capital [N
Reserves e

Non-controlling interest JEVE R =

Total equity dENE

2022 2021
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
k=3 FET FET
27 - 4,920
28 1,221 189
30 = 44,584
32 1,981 2,106
3,202 51,799

598,789 518,104
(385,308) (343,193)

33 4,055 4,055
(390,851) (349,159)
(386,796) (345,104)

1,488 1,011
(385,308) (343,193)

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 24 October 2023
and are signed on its behalf by:

Jiang Yan
=8
Director
EFE
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.

EEgERN _E_=F+A-_t+HHEK
BT EEMBRET THTIALTRERE
EEEE .

Li Yong Sheng
FxFA
Director
EE
BEMS 2 My R ILF AR B MR 2 — 8 o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
n‘7|' A **Mﬁg‘]ﬁ

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & ZE —E - —#F=H=+—HI FZ

Foreign
Convertible currency Non
Share Share Capital  notes equity translation Other  Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium* reserves* reserves* reserves* reserves* losses* Total interest equity
RRER S
k& Lib=i i T hEHE Rt Rt G HERER E ]

HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEn TEn F#n Fn Fin T#n F#n Fn Fin F#n

(hote 39) [note 34) (hote 34) (hote 31) (hote 34) (note 34) (hote 34)

(H£33) (Hts4) (Hts4) (Hs1) (Hs34) (Hts4) (Hz254)

At 31 March 2020 RZ2_FF=A=1+-A 4,055 1,238,19% 2,758 14,400 (2,751) a.214 (1,569,839) 271,988) S 271,968)

Loss for the year EREE 5 3 - - _

(72,946) (72,946) (806) (73,752)

Other comprehensiveincome fortheyear,  EREM2ERE NHRE:
net of tax:

Items that may be reclassified subsequently  EETEHABERHZER
to profit or loss:

Bxchange diferences on translating BERNEEZERER

foreign operations - - - - 1,031 - - 1,031 - 1,031
Total comprehensive Income/{oss) for the year  £R2EWE / (1) L% - - - - 1,031 = (72946) 1915 806) [72721)
Changes in ownership nterest of subsiciaries (B AT A IEREE - - - - - - (1,221) (1,221) 277 149
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 RZE--£ZR=+-Ak

“EZ-ERA-A 4,085 1,238,195 2,758 14400 (1,720) 1214 (1,644,006) (345,104) 1,911 (343,193
Loss for the year EREE - - - - - - (#,729) #,729) (423 (42,152)
Other comprehensive income for the year,  SEAEMATENE NIRKE
net of tax:
Items that may be reclassified subsequenty  EATIEHHEEERZER
to profit or loss:
Exchange diferences on translaing BERNERIERZE

foreign operations - - - - 3 - - 3 - 31
Total comprehensive Income/{oss) for the year  £R2EWE / (18) 2% - - - - ki - 1,729 (41,69) 423 (2,115
At 31 March 2022 RZF-Z£=B=+-R 4,05 1,238,195 2,758 14,400 (1,683) 1214 (1,685,735) (386,796) 1,488 (385,308)

*  The aggregate amount of these balances of approximately — * RCE T ZF A=+ —H ZEREZEAY

HK$390,851,000 in deficit (2021: approximately HK$349,159,000) was ABEEAY 390,851,000 (ZEZ—& 49
included as reserves in the consolidated statement of financial position as 349,159,000;87T) EFt A4S BT ZAZ 5
at 31 March 2022. 115 °

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these BBl ZHFALSEAMBRERZ—D -
consolidated financial statements.




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 EZE — T~ —#F=H=+—HIFFEZ

Cash flows from operating activities
Loss before income tax
Adjustment for:
Amortisation of intangible assets
Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Net gain on disposal of property,
plant and equipment
Finance costs
Change in fair value of financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss

Loss arising on extension of
promissory note

Interest income

Exchange (gain)/loss, net

Allowance for/(reversal of) expected
credit losses recognised for trade
receivables, net

Allowance for expected credit losses
recognised for other receivables
and deposits, net

Allowance for expected credit losses
recognised for contract assets, net

Impairment loss on intangible assets
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets
Impairment loss on property,

plant and equipment

Operating cash flows before
movements in working capital

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other
receivables

Increase in contract assets

Increase/(decrease) in trade and other
payables

Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities

Increase in employee benefits

Cash used in operations
Income tax paid

Net cash used in operating activities

Notes
Hat
RETETHELEZRER=E
PRPTISIR ARS8
FHEL
ER B E#E 20
ME--BERREITE
10
EREEEITE 10
ﬁ¢%¥J+%& 4]
ﬂﬁ&K 12
HEERENTE
ARZEMEEZ
N EEEF)
ICEAREEESY Y
E518 8
ﬂ?%k 7

=) EEPE 8
thf‘?%m&nu,éﬁﬁw
TR B R 1B S
/(0] > BEB 8
REMEWRIEKRIZE
R B EERE
B BB 8
MENEERI
TR B R 1B S
PR 8
B EERERE 20
FREEERERE 19
L EN YR
BEEE 18

CEEXREHAZ
KERERE

8B 5 REMEWRIE
(g R

BB EEN

8B 5 REMENRIE
1@hn,” O

BHE/EEMm, CRL)

BEEF BN

METRZ RS
[SENIFIEET

REEHFRAREFER

2022 2021
—E-CHF —_E_—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
(42,059) (79,350)
= 18,316

10,767 15,341
545 5,376
(453) (18)
20,573 9,314
(3,575) (2,965)

= 451
(82) (353)

(3) 364
707 (74)

53 97

149 93

= 7,679

= 2,872

1,517 =
(11,861) (22,857)
(56,310) 15,813
(14,499) (1,263)
55,722 (543)
2,615 (689)
1,952 1,966
(22,381) (7,573)
(471) (323)
(22,852) (7,896)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 B ZE _—F_— —fF=F=+—HIFFZ

Cash flows from investing activities

Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Purchase of property,
plant and equipment

Proceeds from disposal of financial
assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Interest received

Net cash generated from/(used in)
investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Repayment of lease liabilities

Proceeds from deemed disposal of
subsidiary

Net cash used in financing activities

Net decrease in cash and cash
equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the
beginning of the year

Effects of foreign exchange rate changes

Cash and cash equivalents
at the end of the year

The accompany notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.

2022 2021
—E-CHF B4
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Kiat FHET FEIT
BETHELEZRERE
HEME - BMEKREZEZ
Frig8sn1a 929 194
EEYE- F‘%E’zsﬁ%
(6,518) (11,545)
HEFBEGTIRATE
A%zéﬂééz
Fr S sh Iz 8,375 =
ELIWJ,% 82 353
REEFESE FRA)
REFEE 2,868 (10,998)
MBEEHMEEZHRER=E
EEHREESE (4,279) (7,669)
BIEHERBAT
Frigs1a - 1,496
B EBFTRIREREE (4,279) 6,172)
HERREEEY
IR EE (24,263) (25,066)
FVREREEEEY
66,743 91,196
EXEs & 80 613
FRRERREEEBY
42,560 66,743
BEMT Z IS A L Hir G EIRER 2 —2pD o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M

1 O = |

For the year ended 31 March 2022 EiE —L - " =H=+—HIFFEZ

GENERAL

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
on 15 March 2010 as an exempted company with limited
liability under the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961
as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The
registered office and principal place of business of the
Company are located at the offices of Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands and Flat 314, 3/F., Fuk Shing Commercial
Building, 28 On Lok Mun Street, Fanling, New Territories
respectively. Its substantial shareholder is China Xinhua News
Network Co., Limited (“China Xinhua NNC”), a private limited
company incorporated in Hong Kong and wholly-owned by
R EHREREBRE LS (‘CNC China”) (@ company
incorporated in the PRC), which owns 29.31% of the issued
share capital of the Company.

The principal activities of the Company are investment holding.
The principal activities of its subsidiaries are the provision of
civil engineering services for the public sector in Hong Kong
and media and advertising business comprising television
broadcasting business in the Asia-Pacific region (excluding the
People’s Republic of China (“the PRC”)) and digital marketing
business on overseas market in return for advertising and
related revenue.

—RER

APNBR_E—ZTF=HB+HAHIRER
EHENENE (F228) (—hAR—F%EH
3 BIRE/RES]) REAEREFMAILA
%g’éﬁﬁﬁﬁf@c@ﬂOZIK’/_\\ﬂZ%IHﬁ%%
BE K F B =ML B A Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands& ¥
RpETHPIEH28RE N ¥ AXE3E
SUE-HIERFATEMEMEER
WAERAR (HMEFEHREERME) (—
BREBEMRLNMERRAR > BHF
EEMEERAERAE ((HERER
MERE (PE) ) FRHEFZFMRIIAD
B)) 2B%A) rMTEMENEEREE
BERRNBIBEITRA229.31%°

FABZEBEBRKREER- Eﬁﬁ%/‘

BIZETBEHFAREET AR REEPIR
HIARTRERFUNRERRESES &

EREXE FEEREARAENE (TH
B))) ETHNERBREBRINBINGS
ETHNHBISEHER  UBSES RERH
Wi
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M B RRNEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiE_—LF - _—F =F=+—HIFFZ

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

2.1 Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily

effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accounts (‘HKICPA”) for the
first time for their annual reporting period commencing on

or after 1 April 2021:

Amendment to Covid-19-Related Rent
HKFRS 16 Concessions
Amendment to Covid-19-Related Rent
HKFRS 16 Concessions beyond 30 June
2021
Amendments to Interest Rate Benchmark

HKFRS 9, HKAS 39,  Reform — Phase 2
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4
and HKFRS 16

In addition, the Group applied the agenda decision of the
IFRS Interpretations Committee (the “Committee”) of the
International Accounting Standards Board issued in June
2021 which clarified the costs an entity should include
as “estimated costs necessary to make the sale” when
determining the net realisable value of inventories.

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the
current year has had no material impact on the Group’s
financial positions and performances for the current and
prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these

consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M B RRNEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 EiE —L - " =H=+—HIFFEZ

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

2.2 New and Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not

yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are

not yet effective:

HKFRS 17

HKFRS 17 (including
the October 2020
and February 2022
Amendments to
HKFRS 17)

Amendments to
HKFRS 3

Amendments to
HKFRS 16

Amendments HKFRS
10 and HKAS 28

Amendments to
HKAS 1

Amendments to
HKAS 1
Amendments HKAS 1
and HKFRS
Practice Statement 2

Amendments to
HKAS 8

Amendments to
HKAS 12

Amendments to
HKAS 16

Amendments to
HKAS 37

Amendments to
HKFRSs

Insurance Contracts and the
related Amendments?
Insurance Contracts?

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework’

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback?

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
associate or Joint Venture®

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)*

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants?

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies?

Definition of Accounting
Estimates?

Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction?

Property, Plant and
Equipment- Proceeds
before Intended Use’

Onerous Contracts — Costs of
Fulfilling a Contract’

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020'

FERAMIEBMBRGER (IEEHR
BREER)) REETE @)

22 BEMERRERZHIEEMRE
WEEREETE

AEETERREFEA T ERAME
BAREMZ T B EMBREER
REAEST A

EBUBRE  RBEOKER
ZRIEI7 (N
BEBUBRERER RBEL?
F175% (B
_E_TF 1A
R-E__f
—RANEBYH
RS ERF7R
(CHED)
EBUBRE  HRERNSIA
ZERE35%

UEBETE) N
BERMBREER ERALTZTH
g6k (B5T4)  HESFE
EBMBRE ?&éﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁﬂﬁ%fﬁ’&ﬁq

EASI0RR  BABLErM
EE@iEn  AEMERHE
2085 (15 %) o

EegiEl  BESEARDN
EEACHESIE S ) E Y

Z5% (— T2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M B RRNEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiE_—LF - _—F =F=+—HIFFZ

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

2.2 New and Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not

yet effective (Continueq)

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2022,

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2023.

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be

determined.

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2024.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of all new and amendments to HKFRSs will
have no material impact on the consolidated financial

statements in the foreseeable future.

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a) Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs, which is a
collective term that includes all applicable individual
HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (‘HKASs”)
and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”), and
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong.
For the purpose of preparation of the consolidated
financial statements, information is considered material
if such information is reasonably expected to influence
decisions made by primary users. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“GEM Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong

Companies Ordinance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2022 EiE —L - " =H=+—HIFFEZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued) 3. REE 2

(b) HwEEREE

(b) Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain
financial instruments that are measured at fair values
at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the
accounting policies below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable
or estimated using another valuation technique. In
estimating the fair value of an asset or liability, the Group
takes into account the characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement
date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure
purposes in these consolidated financial statements is
determined on such a basis, except for share-based
payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS
2 “Share-based Payment”, leasing transactions that are
accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16 “Leases”,
and measurements that have some similarities to fair
value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value
in HKAS 2 “Inventories” or value in use in HKAS 36
“Impairment of Assets”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M B RRNEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 B ZE _—F_— —fF=F=+—HIFFZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)
(b) Basis of preparation (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirely, which
are described as follows:

e |Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

e |evel 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

e |evel 3inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset
or liability.

(c) Going concern basis

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors have given careful consideration to the future
liquidity of the Group notwithstanding that:

e the Group incurred a net loss of approximately
HK$42,152,000 during the year ended 31
March 2022 and as of that date, the Group’s
net current liabilities and net liabilities amounted
to approximately HK$404,003,000 and
HK$385,308,000 respectively;

e the Group’s convertible notes of principal amount
of HK$257,030,000 (the “Convertible Notes”) and
interests thereon of approximately HK$64,128,000
(the “Convertible Notes Interest”) in respect of which
the Group was in default in settlement as at the date
of this report;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2022 EiE —L - " =H=+—HIFFEZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued) 3. REE 2

(c) FERERE (B

(c) Going concern basis (Continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors have given careful consideration to the future
liquidity of the Group notwithstanding that: (Continued)

e the Group owed the amount to a substantial
shareholder of HK$24,587,000 (the “On Demand
Debt”) which was repayable on demand; and

e the Group’s promissory notes of principal amount
of HK$45,040,000 and interest thereon of
approximately HK$6,271,000 which are due for
repayment in the next twelve months after the date
of this report (the “Promissory Notes”).

The conditions described above indicate the existence of
a material uncertainty that cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore,
the Group may be unable to realize its assets and
discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.

The Group is actively exploring options to restructure the
debts of the Group including but not limited to some or all
of the followings:

1. the Company has entered into conditional
agreement with Mr. Kan, a shareholder of the
Company, for the allotment and issuance of a total
of 1,666,666,667 subscription shares at the share
subscription price of HK$0.012 per subscription
share for a total consideration of approximately
HK$20,000,000;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M B RRNEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiE_—LF - _—F =F=+—HIFFZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)
(c) Going concern basis (Continued)

The Group is actively exploring options to restructure the
debts of the Group including but not limited to some or all
of the followings: (Continued)

2. the Company has entered into a conditional
agreement with the holder of the Convertible
Notes, which is also a substantial shareholder of
the Company, for the amendments of certain terms
of the Convertible Notes and proposed issuance
of new convertible notes with the principal amount
of approximately HK$64,128,000 to set off the
Convertible Notes Interest;

3. the Company has entered into conditional
agreement to issue new convertible bonds in the
principal amount of HK$16,240,000 to set off part
of the outstanding balance of the On Demand Debt;
and

4. the Company is negotiating with its promissory
notes holder to extend the repayment dates of
principal and the interest amounts accrued on the
Promissory Notes.

In addition, the management of the Company is
endeavoring to improve the Group’s operating results and
cash flows through cost control measures and will focus
on the existing business of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2022 EiE —L - " =H=+—HIFFEZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued) 3. RBBE )

(c) FERERE (B

(c) Going concern basis (Continued)

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that it
is appropriate to prepare these consolidated financial
statements on going concern basis. The validity of the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements on
going concern basis depends on the successful eventual
outcome of the above-mentioned plans and measures,
which are inherently uncertain, including whether the
Group being able to successfully negotiate and agree
with the holders of Convertible Notes and Promissory
Notes to renew or extend the existing debts or complete
shares subscription to provide funds for the Group to
meet its liabilities as they fall due.

As at the date of approval for issuance of the
consolidated financial statements, the above-mentioned
plan has been initially formulated but the eventual
outcome cannot be determined with reasonable certainty
and are still subject to multiple uncertainties. Accordingly,
the material uncertainty that cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern remains
in existence as at the date of approval for issuance of
the consolidated financial statements. Should the Group
fail to achieve successful outcomes from the above-
mentioned plans and measures, it might not be able to
continue to operate as a going concern, and adjustments
would have to be made to write down the carrying
amounts of the Group’s assets to their net recoverable
amounts, to provide for any further liabilities that may
arise and to reclassify non-current assets and non-
current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities
respectively. The effects of these adjustments have not
been reflected in the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M B RRNEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiE_—LF - _—F =F=+—HIFFZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(d) Functional and presentation currency

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$"), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company. All values are rounded to the
nearest thousand dollars (HK$'000) except otherwise
indicated.

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control
is achieved when the Company:

e has power over the investee;

e isexposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
listed above.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2022 EiE —L - " =H=+—HIFFEZ

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. BEAREHEBUEE (&

() REBE (&

(a) Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed
of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the date the Group gains control until the
date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component item of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of
the Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests
having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiE_—LF - _—F =F=+—HIFFZ

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

(a) Basis of consolidation (Continueq)

Change in the Group’s interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do
not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries
are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying
amounts of the Group’s relevant components of equity
and non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the
changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries,
including re-attribution of relevant reserves between the
Group and the non-controlling interests according to the
Group’s and the non-controlling interests’ proportionate
interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in
equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets
and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling
interests (if any) are derecognised. A gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value
of the consideration received and the fair value of any
retained interest and (ii) the carrying amount of the
assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary
attributable to the owners of the Company. All amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
relation to that subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss
or transferred to another category of equity as specified/
permitted by applicable HKFRSs).The fair value of any
investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date
when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments or, when applicable, the cost on
initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a
joint venture.

180 CNCHOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021/2022

4. BEREHEEK @

(a)

RERE (B

FEERRENE L Az EE)

TEERAERBREZHWELTE
iz AEERKB AR En 2 E
FRER AR - TEBERZH
BBl D EIRERED 2 AREETH{F
AR URMRERKN B A RS En
288 ORERRAEEEIFERE
m Em b R AEE BT
m 2 B E R D BCARR R o

FFEREDEHABEZSHEB TN
BRAEBZAFEZENEMNELR
TEZEREmPREREENAR
BB A

EXREBRREHINB AR ESRE &
MBLrRAZzEERBRBUKRIFER
#m (WA) T U LR - I m s
BREBEmAERLIZFFRREZR
FEEAEAFREEDZ A FEEE
B B A ANBEZNB AT Z
BE (BERE RaEREEZ BN
ERRF R RN HEMEE R m L
BB ZE T BNZER
EAMBREENRIR AFE
MOBEREaNBRES —HiEn
Rl o RAREEREE BRI B
ARREZEARENATE TR
RAREBEEAVHRESENFONRE
MIAEBARZVSESREFHL
FE S (NER) YL EIBMEQT
NEELEZREMA -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 EiE —L - " =H=+—HIFFEZ

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b)

Interests in joint operations

A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the assets, and obligations for the
liabilities, relating to the joint arrangement. Joint control
is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an
arrangement, which exists only when decisions about
the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control.

The Group accounts for the assets, liabilities, revenues
and expenses relating to its interest in a joint operation in
accordance with the HKFRSs applicable to the particular
assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses.

When a group entity transacts with a joint operation in
which a group entity is a joint operator (such as a sale
or contribution of assets), the Group is considered to be
conducting the transaction with other parties to the joint
operation, and gains and losses resulting from the sale or
contribution are recognised in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of other parties’
interests in the joint operation.

When a group entity transacts with a joint operation
in which a group entity is a joint operator (such as a
purchase of assets), the Group does not recognise its
share of the gains and losses until it resells those asset to
a third party.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiE_—LF - _—F =F=+—HIFFZ

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

(c) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost, less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Properties in the course of construction for production,
supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost,
less any recognised impairment loss. Cost includes
professional fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing
costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policy. Such properties are classified to
the appropriate categories of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for intended use.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other
property assets, commences when the assets are ready
for their intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets (other than properties under construction) less
their residual values over their useful lives, using the
straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual
values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end
of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes
in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis. The
principal annual rates used for the current year are as

follows:

Site offices Over the respective project terms

Leasehold 30% or over the respective life of
improvements the leases, whichever is shorter

Machinery 20% — 30%

Furniture and fixtures 20%

Office equipment 20%

Motor vehicles 20%
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 EiE —L - " =H=+—HIFFEZ

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of
an item of property, plant and equipment is determined
as the difference between the sales proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after
the date of initial application or arising from business
combination, the Group assesses whether a contract is
or contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date,
as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed
unless the terms and conditions of the contract are
subsequently changed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiE_—LF - _—F =F=+—HIFFZ

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

(d) Leases (Continued)

As a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and non-
lease components, the Group allocates the consideration
in the contract to each lease component on the basis
of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component
and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease

components.

The Group also applies practical expedient not to
separate non-lease components from lease component,
and instead account for the lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single lease

component.

As a practical expedient, leases with similar
characteristics are accounted on a portfolio basis when
the Group reasonably expects that the effects on the
financial statements would not differ materially from

individual leases within the portfolio.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of machinery and property that
have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. It also applies the recognition exemption for lease
of low-value assets. Lease payments on short-term
leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as
expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic

basis over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 EiE —L - " =H=+—HIFFEZ

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(d) Leases (Continued)
As a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

e the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

e any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

e any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

e an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by the
terms and conditions of the lease.

The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the
commencement date of the lease (i.e. the date the
underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use
assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiE_—LF - _—F =F=+—HIFFZ
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. BEAREBUEE (&

(d) Leases (Continueq) (d) THE &

As a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term is depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful
life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line
item on the consolidated statements of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments
to fair value at initial recognition are considered as
additional lease payments and included in the cost of
right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2022 EiE —L - " =H=+—HIFFEZ

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. BEAREHEBUEE (&

(d) Leases (Continueq) (d) HE &
As a lessee (Continued) EBEAEN (B)
Lease liabilities (Continued) HEEE #)

The lease payments include:

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

variable lease payments that depend on an index or
a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at
the commencement date;

amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;

the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably
certain to be exercised by the Group; and

payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising the option
to terminate the lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M B RRNEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiE_—LF - _—F =F=+—HIFFZ

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(d) Leases (Continued)
As a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever:

e the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

e the lease payments change due to changes in
market rental rates following a market rent review/
expected payment under a guaranteed residual
value, in which cases the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2022 EiE —L - " =H=+—HIFFEZ
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. BEAREHEBUEE (&

(d) Leases (Continueqd) (d HE &

As a lessee (Continued)

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a
separate lease if:

e the modification increases the scope of the lease
by adding the right to use one or more underlying
assets; and

e the consideration for the leases increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the
circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease maodification that is not accounted for as
a separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease
liability based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the
relevant right-of-use asset.

When the modified contract contains a lease component
and one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the
modified contract to each lease component on the basis
of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component
and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiE_—LF - _—F =F=+—HIFFZ

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

(e)

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
and recognised separately from goodwill are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which
is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets
acquired in a business combination with finite useful
lives are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation
and accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is
recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives. The estimated useful lives and amortisation
method are reviewed at the end of the reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being
accounted for on a prospective basis.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when
no future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gain and losses arising from derecognition of
an intangible asset, measured as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 EiE —L - " =H=+—HIFFEZ

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

U]

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when the group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation
or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivable
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss (‘FVTPL”)) are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or
financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiE_—LF - _—F =F=+—HIFFZ

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. BEAREBUEE (&

() Financial instruments (Continued) H EMIA B
Effective interest method EFRIE L

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
payments (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial
liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and measurement of financial assets at
amortised cost

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

e the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2022 EiE —L - " =H=+—HIFFEZ
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. BEAREHEBUEE (&

( EMIA@#E

(f) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and measurement of financial assets at
amortised cost (Continued)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”):

e the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both selling and
collecting contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured
at FVTPL, except that at the date of initial application/
initial recognition of a financial asset the Group may
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair
value of an equity investment in other comprehensive
income if that equity investment is neither held for trading
nor contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer
in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 Business
Combinations applies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiE_—LF - _—F =F=+—HIFFZ

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. BEAREBUEE (&

() Financial instruments (Continued) H H=RMIAE
Financial assets (Continued) THEE (1B)
Classification and measurement of financial assets at AR D B R GTELHEE (B

amortised cost (Continued)

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if: HWEBTIER EmEEDES

REEH !

e it has been acquired principally for the purpose of e BARETHEEZTERHNA
selling in the near term; or RAARREE ; 5

e on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of s NUTHIFZETMEEALK
identified financial instruments that the Group EEHFEEZE#H ST
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of BEE 285 BILABRKRERE
short-term profit-taking; or RHRA ;5K

e it is a derivative that is not designated and effective s ZETMEBEEALIIFEERBM
as a hedging instrument. EARHHATARZITET A

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a ItEoh > AR EE Bl /E A AT HEl4E 7E »

financial asset that are required to be measured at the REERBENANEEEMEM!

amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing WHBZEAFEARFENETHEE

so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting IEEATBREGERAFEARSS

mismatch. NI A PRE BRE R/ & st EE A o
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 EiE —L - " =H=+—HIFFEZ

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

U]

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Amortised cost and interest incorme

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on
the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains
or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or
loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend or
interest earned on the financial asset and is presented as
a separate line item.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 B ZE _—F_— —fF=F=+—HIFFZ
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. BEAREBUEE (&

( EMIA#E

() Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit losses (“ECL”) model on financial assets
which are subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9 (including trade and other receivables, contract
assets and cash and cash equivalents). The amount
of ECL is updated at each reporting period to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of
the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
(“12m ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting period.
Assessment are done based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at
the reporting period as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables without significant financial component. The
ECL on these assets are assessed individually for debtors
with significant balances and collectively using a provision
matrix with appropriate groupings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2022 EZE — T~ —#F=H=+—HIFFEZ

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. BEAREHEBUEE (&

( EMIA@#E

(f) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, in which case the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should
be recognised is based on significant increases in
the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting period with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiE_—LF - _—F =F=+—HIFFZ

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

(®

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

e  significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

e  existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability
to meet its debt obligations;

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

e an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2022 EiE —L - " =H=+—HIFFEZ

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. BEAREHEBUEE (&

() Financial instruments (Continued) H IR @

Financial assets (Continued)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full.

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

(@ significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiE_—LF - _—F =F=+—HIFFZ

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

(®

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued)

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

(d) itis becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit
or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2022 EZE — T~ —#F=H=+—HIFFEZ

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. BEAREHEBUEE (&

() Financial instruments (Continued) H IR @

Financial assets (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring
as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.

For collective assessment the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

e  Past-due status;

e Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

e External credit ratings where available.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiE_—LF - _—F =F=+—HIFFZ

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

(®

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset
is credit impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their
carrying amount, with the exception of trade receivables,
other receivables, deposit and contract assets where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss
allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to
another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and
continues to control the transferred asset, the Group
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an
associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the
Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2022 EiE —L - " =H=+—HIFFEZ
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. BEAREHEBUEE (&

( EMIA@#E

(f) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as financial liabilities or equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a
group entity are classified as either financial liabilities
or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the
Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including trade payables and other
payables, convertible notes, promissory note, interest
payable lease liabilities and employee benefits) are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiE_—LF - _—F =F=+—HIFFZ

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

(®

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(Continued)

Convertible notes contain equity cormponent

The component parts of the convertible notes are
classified separately as financial liability and equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument. A conversion option that
will be settled by the exchange of a fixed amount of
cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of
the Company’s own equity instruments is an equity
instrument.

At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability
component (including any embedded non-equity
derivatives features) is estimated by measuring the fair
value of similar liability that does not have an associated
equity component.

A conversion option classified as equity is determined by
deducting the amount of the liability component from the
fair value of the compound instrument as a whole. This
is recognised and included in equity, net of income tax
effects, and is not subsequently remeasured. In addition,
the conversion option classified as equity will remain in
equity until the conversion option is exercised, in which
case, the balance recognised in equity will be transferred
to share premium. Where the conversion option remains
unexercised at the maturity date of the convertible note,
the balance recognised in equity will be transferred
to accumulated losses. No gain or loss is recognised
in profit or loss upon conversion or expiration of the
conversion option.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2022 EiE —L - " =H=+—HIFFEZ

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. BEAREHEBUEE (&

EMTIA #E

() Financial instruments (Continueq) (f)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(Continued)

Convertible notes contain equity component (Continued)

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the
convertible notes are allocated to the liability and equity
components in proportion to the allocation of the gross
proceeds. Transaction costs relating to the equity
component are charged directly to equity. Transaction
costs relating to the liability component are included in
the carrying amount of the liability portion and amortised
over the period of the convertible notes using the effective
interest method.

Derecognition/modification of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and
the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit
or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiE_—LF - _—F =F=+—HIFFZ

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

(®

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(Continued)

Derecognition/modification of financial liabilities
(Continued)

When the contractual terms of a financial liability are
modified, the Group assess whether the revised terms
result in a substantial modification from original terms
taking into account all relevant facts and circumstances
including qualitative factors. If qualitative assessment
is not conclusive, the Group considers that the terms
are substantially different if the discounted present
value of the cash flows under the new terms, including
any fees paid net of any fees received, and discounted
using the original effective interest rate, is at least 10
per cent different from the discounted present value
of the remaining cash flows of the original financial
liability. Accordingly, such modification of terms is
accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees
incurred are recognised as part of the gain or loss on
the extinguishment. The exchange or modification is
considered as non-substantial modification when such
difference is less than 10 per cent.

For non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities
that do not result in derecognition, the carrying amount
of the relevant financial liabilities will be calculated at the
present value of the modified contractual cash flows
discounted at the financial liabilities’ original effective
interest rate. Transaction costs or fees incurred are
adjusted to the carrying amount of the modified financial
liabilities and are amortised over the remaining term. Any
adjustment to the carrying amount of the financial liability
is recognised in profit or loss at the date of modification.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2022 EiE —L - " =H=+—HIFFEZ

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. BEAREHEBUEE (&

() Financial instruments (Continued) H IR @
Financial liabilities and equity instruments ETHEERRITA (&
(Continued)
Derecognition/modification of financial liabilities USRI T E1E ()
(Continued)
When the contractual terms of a convertible notes EHRRKREEN G QBT E L
are modified, such as extending the tenure, change JERIRH - BU R R ITE
in exercise price of the underlying options, the revised B) » RESBETE B LR E B
terms would result in a substantial modification from HIRE KB Rt RFABHEBAES
the original terms, after taking into account all relevant KIER (BEEHRER) &> BREES]
facts and circumstances including qualitative factors, BRERIEIRcHaBERERNE
such modification is accounted for as derecognition of FEaBEAR KILRANEREEN
the original financial liability and the recognition of new FREEHEENNEMLE (BIEMK
financial liability. The difference between the carrying ENERaERMESNITETA
amount of financial liability derecognised and the Em) NAFEZENERERER
fair value of consideration paid or payable, including 580

any liabilities assumed and derivative components
recognised, is recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiE_—LF - _—F =F=+—HIFFZ

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

(9)

(h)

Construction contracts

The Group completes satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligations over time and the revenue is
recognised during the contract period based on the
performance progress, which is determined by input
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis
of the Group’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of a
performance obligation relative to the total expected
inputs to the satisfaction of that performance obligation,
that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring
control of goods or services. When the Group is not
able to reasonably measure its performance progress,
the Group recognises revenue only to the extent of the
recoverable amount of costs incurred until such time that
it can reasonably measure the performance progress.

Revenue recognition

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2022 EiE —L - " =H=+—HIFFEZ

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. BEAREHEBUEE (&

(h) WzEFESD ()

(h) Revenue recognition (Continued)

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one
of the following criteria is met:

e the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;

e the Group’s performance does not create and
enhances an asset that the customer controls as the
Group performs; or

e the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or
service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not
yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in
accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable
represents the Group’s unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiE_—LF - _—F =F=+—HIFFZ
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. BEAREBUEE (&

(h) WEFERD ()

(h) Revenue recognition (Continued)

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to a
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement
of progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation

Input method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on input
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis
of the Group’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of a
performance obligation relative to the total expected
inputs to the satisfaction of that performance obligation,
that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring
control of goods or services.

Contract cost

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those
costs that the Group incurs to obtain a contract with a
customer that it would not have incurred if the contract
had not been obtained.

The Group recognises such costs as an asset if it expects
to recover these costs. The asset so recognised is
subsequently amortised to profit or loss on a systematic
basis that is consistent with the transfer to the customer
of the goods or services to which the assets relate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2022 EiE —L - " =H=+—HIFFEZ

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. BEAREHEBUEE (&

(h) WzEFESD ()

(h) Revenue recognition (Continued)

Contract cost (Continued)

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract (Continued)

The Group applies the practical expedient of expensing
all incremental costs to obtain a contract if these costs
would otherwise have been fully amortised to profit or
loss within one year.

Costs to fulfil a contract

The Group incurs costs to fulfil a contract in its
construction contracts. The Group first assesses whether
these costs qualify for recognition as an asset in terms
of other relevant standards, failing which it recognises an
asset for these costs only if they meet all of the following
criteria:

(@) the costs relate directly to a contract or to an
anticipated contract that the Group can specifically
identify;

(b) the costs generate or enhance resources of the
Group that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing
to satisfy) performance obligations in the future; and

(c) the costs are expected to be recovered.

The asset so recognised is subsequently amortised to
profit or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent with
the transfer to the customer of the goods or services
to which the assets relate. The asset is subject to
impairment review.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(i)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from ‘loss before income tax’
as reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income because of items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 EiE —L - " =H=+—HIFFEZ

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(i)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred
tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises or from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of other assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In addition,
deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments are only recognised to the extent that it
is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits
against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

(i

Taxation (Continueq)

Deferred tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

For the purpose of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attribute to
the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions
are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies
HKAS 12 “Income Taxes” requirements to right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities separately. Temporary
differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities are not recognised at initial recognition and over
the lease terms due to application of the initial recognition
exemption.

214 CNC HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021/2022

4. BEREHEEK @

(i)

RIE (&)

BEFERIE ()

EEMIBE EZREERS RS H
RIEHEET > WEFKBISEBAES
FE SRR i A W Bl 22 BB S AR 0 B A B

b o

BEREAERE AN RABRE
A R D 1 9B 5 1
RAEERAAR LB E 28
M (R 42

BEMEBEEEREEZFERBE
EEEHANRSHARKEINEEZE
ERBEREBEEEZRBER

st EAEEERERAEEE A
HEHESENEERZNIEERIE
Mms > SEEELEEREI R R
EAREREESENNEERRE-

MREREEBNEEaENEE
R AEBNEHAREENEES
BOREREB G ERIE129E AN
BRIRE - BEREEENEES
RAERERMEEZ N D R
URkREEHANBERBRY LY ER
HemA TR
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 EiE —L - " =H=+—HIFFEZ

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(i)

@)

Taxation (Continued)

Current and deferred tax for the year

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.

Employee benefits

th

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
are recognised as an expense when employees
have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.

Short term employee benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual
leave and sick leave in the period the related service
is rendered at the undiscounted amount of the
benefits expected to be paid in exchange for that
service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-
term employee benefits are measured at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid in exchange for the related service.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only
when, the Group demonstrably commits itself to
terminate employment or to provide benefits as a
result of voluntary redundancy by having a detailed
formal plan which is without realistic possibility of
withdrawal.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiE_—LF - _—F =F=+—HIFFZ

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

)

(k)

Employee benefits (Continued)

4. Long service payments

The Group’s net obligation in respect of long service
payments payable on cessation of employment
in certain circumstances under the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance is the amount of future
benefit that employees have earned in return for
their service in the current and prior periods. The
obligation is calculated using the projected unit
credit method, discounted to its present value and
reduced by entitlements accrued under the Group’s
retirement plans that are attributable to contributions
made by the Group.

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets other
than goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible
assets to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If
any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of
the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent
of the impairment loss (if any). When it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual
asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation
can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to
individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units
for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis
can be identified.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 EiE —L - " =H=+—HIFFEZ

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(k)

U

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets other
than goodwill (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates
of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or the cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit)
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, it is probable that the Group will be required to
settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made
of the amount of the obligation.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

0

Provisions (Continued)

The amount recognised as a provision is the best
estimate of the consideration required to settle the
present obligation at the end of the reporting period,
taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured
using the cash flows estimated to settle the present
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of
those cash flows (where the effect of the time value of
money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to
settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a
third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is
virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and
the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
the existence of which will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless
the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

218 CNC HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021/2022

4. BEREHEEK @

U

B @

BEABEBEZESRAN KRS HRE
STAEREEZRABRATBAREER
B HBITRASEZFEAEZR
EhE-HEBXARTRARREZ
et RERESE A HKREERZ
FREREZHRE (W EEEREE
BZREBEX) -

HEUEZREBEZHE D NEEEE
NomfAARRE=sWE IEEE
LHERIRRINEREREREBEZE
BRREFISRET B Ry BINRUIA S R A
BE-

NAFIRE R EEE M mM > R
REERI SR ftst By I B ERIRES
AR RIFEENmRAH S
EM-BrRkEZzZEE HEEETEN
H—BERZERKREFZIHFES
HE TIRESNAER RIFLE
A Z S E M e



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= A
1 O = |

R 75 R AR Y 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2022 EiE —L - " =H=+—HIFFEZ

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(m) Borrowing costs

(n)

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. At the end of each
reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they arise, except for
exchange differences on monetary items receivable from
or payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is
neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part
of the net investment in the foreign operation), which are
recognised initially in other comprehensive income and
reclassified from equity to profit or loss on repayment of
the monetary items.
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AR M B R R M 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiE_—LF - _—F =F=+—HIFFZ

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

(n)

(o)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
foreign operations are translated into the presentation
currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using
exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Income and expense items are translated at
the average exchange rates for the period, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period,
in which case the exchange rates at the dates of the
transactions are used. Exchange differences arising,
if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity under the heading of foreign
currency translation reserve.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the
Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business
and geographical locations.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 EiE —L - " =H=+—HIFFEZ

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(o)

(p)

Segment reporting (Continued)

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and are
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect
of the nature of products and services, the nature of
production processes, the type of class of customers, the
methods used to distribute the products or provide the
services, and the nature of the regulatory environment.
Operating segments which are not individually material
may be aggregated if they share a majority of these
criteria.

Related party

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the
entity that is preparing the financial statements:

(1) A person or a close member of that person’s family

is related to the Group if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;

(i)  has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a parent of the Group.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

(p) Related party (Continued)

(2)  Anentity is related to the Group if any of the following

condition applies:

)

(i)

(i)

V)

The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is
a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third party.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group. If the Group is
itself such a plan, the sponsorship employers
are also related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (1).

222 (CNC HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021/2022

4. EXT

stEUER (4

(p) FAEAL (E

@ fEERTHER S fﬁ 'R —FEE

AR EEAFRE
() ZEREAAXERAP %
BHREAT (AIEFA

(i)

(i)

(V)

A B AR RERKBA
SR ERAE) o

—EEEBS —BERN

il

MERADHEEAE (EH/BE
—SEREATHNBER

AR EEAR Hfs—fE
BREAZEERE) -

— Eﬁ%ﬁﬂ‘afb%_ﬁﬂﬁaﬂﬁ
BERARE—HERR
B=FHBERT

ZERBUREBRNLE
EREERENEESR T
ABIBER B BF) 518 - A

EEXHH—IAE ) ZH
BN EETEAERS

B2

ZBERRINE()EEEHA
TAERI S HEFES]



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 EiE —L - " =H=+—HIFFEZ

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(p) Related party (Continued)

(2) Anentity is related to the Group if any of the following
condition applies: (Continued)

(vi) A person identified in (1)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity).

(viii)  The entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
service to the Group’s or the Group’s parent.

A related party transaction is a transfer of resources,
services or obligations between a reporting entity and a
related party, regardless of whether a price is charged.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity
and include:

() that person’s children and spouse or domestic
partner;

(i) children of that person’s spouse or domestic
partner; and

(i) dependents of that person or that person’s spouse
or domestic partner.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

(q) Separate financial statement

r

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving a dividend from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of
the investment in the separate financial statements
exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwill.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including special purpose
entities) over which the Group has the power to
govern the financial and operating policies generally
accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of
the voting rights. The existence and effect of potential
voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible
are considered when assessing whether the Group
controls another entity.

The acquisition method is used to account for the
acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group which qualifies
as business combination, except for those acquisitions
which qualify as a common control combination and are
therefore accounted for using the merger accounting.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. BEAREHEBUEE (&

() Subsidiaries (Continued) N MEBAR &

Under the acquisition method, subsidiaries are fully
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred
to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the
date that control ceases. The cost of an acquisition is
measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity
instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed
at the date of exchange and, all acquisition-related
costs are expensed. Identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are measured initially at their fair values at
the acquisition date. On an acquisition-by-acquisition
basis, the Group recognises any non-controlling
interest in the acquiree at the non-controlling interest’s
proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount
of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the
acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest
in the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable net
assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If this is less
than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary
acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference
is recognised directly in the consolidated statements of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

(s) Government grant

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants related to income that are receivable
as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred
or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support
to the Group with no future related costs are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable. Such grants are presented under “other
income”.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 4, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

226 CNC HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021/2022

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiE_—LF - _—F =F=+—HIFFZ

4. BEREHEEK @

(s) BUATHEED

BT B 10 & R T A 4
SEMIEEE RS ENRE N
BYBS 75 T HeaR o

HIWABRBRNBN#EBEREE
EHXHEENEBIRMESAAE
£ [ 4R {4 B0 By B 755 S 4% 1T I f8 5R 2R
MERA RS > BIHS E Al A% FE SRR TR HA R
REEm P - & F MmN TH MR
AIFREF e

EEGHHERGSFAMERZE
ERIR

7 78 PR B 24P ik BY A 62 B & 51 BRI
ARABEFEARTAUES B HMARE
THEEKRERIREEFLF - G5k
R& o fh 5t BRI RER TH I B A B K 4K
RAEEHOEMERS L - BERSRAIAE
BRI Efhste

et RAERRER D IEFEEERS - HE
SHESTRESTER ST IR » BIFEST
BRGNS  SEET®
EEF R AR > B EFHEST B AR
REARI ST A FERT



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= AH

1 O = |

R 75 R AR Y 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2022 EZE — T~ —#F=H=+—HIFFEZ

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continueq)

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies

The followings are the critical judgments, apart from those

involving estimations (see below), that management has made

in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies
and that have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

(i

Construction contract revenue recognition

Revenue recognition on a project is dependent on
management’s estimation of the total outcome of the
construction contracts, with reference to the proportion
that contract costs incurred for work performed to
date to the estimated total costs for the contracts. The
Group reviews and revises the estimates of contract
revenue, contract costs, variation orders and provision for
claims, prepared for each construction contract as the
contract progresses. Budgeted construction costs are
prepared by the management on the basis of quotations
from time to time provided by the major contractors,
suppliers or vendors involved and the experience of
the management. In order to keep the budget accurate
and up-to-date, the management conducts periodic
reviews of the management budgets by comparing the
budgeted amounts to the actual amounts incurred. The
provision for claims is determined on the basis of the
delay in the number of workdays of the completion of
the construction works which is highly subjective and is
subject to negotiation with the customers. Management
conducts periodic review of the provisioning amount.

5. EEg
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continueq)

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies
(Continued)

(i)

Construction contract revenue recognition
(Continued)

Significant judgement is required in estimating the
contract revenue, contract costs, variation works and
provision for claims which may have an impact in terms
of percentage of completion and profit taken. The
judgements of the management are based on contract
costs and revenues on the latest available information,
which includes detailed contract valuations. In many
cases the results reflect the expected outcome of long-
term contractual obligations which span more than
one reporting period. Contract costs and revenues are
affected by a variety of uncertainties that depend on the
outcome of future events and often need to be revised
as events unfold and uncertainties are resolved. The
estimates of contract costs and revenues are updated
regularly and significant changes are highlighted through
established internal review procedures. In particular,
the internal reviews focus on the timing and recognition
of payments and the age and recoverability of any
disagreed income from variations to the contract scope
or claims. The impact of the changes in accounting
estimates is then reflected in the ongoing results.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 EiE —L - " =H=+—HIFFEZ

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continueq)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future,

and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end

of the reporting period that have a significant risk of causing

material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and

liabilities within the next financial year.

(i

Estimated impairment of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
are stated at costs less accumulated depreciation and
impairment, if any. In determining whether an asset is
impaired, the Group has to exercise judgement and make
estimation, particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event
has occurred or any indicators that may affect the asset
value; (2) whether the carrying value of an asset can be
supported by the recoverable amount, in the case of
value in use, the net present value of future cash flows
which are estimated based upon the continued use
of the asset; and (3) the appropriate key assumptions
to be applied in estimating the recoverable amounts
including cash flow projections and an appropriate
discount rate. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an individual asset (including right-
of-use assets), the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash generating unit to which the assets
belongs, including allocation of corporate assets when
a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
established, otherwise recoverable amount is determined
at the smallest group of cash generating units, for which
the relevant corporate assets have been allocated.
Changing the assumptions and estimates, including
the discount rates or the growth rate in the cash flow
projections, could materially affect the recoverable
amounts.
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continueq)

5. BEEEHAERMAEFAABERZE
BERIR @

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

S FABERZ T ERIE (8)

(i) Estimated impairment of property, plant and () YE - BERREUREHEEEZ

equipment and right-of-use assets (Continued)

As at 31 March 2022, the carrying amounts of right-
of-use assets and property, plant and equipment
subject to impairment assessment were approximately
HK$3,975,000 and HK$17,922,000 (2021:
approximately HK$1,106,000 and HK$23,138,000)
respectively, after taking into account of the impairment
losses of approximately HK$Nil and HK$1,517,000
(2021: HK$2,872,000 and HKS$NIl) in respect of right-of-
use assets and property, plant and equipment that have
been recognised respectively. Details of the impairment
of right-of-use assets and property, plant and equipment
are disclosed in Notes 19 and 18 respectively.

6. REVENUE

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers

Construction works EETR

Advertising income BEEWA

Revenue recognised over time ~ B&RF R FE SR IR &
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FRHERE ()

RIEZZF=B=+—H &5t
REEDBZEREEEURYE
BEREZEBEREBEINOZE
7t K21,517,0008 T (Z 2 - —%F
2,872,0008 T EHBTT) 0 BEITH
BEHENEREEEURYE BE
K&k 2 BREE S BI49%3,975,000
BT &17,922,0008 T (ZB - —
£ 1 91,106,000 7T 523,138,000
7T) c B RREEURYE BE
R EBREZHE DRRHF19%
181 58

6. W=

) FREHWR=D

2022 2021
—E-HF B —F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FEIT
408,175 204,470

= 34,763

408,175 239,233
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6. REVENUE (Continued)

6. W@ &

(i) Transaction price allocated to the remaining

performance obligation for contracts with
customers

The aggregated amount of the transaction price allocated
to the remaining performance obligation under the

(i)

ERENDEE
=18

B TRARMENR

BEFAEBRESNDIEERTE
NEENRXZERENT !

Group’s existing contracts is as follows:

—FRN
BiB—F

Within one year
More than one year

This amount represents revenue expected to
be recognised in the future from pre-completion
construction contracts entered into by the customers
with the Group.

Ny

\

Bk K X

2022 2021
—E-= -
HK$°000 HK$ 000
F#T FHT
265,950 179,898
695,840 649,365
961,790 829,263
BIEHBRRUAER BAAREEE]

% TR RS TEHI AL
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7. OTHER INCOME 7. HftugA

2022 2021
—_=E__ BT —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
Interest income FMEUWA 82 353
Government subsidies (Note) BRI wBh (Ba2) - 9,273

Consultancy fee income from BETREBHBUWA
joint operations - 1,410
Sundry income B A 4,405 1,338
4,487 12,374
Note: During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group recognised W re8azE"Z2”-—F=—A=+—HBHILHF

Government grant of approximately HK$9,273,000 in respect
of COVID-19 related subsidies which is related to Employment
Support Scheme provided by Hong Kong Government.

8. OTHER LOSSES, NET

EER W, (B518) » P

Exchange gain/(loss), net

Net gain on disposal of property, HEME - BERREZ
plant and equipment I a3 ER

(Allowance for)/reversal of ECL ME ZEWERIEER 2

recognised for trade receivables, net
R

Allowance for ECL recognised for
other receivables and deposits, net

Allowance for ECL recognised for
contract assets, net

Loss arising on extension of

promissory note

TRHEEBIERR 288
MEMNEERD 2 TR

EERBIRERE FEH
ERAREREEZER
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L E MR IB AR FEEE 2

TREAE 1R (BH) /&0

B rAEEREAEBEBNRMETE A
i 2 COVID-1948 B8 4 Af 0 52 BUM 48 B 49
9,273,00078 7T ©

8. HhE5E B8

2022 2021
—E-= —E-
HK$°000 HK$ 000
F#ET FET
3 (364)
453 18
(707) 74
(53) 97)
(149) (93)
- (451)
(453) (913)
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 EiE —L - " =H=+—HIFFEZ

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’s segment information is presented on the basis

on internal reports that are regularly reviewed by the executive

directors of the Company, being the chief operating decision
maker (“CODM”), in order to allocate resources to the

segments and assess their performance.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable segments under HKFRS 8

are as follows:

Provision of civil engineering services — provision of
waterworks engineering services, road works and
drainage services and site formation works for public
sector in Hong Kong; and

Media and advertising business — (a) the business
of broadcasting television programmes on television
channels operated by television broadcasting companies
in the Asia-Pacific region (excluding the PRC) and (b)
business of promoting digital marketing activities on
overseas video platform in return for advertising and
related revenue.

Each of these operating segments is managed separately

as each of the product and service lines requires different

resources as well as marketing approaches.

DEER

FEBZDHBEHDBRBEEARBDRNITE
EEB2EERRE (EEEERK
E)) ROEERER DB RTEE D ER
KIEMEMRBH 2B RETUR R

BiEMs ~EBRESBUHFREER
BRI 2MDEWM T :

RHELTARTIERB -—HEBLEHA
RHKBIRERS BBRIEKRED
R IFEEMBTEIR, &

—
=

(i) WEKBESED - (FEUNEXE
(FEFERE) 2 BEERABFTE
EZBRAEETEBRENBEBERY
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9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment revenue and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results

by reportable and operating segments.

For the year ended 31 March 2022

Revenue from external customers

Reportable segment results

Unallocated corporate income
Unallocated corporate expenses
Finance costs

Loss before income tax
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RESNEER Z Wi

FNEEZERA
A EEERX
RMEMAE

PRATS AN

9. DEEHR =

BB B AR

AEERDERREE S ME DB W
REBEDHTUT

BE_T_—

F=A=+—HALEE

Provision of Media
civil engineering  and advertising
services business Total
R ATE
R% BERRSES st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAET FAT
408,175 - 408,175
(18,122) (2,965) (21,087)
3,622
(4,021)
(20,573)
(42,059)
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FREMBHRRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2022 EiE —L - " =H=+—HIFFEZ
9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment revenue and results (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2021

Revenue from external customers KRB R 2 W5
Reportable segment results E2RNBEE
Unallocated corporate income AAEEERA
Unallocated corporate expenses RN ERET
Finance costs RE A

Loss before income tax PRPT{SIRATES 18

There were no inter-segment sales for the years ended 31
March 2022 and 2021.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as the Group’s accounting policies described in note 4.
Segment profit/loss represents the profit earned/loss incurred
by each segment without allocation of central administration
costs, interest income, finance costs, change in fair value
of financial assets at FVTPL, loss arising from extension of
promissory note and income tax expense. This is the measure
reported to the CODM for the purposes of resource allocation
and performance assessment.

9. DEEN &
DEBRE R EE (B
BE_ " F=ZH=+—HLEE
Provision of Media
civil engineering and advertising
services business Total
RIELTAIR
k% EERESER st
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET FAETT
204,470 34,763 239,233
(34,680) (28,810) (63,490)
1,346
(7,892)
(9,314)
(79,350)

BE_ S __F#K_F-_—F=H
=t+—HUEFEHEDIREHE-

EED MG ST EERE NPT M B A &
EE St BRER D8R, BEER D
BWAERDE R RITEA A FEUWA - B
BlA ZREmEAFEARZERE

BRAISMBAXAIFT BRI ETEL

MEIR TR E B EERRE 2 MU
HARERMTERRZFED

hEFESRIERARAS 2021/2022 £k 235



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBEHRRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiE_—LF - _—F =F=+—HIFFZ
9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities
by reportable and operating segments:

At 31 March 2022

Segment assets NHEE
Unallocated VALY
Consolidated assets REEE
Segment liabilities par: =
Unallocated VALY
Consolidated liabilities Y=L
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9. DEEHR =

PHEERERE
FEERIERNREEDHE D2 EE
REBEIMAT
RZZEZZH=H=+—H
Provision of Media
civil engineering  and advertising
services business Total
‘T ATRE
% ERRESER Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
170,104 46 170,150
43,331
213,481
182,623 34,345 216,968
381,821
598,789
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9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

At 31 March 2021

Segment assets NHEE
Unallocated ROEC
Consolidated assets REEE
Segment liabilities AR =X
Unallocated ROEC
Consolidated liabilities M=

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and
allocating resources between segments:

e all assets are allocated to operating segments other than
financial assets at FVTPL, cash and cash equivalents and
corporate assets; and

e all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other
than convertible notes, tax payables, deferred tax
liabilities, promissory note and corporate liabilities.

9. NEEHR @

IHEERERE @)
RZEZ—F=H=+—H
Provision of Media
civil engineering and advertising
services business
R ATIR
% ERNEEES
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
100,752 1,651
122,801 33,232

HERDBRTRDECD EE

v FREBEBDEE

bR B

Total

st
HK$ 000
FET

102,403
72,508

174,911

166,033
362,071

518,104

B

BaBRAFTEARZEME
E-RehBEESEYREEEE

EEDE , &

o [REIMRER EAREELERE

BE-EAREBREEXEEIN B

BEHDEEEENE -
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9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 9. NEEN &
Other segment information HithoEER

For the year ended 31 March 2022

BE_Z__F-A=+—HLEFE

Provision of Media
civil and
engineering  advertising
services business  Unallocated Total
Rt AIRE REERK
R BEER b Wt
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
Additions to non-current assets REFRBEE 10,998 - - 10,998
Depreciation of property, plant and ME-BERRENE
equipment 10,679 42 46 10,767
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE 545 - - 545
Allowance for ECL on contract assets, &N BERBEERE
net B 38 149 - - 149
Allowance for ECL on trade receivables, & 7 EWFIETEEEEEE
net B 38 707 - - 707
Allowance for ECL on other receivables ~ ELftifEUEIE K % & T8
and deposits, net EEBREE 8 19 - 34 53
Net gain on disposal of property, HENE -BEREREZ
plant and equipment W B R (453) — — (453)
Impairment loss on property, ME - -BERHEEZ
plant and equipment BEBE 476 1,041 = 1,517
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9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 9. DEER =

Other segment information (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2021

HthoEER (&)

BHE_BE_—F#=H=+t—HLFE

Provision of Media
civil and
engineering advertising
services business Total
R ATR e Y
BR% BEER st
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
Additions to non-current assets REFRBEE 12,441 - 12,441
Depreciation of property, plant and ME-BERREBINE
equipment 14,820 329 15,341
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRREENE 875 1,867 5,376
Amortisation of intangible assets mY B ESH - 18,316 18,316
Allowance of ECL on contract assets, ~ ANEEBHEEERE
net BE 38 ek} - 93
Reversal of ECL on trade receivables, BARKIERBEERE
net e EIERE ¢ (74) - (74)
Allowance of ECL on other receivables, — EftifEWFIBTR = BB
net BE 38 97 - 97
Net gain on disposal of property, HENE BEREREZ
plant and equipment a3 e (18) S (18)
Impairment loss on intangible assets BREERESE - 7,679 7,679
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets ~ FREEERERSE 633 702 2,872

hEFESRIZERARAS 2021/2022 £k 239



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M B RRNEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiE_—LF - _—F =F=+—HIFFZ

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Geographical information

Revenue from external customers of the Group was all derived
Hong Kong for the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.

The following is an analysis of the carrying amount of non-
current assets analysed by the geographical area in which the
assets are located:

DEER &

& &k

BHE_S __&#K-_F-_—F=ZH
—t+—BHIEFE  AEBRBITETEZ
WaHEXEEE-

UTAREBEMITIHED T ZIERHNE
EZEREZDN:

Hong Kong 5E
PRC FRE

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of the corresponding years
contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group are as

follows:

Customer A (Note (i) EEB Wa))
Customer B (Note (i) BEZ (Wa))
Customer C (Note (i) EER W)
Customer D (Note (i) BB T (Wati)
Customer E (Notes (i) and (i) BRX (Wra0)k(0))
Customer F (Notes (i) and (ii)) BB S Wa0)(0))

Notes:
i) Revenue from provision of civil engineering service.

(i)  The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the
Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 March 2021.

(i) Revenue from media and advertising business. The corresponding

revenue did not contribute over 10% of the Group’s revenue for the
year ended 31 March 2022.
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2022 2021

—E-C B

HK$°000 HK$'000

FAET FAET

21,897 23,154

- 1,000

21,897 24,244
ERIEERZEN

REBEFEGEAERRNDBIE10%Z
ERZWEHIT -

2022 2021
—=E-= —EC—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
51,661 104,741
81,137 27,392
42,185 28,846

- 31,488

87,858 =
79,236 =

izt
0 ZRERELATIRERBZWa-e

(i) ﬁi:g:—i_ﬁ_+ BIEFEEE
Uit 2 7 4 A1 A B [ W A B B 1 0% ©

(i) ZREFERESEFZW@ -BE_ZT "
F=RB=+—HLLFE > BRKGEIRER
EEWmBB10%-e
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 EiE —L - " =H=+—HIFFEZ

10. LOSS FROM OPERATIONS

10. EEEHE

Loss from operations has been

arrived at after charging/(crediting):

Contract costs recognised
as expenses

Television broadcasting right fee
and TV satellite fees (included in
cost of services)

Costs attributable to media and
advertising business (included in
cost of services)

Other direct costs attributable to
media and advertising business
(included in cost of services)

Auditors’ remuneration
— Audit services

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment”

Depreciation of right-of-use assets™

Staff costs (note 11)**

Change in fair value of financial
assets at fair value through
profit or loss™**

EEBBEEING GEA)
LFEBERFERFS !

B SRR Z RN

BERENEERREEERER
(BER R AH)

IRAS MBS R AR
(BERRFBRAT)

HREKESEZBGEMER
A (BLER AR TS A A )

1% 0 B i B
—BIZIRT
M2~ B e R T EE

FREEETE"

ST RA (WaE11)

ERERBRAFEARZ
EMEEZ N FEEE

Expenses relating to short-term leases B BIZEAFAE 2 X

2022 2021
—E_HF —EF—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
417,531 235,635
= 72
= 27,415
- 3,189
650 650
10,767 15,341
545 5,376
99,608 88,287
(3,575) (2,965)
220 309

ok

Hkkok

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment of approximately
HK$9,867,000 (2021: HK$13,877,000) and HK$900,000 (2021:
HK$1,464,000) have been separately expensed in contract costs
recognised as cost of services and administrative expenses
respectively.

Depreciation of right-of-use assets of approximately HK$545,000
(2021: HK$1,742,000) and HK$nil (2021: HK$3,634,000) have
been separately expensed in cost of services and administrative
expenses respectively.

Included in the staff costs, approximately HK$91,668,000 (2021:
HK$78,417,000) was charged in cost of services.

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the amount represented the
realised gain from the financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss.

ok

Hokkok

M BB KRR B ITEE#Y9,867,0008 T (=
£~ —4 : 13,877,000 7T) 52900,000% 7T
(ZZT——4F 11,464,000 70) B9 BIH HE
RAREEEZ B R TR 28 o

FREEEFELS545,0008 7T (T - —
£F 11,742,000 7T) REBT (CEZ—F !
3,634,000787T) B2 BUR ARTE Ak A B 17 B
L&

B T4 613E54991,668,0008 T (Z T - —
£ 1 78,417,00078 7T) 5t ABRFS AL AS ©

BE_S__F=-A=+—HILEE &
HIEE BB RATEARZERNEEZ
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11. STAFF COSTS

Staff costs (including directors’
remuneration) comprise:
Wages, salaries and other benefits
Contribution to defined contribution
retirement plan

12. FINANCE COSTS

Interest on:
Lease liabilities
Promissory note (Note 30)
Convertible notes (Note 31)
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2022 2021
—F-— —ET—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
BT (BFEESH)
BiE

IE e MEMEF 97,046 86,636

TEREMHFURIRET BIMHRR
2,562 1,651
99,608 88,287

12. BB
2022 2021
—E-CHF —EC—F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FEIT
DRSS

HEaR 108 176
A RERE (115230) 1,716 826
PRI ER (H5231) 18,749 8,312
20,573 9,314
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 EiE —L - " =H=+—HIFFEZ

13. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND SENIOR

MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS

@i

Directors’ remuneration

The aggregate amounts of the remuneration paid and

payable to the directors by the Group for the years ended
31 March 2022 and 2021 were as follows:

Year ended 31 March 2022

Executive director and chief
executive officer:
Dr. Li Yong Sheng (note (i)

Executive Directors:

Dr. Jiang Yan (note (i)
Mr. Liu Da Yong (note (i)
Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung

Non-executive Directors:
Ms. Tang Li (note (ij)
Mr. Law Cheuk Hung

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Wu Guo Ming
Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron

HE-Z-Z—
ZAZt+—-HILEE
HITEBERITHARH .

FXFHEL W)

HiTEE .
ZEi8T ()
HRBRE W)
BEFEE

FHTEE
BRELL (W)
BllEfRE

BUFHTEE .
BEFEEL
AEBREE

Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth (note (i) £ B2 554 (W7:2ii)

13. EEMERESREEREME

(i) E=Bs

MBE_E_"FRE-_—F=
B=+—HLEFEEMNRENEE

EEEMEBERIOT ¢

Contributions
to retirement

Salaries and benefit
Fees other benefits Bonus schemes Total
HER RIAET
ik HAthigF| fE4L RENGEN st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
- 12,012 - 18 12,030
12 1,200 - 18 1,230
144 = - - 144
144 = - - 144
144 = - - 144
444 13,212 - 36 13,692
HEHEERIZRARAT 2021/2022 i 243




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GREMBHRRIE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiE_—ZF - =F=+—HIFFZ

13. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND SENIOR 13. EEMERSREERME &
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

() Directors’ remuneration (Continued) () ZEFME @
Contributions
to retirement
Salaries and benefit
Fees  other benefits Bonus schemes Total
ek BIKER
ik HitgR TE4 REIGE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
FET FET FET FET FET
Year ended 31 March 2021 Hz-z——#%
ZB=+—HILEEE
Executive director and chief HITEERITHAER -
executive officer:
Dr. Li Yong Sheng (note (i) FxFHEL (HzH) - - - - -
Executive Directors: HiTEE:
Dr. Jiang Yan (note (i) SR (W) - - - - -
Mr. Liu Da Yong (hote (i) BRBEE W) = = - - -
Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung eI EE = 12,012 = 18 12,030
Non-executive Directors: FHITEE
Ms. Tang Li (note (i) BELL (Wa2) - - - - -
Mr. Law Cheuk Hung BISEEE 12 1,200 - 18 1,230
Independent Non-executive Directors: B FEHITESE
Mr. Fan Chun Wah, Andrew (note j)  BERZELSE (HfzH() 52 = = = 52
Mr. Wu Guo Ming RESEEE 144 - - - 144
Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron FEREE 144 - - - 144
Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth (note (ii}) £ B2 554 (#7:2(ii) 144 - - - 144
496 13,212 - 36 13,744
Note: Bzt -
()  Retired on 11 August 2020. i) RIEZZEFENB+—HEE-
(i) The directors’ emoluments were waived for the years ended iy ZEBEEREBE_TFRIZTI—F
31 March 2022 and 2021. =A=t—HIEEEREMNE-
(i)  Resigned on 14 October 2022. iy WNZBZZFE+A+MHBFE-
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 EiE —L - " =H=+—HIFFEZ
13. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
(i) Directors’ remuneration (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2022, directors’

13. EEMERSREEENE @

(i) EZFME &

BE_TZ__HF-A=+—HLEF

emoluments amounted to approximately HK$48,000
(2021: approximately HK$48,000) were waived. Waived
contributions cannot be used to reduce ongoing
contributions. There were no emoluments paid by the
Group to any directors or chief executive officer as an
inducement to join, or upon joining the Group or as

= Eﬁ&%z%ﬁiﬂ%,@%w,oooﬁ
7T (ZE " —5 : 4948,00087T) ©

WEZERAERIERIFEMHRR
NREFWERTAESHITHER
THEAMESUEABFEEMA
ANEBE P IARZ B E A B

compensation for loss of office. B fHE
Senior management of the Group represents the KEBRE_ZE__FRZIE"—
executive directors during the years ended 31 March F-B=+—HLEFEZEH&KEE
2022 and 2021. BisiTES -

14. EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS 14. EEME

The five highest paid employees the Group during the
year included two (2021: two) directors, details of whose
remuneration are set out in note 13 above. Details of the
remaining three (2021: three) highest paid employees who are
neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are as

follows:

FEERAFEZ AL ESHEETE
Emn CE—F WM EF ARE
EMe 2 FBERN EXWE13-Hif=%
(CE—F =) xoHEE WX
ABEFHETETHAS) ZHFBUOT

BAR#HE  TEAKREMER

Basic salaries, bonuses and
other allowances
BRIREF SRR

Contributions to retirement
benefit schemes

2022 2021
—E-HF B —F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FEIT
3,694 3,590

54 54

3,748 3,644

hEFESRIERARAS 2021/2022 ik 245
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiE_—ZF - =F=+—HIFFZ
14. EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
The number of the highest paid employees who are not the

directors of the Company whose remuneration fell within the
following bands is as follows:

14. EEME @)

EeiEES WFEARESR 2MENF
THEEABNT

2022 2021
—EZ=HF TET
Number of Number of
employees employees
ESANE 1ES N &
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7t £ 1,500,000 ¢ 3 3
3 3

During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, none
of five highest paid individuals waived or agreed to waive
any remuneration and there were no emoluments paid
by the Group to any of the five highest paid individuals as
an inducement to join, or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.

IMITED ANNUAL R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M B RRNEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 EiE —L - " =H=+—HIFFEZ

15. INCOME TAX

The amount of income tax in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income represents:

ERE-BEBFER
—F AR
—BEFEBEEE

Current tax — Hong Kong Profits Tax
— tax for the year
— over-provision in respect of

prior years
Deferred tax (Note 32) IRIERIE (B2#32)
— provision for the year —FREE
Income tax expenses/(credit) FRiSMmEYs (&%)

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong
Profits Tax, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying
group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2
million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities
not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will
continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%. Accordingly,
the Hong Kong Profits Tax of the qualifying group entity is
calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2 million of the estimated
assessable profits and at 16.5% on the estimated assessable
profits above HK$2 million.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands
and the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”), the Company and its
subsidiaries incorporated in BVI are not subject to any income
tax in the Cayman Islands and the BVI respectively.

15. FRiG#

meBEmkEMEE R

RZFEHRE

LIS
2022 2021
—E-HF B —F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FEIT
218 498
= (399)
218 99
(125) (5,697)
93 (5,598)

REESBHEROFESHRMARS 5B
& EE L 52,000,000 705 FH #28.25%
#2 » 2,000,00078 7T M _EiEF) 1 3216.5%
R -FBRAAFN T AEERERE
BE B E ) A B 2 B — TR E16.5% =R o
At 6 EREBSBNEEANERNG
2,000,00078 7o B9 5T FE R # i 71/ %8.25%
#0#2 » 2,000,00078 70 L _E B 5T FEER IR i
FB1)3216.5% 7R

BERAEREREBREREE ((HBEY
BE)) RAKER " AR RHENREER
YESEMA I Z B A TE B A
ERERERBREUEERBZEMMRE
o

hEFESRERARAT 2021/2022 £ 247



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M B RRNEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 B ZE _—F_— —fF=F=+—HIFFZ
15. INCOME TAX (Continued)
Under the prevailing tax law in the PRC, the Enterprise Income
Tax rate of the subsidiary of the Company incorporated in the

PRC is 25% (2021: 25%).

The tax expenses/(credit) for the year can be reconciled to the
loss before income tax per the consolidated statement of profit

15. RIS (&

RIBFEIBITRE > &A TR E M
Iz B AT Z EFRBIRMEA25%
(CEB-—F 125%) e

FRIREMZ (%) bk

Bifm A H A

2HWm %\%FE@JZHFH%H“JE??EZ%

or loss and other comprehensive income as follows: BREATE -
2022 2021
&g BT —4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
Loss before income tax BRPTISIRAIES 18 (42,059) (79,350)
Tax calculated at the rates, applicable 25378 BAE X F &2 4 % 7 18
to profits in the countries concerned Z X stHE 21718 (7,296) (13,680)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible A H1BRIRIBRIEE S 2
for tax purpose MEE 5,187 4,180
Tax effect of income not taxable BIER R A Z R
for tax purpose A (589) (1,502)
Over-provision in respect of prior years 8 1k 4 [Z {8 RE & - (399)
Tax effect of temporary difference AERERERE NG
not recognised & (1,156) (1,016)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 3 ilﬁﬂtﬁﬁnb ZiREEEZ
METE 3,947 6,819
Income tax expenses/(credit) FriSMBEs, (&%) 93 (5,598)
16. DIVIDENDS 16. g8

The board of directors does not recommend the payments
of any dividend in respect of the year ended 31 March 2022
(2021: nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M B RRNEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 EiE —L - " =H=+—HIFFEZ

17. LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the
following data:

Loss ]

Loss for the year attributable to the
owners of the company for the
purpose of basic and diluted loss per
share

Weighted average number of ordinary Bt E S E A L E#EEIEN

shares for the purpose of basic
and diluted loss per share

BBRINE T

Diluted loss per share for the years ended 31 March 2022
and 2021 are the same as the basic loss per share. The
computation of diluted loss per share for the years ended
31 March 2022 and 2021 does not assume the Company’s
outstanding convertible notes since the assumed conversion
of convertible notes would result in a decrease in loss per
share.

RLUGtESRER KB EEERN
RABHEA NEBILEARIE

17. EREE

ERBEEANEBEERELARBEERR
THRBUTBURETE

2022 2021
—_E_— g2 —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
(41,729) (72,946)
Number of shares
ing B

‘000 ‘000

FH TR
4,055,350 4,055,350

BE-Z-__FR-_FB-—%=78

—t+—HLEFE SREBEHEEESRKRE
AEBEBEE BHRBER TR BRRERR
ENSREER D WSt EH8aE T
FRIZBI—F=-A=+—HILFEZ
SRESHEBIES AR HEARIR
Z ARG R o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M B RRNEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiE_—LF - _—F =F=+—HIFFZ

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

18. ME -BERRE

Leasehold Furnitures Office Motor
improvements Machinery  and fixtures equipment vehicles  Site offices Total
HEMELEE WE  HEAREE MARE B OMEBHAE L
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET FET FET FET FET FET
Cost E'ZZK
At 1 April 2020 “ETZENA-H 2,677 74,532 3,067 10,765 44,587 15,225 150,853
Additions RE - 2,624 119 19 8,783 = 11,645
Disposals HE - - - - (3,240) - (3,240)
Transfer fom right-of-use assets BRI BEREEE - - - - 941 - 941
Exchange differences ERESE 47 - - 26 - - 73
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 A2 E‘ﬁ‘+ A
RZE-_-FMNE—H 2,724 77,156 3,186 10,810 51,071 15,225 160,172
Additions AE - 3,378 262 436 2,447 - 6,518
Disposals e (2,622) = (107) (782) (2,086) - (5,597)
Transfer fom right-of-use assets ~~ BEBFEEREE - - - - 1,600 - 1,600
Exchange differences ERER 22 - - 13 - - 9
At 31 March 2022 RZE__F=zA=+—-H 80 80,529 3,341 10,477 53,032 15,225 162,684
Accumulated depreciationand R HTERHE
impairment
At 1 April 2020 R ZEZSEMA—H 2,611 60,360 2,866 10,083 33,308 15,218 124,446
Depreciation charge for the year Emﬁgﬁ'ﬂﬁ 74 9,387 192 514 5,167 7 15,341
Eliminated on disposals HERHH - - - - (3,064) - (3,064)
Transfer from right-of-use assets ~ BRBERAELE - - - - 287 - 287
Exchange differences EREH Q) - - 25 - = 24
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 RZZEZ—%
ZB=+-8k
“2”-fNB-H 2,684 69,747 3,068 10,622 35,698 15,225 137,034
Depreciation charge for the year ERTERS - 5,297 87 203 5,180 - 10,767
Eliminated on disposals HERHE (2,622) - (107) (780) (1,612) - (5,121)
Transfer fom right-of-use assets ~ BEBFEHREE S - - - 534 = 534
Impairment loss for the year FRRESS - 1,429 - 47 4 - 1,517
Exchange differences ERESR 18 - - 13 - - 31
At 31 March 2022 RIBZZF
=A=+-H 80 76,473 3,038 10,105 39,841 15,225 144,762
Carrying amount BREfE
At 31 March 2022 RZE-”"#=A=+-H - 4,056 303 3n2 13,191 - 17,922
At 31 March 2021 RZBZ-F=A=1+-H 40 7,409 128 188 15,373 - 23,138

During the year, the Group carried out a review of the
recoverable amount of those property, plant and equipment.
These assets are used in the Group’s performance of
provision of civil engineering services reportable segment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M

I

For the year ended 31 March 2022 EZE — T~ —#F=H=+—HIFFEZ

18.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Impairment assessment

The management of the Group concluded there was
indication of impairment and conducted impairment
assessment on recoverable amounts of certain property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets with carrying
amounts (before impairment) of HK$19,439,000 (2021:
HK$23,138,000) and HK$3,975,000 (2021: HK$3,978,000),
respectively.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the recoverable
amounts of the property, plant and equipment and right of
use assets have been determined based on their fair value
less costs of disposal. The Group uses direct comparison
to estimate the fair value less costs of disposal of the assets
which is based on the recent transaction prices for the
assets adjusted for nature and conditions. The fair value
measurement is categorised into Level 3 fair value hierarchy.
Certain assets were impaired to their recoverable amount and
the impairment of HK$1,517,000 (2021: HK$2,872,000) has
been recognised in profit or loss within the relevant functions
to which these assets relate during the year.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the recoverable
amount of the relevant assets has been determined on the
basis of their value-in-use and fair value less cost to disposal.
That value in used calculation uses cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by the directors covering
a five-year period with a pre-tax discount rate are 17.25% and
18.80% for provision of civil engineering services and media
and advertising business respectively. The annual growth rate
beyond a five-year period used is 2.5% for both segment. The
assumptions of annual revenue growth rates are determined
based on expectation for the market development and is
not expected to exceed the average long-term growth rate.
Other key assumptions for the value-in-use calculation are
the budgeted gross profit and operating expenses, which is
determined based on the recent performance.

18. MIE -BERRE (@

AT

rEBEEBRABNRRBAEETRE
i EREE CRLERD) 2 5#319,439,000
BT (T -—4F 23,138,000 7T) &
3,975,000 7T (ZZ2Z—4F | 3,978,00078
7T) WETYE -BEREEURERRE
BENAWESEEET T RET G

REBEE_E__F=RB=+—HILEFE"
ME-MEREZEUREREEE 2 I
CEEBBEEAFERHEREKET -
AEBENREENTBERZER FHE
BRUEBCAMGSEEN A FERBERE
TR M E R ETRE AFEFE
DEABBE=MBRATEER ETEEERH
EEHOUWE+%E 1,517,0008 T (ZF
——%:2,872,00087T) HNEEERERN
ZEEEMBINEZIBm PR -

BE_ZE-_—F=-—B=+—HILFE A
MEENTKEEELREEAEBEK
NFERHEERAEE - ZEREBEEFE
DAMIEREIARATIERBEREBRES
ERERERESHENRE R FHM
MBEENRERETER BRRATITIRE
#17.25%%18.80% ° %= i 28 3 i L S HA
BREENFIERER25% FWRIERE
ENRZILRIETIZEBEIREE B
TEBATHRPERX - FHEEHE
NE—EEXTERZLAEMNRKERZTE
B iR RARIREE o
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 B ZE_—F_— —fF=F=+—HIFFZ

19. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

252 CNC HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021/2022

Cost:

At 1 April 2020

Additions

Transfer to property, plant and
Equipment

Exchange realignment

At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021

Additions (note (i)

Disposal

Transfer to property, plant and
Equipment

At 31 March 2022

Accumulated depreciation and
impairment

At 1 April 2020

Charge for the year

Transfer to property, plant and
Equipment

Impairment loss for the year

Exchange realignment

At 31 March 2021 and
1 April 2021

Charge for the year

Disposal

Transfer to property, plant and
Equipment

At 31 March 2022

Carrying amount
At 31 March 2022

At 31 March 2021

B :
RZERZEFMA—H

//J\\E

BEENE -BERRE
ERREE
RIEZ—F=A=1+—Hk
ZZ”-FNA-H

RE (M)

HE

BEENE BERRE

RIEZZF=RA=+—H
RHTERRE

A _E_EFNA—H
FEREY

BEENE -BERRE

EMRERR
ERRE

—£=ZR=+t-HkK
—FmA—H

\—7—

EW%i

HE

BEENX BERRE
oy ey e =

IREfE
RZE-Z#=R=+—-H

{_E_—F=A=+—H

P

19. FRAEEE

Assets related

to television

Leased Motor broadcasting
properties vehicles  Machineries business Total

HERER

£BEMZ
HEME ER e BE 4@t
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET FET FET FET
8,932 2,541 - 4,809 16,282
896 - - - 896
- (941) - - (941)
128 - - - 128
9,956 1,600 - 4,809 16,365
- - 4,480 - 4,480
(9,060) - - (4,809 (13,869)
- (1,600) - - (1,600)
896 - 4,480 - 5,376
4,469 340 - 2,366 7,175
3,193 441 - 1,742 5,376
- (287) - - (287)
2,171 - - 701 2,872
123 - - - 123
9,956 494 - 4,809 15,259
- 40 505 - 545
(9,060) - - (4,809 (13,869)
- (534) - - (534)
896 - 505 - 1,401
- - 3,975 - 3,975
- 1,106 - - 1,106




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2022 EiE —L - " =H=+—HIFFEZ

19. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued) 19. FAEE &

2022 2021

T == 3

HK$’000 HK$'000

FAET FAET

Expenses relating to short-term leases B RAFRHITE S 2 B~ 220 309
Total cash outflow for leases (note (i) FEEIRE R HAREE (B5#0)) 4,499 7,977
Addition to right-of-use assets (note (i) & E BB & (K1) 4,480 896

Note () Amount includes payments of principal of HK$4,171,000 e WHESReEHEagAS
(2021: HK$7,492,000) and interest portion of HK$108,000 A4,171,0008 T (Z2Z—F .
(2021: HK$176,000) of lease liabilities and short-term lease of 7,492,000 75) R F B Z D™=
HK$220,000 (2021: HK$309,000). 108,000 70 (& ——4F : 176,000/
70) U A2 AR E220,0008 T (ZF

Z—4F 1 309,00057T) °
Note (i) Amount includes right-of-use assets resulting from hire Kizth): BE_E-__F=B=+—HLEE

MR EEBHRELENER
BEE (CE-—F HEYH -

purchase of machinery (2021: leased properties) for the year
ended 31 March 2022.

REE > AEEBEETHAEME A
THFHKL#ES APRAH1ERE2E (T
T —F 20 BB E106F) - FHEERTY
REREERERE BESBERRIGER G
o RETHEBRIERIHESBAENE
ER AEEEAGHANERLETER
Al 58 B AT AR

During the current year, the Group leases certain office
premises, certain motor vehicles and machineries with lease
term of between 21 months to 2 years (2021: 20 months to
10 years). Leases terms are negotiated on an individual basis
and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions.
In determining the lease term and assessing the length of the
non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a
contract and determines the period for which the contract is
enforceable.

BREEARAENEEEERN RS DI
HEEWZRL ERINEAEMZE - HEE
ERPIsE B BIFE M-

The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other
than the security interests in the leased assets that are held
by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as securities for
borrowing purpose.

BB Z 5F 1B MY 5E 181K EE o

The impairment assessment are disclosed in Note 18.

hEFESRIZERARAS 2021/2022 £k 253



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiE_—LF - _—F =F=+—HIFFZ

20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS BIEE

Cost
At 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021,
1 April 2021 and 31 March 2022

Accumulated amortisation and impairment
At 1 April 2020

Amortisation for the year (Note 10)

Impairment loss for the year (Note 21)

At 31 March 2021, 1 April 2021
and 31 March 2022

Carrying amount
At 31 March 2022

At 31 March 2021

Intangible assets represent television broadcasting
rights acquired by the Group. The useful life of television

broadcasting right is 10 years.

Due to the continuous loss making in the television
broadcasting business for previous years, the directors of
the Company assessed the recoverable amount of intangible

assets as at 31 March 2021.
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R_EZEFMA—B
“ET—F=B=+—H-
“ET—FNA—HK
TEF=RB=+—H

R 5K R (A
‘\TE-BEmA—A
£ Py SN (H72210)
R BRI (H3221)

RZE_—F=HA=+—H~
_ET—FWBA—HK
_E__F=R=+—H

IREE
R-ZE-_-_&#=H=+—H

RTET—F=RA=+—H

HRBEFES
B ARBREFENE
= t—HZEFEERREER

Television
broadcasting
Right
EREME
HK$ 000
FAET

567,000

541,005
18,316
7,679

567,000

B EERAERFMREZ BRERE-
BRENEZ A ERERSTF-

BRENERTERSEB
RN _E - —F=1



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2022 EiE —L - " =H=+—HIFFEZ

20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

21.

The directors of the Company reassessed the recoverable
amount of the intangible assets at 31 March 2021 and
determined that an impairment loss of approximately
HK$7,679,000 was recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year
ended 31 March 2021.

The recoverable amount of intangible assets was assessed by
reference to the value-in-use calculation.

IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets have been allocated for impairment
testing purposes to the cash-generating units of television
broadcasting business (“television broadcasting CGU”).

The directors of the Company have appointed an independent
valuer to perform a business valuation on the television
broadcasting CGU containing intangible assets which was
acquired from the business combination of Xinhua TV Asia —
Pacific Operating Co., Limited (“Xinhua TV Asia-Pacific”)
during the year ended 31 March 2012.

20.

21.

BREE (&
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=t+—BZEEEEWEIREE WHEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiE_—LF - _—F =F=+—HIFFZ

21. IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON INTANGIBLE ASSETS 21. S ERERAR @

(Continued)

For the purpose of impairment testing, the carrying amounts of
television broadcasting right (included in intangible assets set
out in Note 20) before impairment loss, have been allocated to
the television broadcasting CGU are as follows:

Television broadcasting right BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2021, the recoverable amount
of television broadcasting CGU has been determined on the
basis of value in use calculation and is based on certain key
assumptions. The value in use calculation is based on cash
flow projections prepared from financial budgets approved by
the directors of the Company covering a 5-year period and
a discount rate of 18.80%. Cash flows beyond the 5-year
period are extrapolated using a growth rate ranged of 2.5% for
different countries and the growth rate does not exceed the
average long-term growth rate for the industry. The discount
rates used reflect specific risks to the segment.

For the years ended 31 March 2021, an impairment loss of
approximately HK$7,679,000 was recognised in respect
of intangible assets. In the opinion of the directors of the
Company, the main factor contributing to the impairment loss
was due to the adverse change in the market of the media and
advertising business.
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2021
B
HK$'000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BIRRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2022 EiE —L - " =H=+—HIFFEZ
22. JOINT OPERATIONS

Details of investment in joint operations as at 31 March 2022
and 2021 were as follows:

Name

B8

Hsin Chong Tsun Yip Joint
Venture (DC/2012/04)
# S 2 HHE(DC/2012/04)

Hsin Chong Tsun Yip Joint
Venture (DC/2012/07)
B EEKE(DC/2012/07)

Hsin Chong Tsun Yip Joint
Venture (DC/2012/08)
i &3 X K& (DC/2012/08)

Hsin Chong Tsun Yip Joint
Venture (5/WSD/13)
#EJEEHE(5/WSD/13)

Hsin Chong Tsun Yip Joint
Venture (CV/2015/03)
B EEKE(CV/2015/03)

Hsin Chong Tsun Yip Joint
Venture (CV/2016/10)
B E X HE(CV/2016/10)

Place of operation
EEmE

Unincorporated joint operation
operating in Hong Kong
REBEEZFBEESELRE

Unincorporated joint operation
operating in Hong Kong
REBEEZFBEEGELE

Unincorporated joint operation
operating in Hong Kong
REREEZIFBEEAEhE

Unincorporated joint operation
operating in Hong Kong
REBEEZFBLFESELRE

Unincorporated joint operation
operating in Hong Kong
REBEEZFBEESELE

Unincorporated joint operation
operating in Hong Kong
REREEZIFBEZEAE X

22, L%

== —

ER-ZB-—HFZA=+—

—_<

HREEREZKREFBUT

Attributable interest

to the Group
FEEEGED
2022 2021
e "%
N/A 40%
M
N/A 43%
TER
N/A 43%
TER
N/A 17%
M
43% 43%
49% 49%

Principal activity

FEXH

Civil engineering

TARTRE

Civil engineering

N

Civil engineering

TARTIRE

Civil engineering

TARTRE

Civil engineering

N

Civil engineering

TARTIRE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R MTEERRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiE_—ZF - =F=+—HIFFZ

22. JOINT OPERATIONS (Continued) 22, FETE B

Attributable interest

Name Place of operation to the Group Principal activity
LY SE A FEEEGED TEXH
2022 2021
—E-C “ET—fF
Harvest-Tsun Yip Joint Venture  Unincorporated joint operation 49% 49%  Civil engineering
(ND/2018/02) operating in Hong Kong
B —EEHEND/2018/02) NEASEZFEEIEGERE TATE
Paul Y-Tsun Yip Joint Venture  Unincorporated joint operation 95% 95%  Civil engineering
(4/WSD/19) operating in Hong Kong
RE—EEHEA/WSD9 NRERSEZERLIERERE TATHE
Paul Y-Tsun Yip Joint Venture  Unincorporated joint operation 20% 20% Civil engineering
(CV/2019/04) operating in Hong Kong
RE—FEEHECV/2019/04) NEBEEZEBLIERERE TARTRE
Note: oz
Pursuant to the terms of the joint agreements, the profit sharing for each BIESEMEZIET LiiFfEAShESFES
year of all joint operations listed herein above shall be distributed to the BADEERKREREaE MGz ERtEf 2T

joint operators in proportion to their respective interests. ERGER -




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2022 EiE —L - " =H=+—HIFFEZ

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 23. B R HEMEWIRIE

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FAET

Trade receivables (Note (i) B 5 WA (Ba20) 82,645 31,557
Allowance for ECL R E ER 1B EE (3,348) (11,792)
79,297 19,765

Other receivables (Notes (iv)) HhFEWGRIE (7722 (v)) 698 5,229
Deposits b 6,759 5,088
Allowance for ECL (Note (i) TERR{E B 518 1E (00 aE(i) (150) 97)
7,307 10,220

Prepayment (Note (i) FEITFRIB (B (i) 37,662 38,731
124,266 68,716

Notes: Htat :

()  Trade receivables as at the end of the reporting period mainly

derived from provision of construction works on civil engineering

contracts. The related customers are mainly government

department/organisation and reputable corporations. The Group

does not hold any collateral over these balances.

An aging analysis of the trade receivables as of the end of the

reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of allowance of

ECL, is as follows:

) MRBREPRZEZFEBRBTIZREEM
ITARTREGHZEBEATRE - HEEFEES
BUNEEFT, B REERF 2 X -AER
T EMZ S BRI A AR me

B 5 EWEIE (CINRRTREIE B R ) B
EREPRRBLERAMAZREDRUOT

2022 2021

s B —F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FAET FAET

Current to 1 month BIHEAZE11E B 68,040 19,765
1 to 3 months 1E318H 11,257 -
79,297 19,765
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GREMBHRRIE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiE_—ZF - =F=+—HIFFZ

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) 23. B REMEBKRIE @)
Notes: (Continued) BiaE : (#8)
)  (Continued) 0 &
The Group grants an average credit period of 30 days (2021: 30 AEEBESHIREZEFAEEFH0H
days) to its trade customers of contract works. Application for (T2 —F 1 30H) 2B -aNITREE
progress payments of contract works is made on a regular basis. EXMIEREETHHET
Movements in the allowance for ECL of trade receivables: BN IBE s B 1EEEEE)
The following table shows movement in lifetime ECL that has been TREIRBEBCENE S EHRIBRER
recognised for trade receivables in accordance with simplified 2 2HRTERRE B 1EEE -
approach.
HK$'000
FET
At 1 April 2020 RIE-ZFME—H 11,866
Allowance for ECL, net TEHE ERIEEE 38 (74)
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 RIZE_—&F=B=+—HK
—E_—FHA—H 11,792
Allowance for ECL, net TERREEREEEE  F5E 707
Write-off £ (9,151)
At 31 March 2022 W2 —_F#=B=+—H 3,348
Detalils of assessment of ECL are set out in Note 39. TEHRE B R IE s s B S MIEE39 0
(i) As at 31 March 2022, prepayments mainly comprised of advance iy MIZTZZHFE=ZA=+—H 'BIREXE
payment to subcontractors of approximately HK$31,162,000 BIEADBEE I ZBREA31,162,0008 7T
(2021: HK$31,966,000). (= —£ 31,966,000/ 7T) °

IMITED ANNUAL R




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M B RRNEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 EiE —L - " =H=+—HIFFEZ

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(iijj Movements in the allowance for ECL of other receivables and
deposits:

The following table shows movement in 12m ECL that has been
recognised for other receivables and deposits in accordance with
general approach.

23. BR REMEBURIE (&)
Wizt : ()

(i) EtENRFBEREE BREEEGRERE
2/

TREHRE—ARE B H M WCRIE R 3%
B Z12EABREEREEH -

12m ECL

12188

BHEERE

HK$'000

FHET

At 1 April 2020 RIZZEZEFMA—H -

Allowance for ECL, net FBHAEEREEE  F5E 97

At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 R_BE_—F=A=+—HK

B —FMB—H 97

Allowance for ECL, net TERRE ERs1REE > $RE 53

At 31 March 2022 W_E - _F=H=+—H 150
Details of assessment of ECL are set out in Note 39. TEHRE BR 1B 2 s s BB MY 5E39 0

(iv) As at 31 March 2022, the other receivables mainly comprised
of amounts due from other partners of joint operations of
approximately HK$40,000 (2021: HK$4,418,000). The amounts are
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

vy RIZZZH=ZB=+—H > HtEKRHKIE
ZERERREECENEMSEB R
TE#940,00058 7T (ZE Z—£ © 4,418,00078

T0) e ZEFIERIEIF - R EREEREE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M B RRNEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiE_—LF - _—F =F=+—HIFFZ

24. CONTRACT ASSETS/CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Contract assets:
Retention receivables
Allowance for ECL, net

Contract liabilities:

Construction work

Contract with customers from
advertising income

Note:

ANEE:
ERFRES
RHIEEBRERE P

anaRE:
BETRE
ERBESBAEHN

At 1 April 2020, contract assets amounted to HK$9,238,000.

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group’s rights to consideration

for work completed but not yet billed because the rights are conditional

on the satisfaction of the service quality by the customers over a certain

period as stipulated in the contracts at the reporting date. The contract

assets are transferred to trade receivables where the rights become

unconditional. The contract liabilities primarily relate to the advanced

consideration received from customers, for which revenue is recognised

based on the progress of the provision of related services.

The balance of contract assets (provision of civil engineering service) are

expected to be recovered/settled more than one year.
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24. BMNEE EHER

2022 2021
—E-C B —F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
25,272 16,586
(514) (6,178)

24,758 10,408
63,653 61,038
1,575 1,575
65,228 62,613

Mzt -

RIZZTFNA—H 5XEER9,238,0007%

JT ©

BHNEETERAEENBENEBHRERER
WIZMEERNEZENER REASNEREE
HERMENESERRANREN —EHRBRY
REERRTMERS AR - ERMASERE
B ANEEBREEZRKRE-a0aE
TEERFTRWEHNAMKRERR Hiltm/H 1R

HIRHAER R REE R

BNEE BHELIATRERY 2EHREAR—F
ELEIVS



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2022 EiE —L - " =H=+—HIFFEZ

24. CONTRACT ASSETS/CONTRACT LIABILITIES 24. SHNEE SHNaE @
(Continued)
Note: (Continued) W& (8
Contract assets and contract liabilities which are expected to be RN AEREEEEBBPRE S8 E
recovered/settled within Group’s normal operating cycle, are classified as HNEERGHNBEEDEARE -
current.
Movement in the allowance for ECL of contract assets B EEFRIE B REEZE8)
The following table shows movement in lifetime ECL that has been TREIIBRIBHICEMENEERD 22 HATEH
recognised for contract assets in accordance with simplified approach. EE/BEEE-
HK$'000
FAET
At 1 April 2020 RZE-TEmA—H 6,085
Allowance for ECL, net FEHAEEREEE  F5E 93
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 R_BE_—F=A=+—HK
—E_—FHA—H 6,178
Allowance for ECL, net FEHAEEREEE  F5E 149
Write-off b6} (5,813)
At 31 March 2022 R -H#£=H=+—H 514
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiE_—LF - _—F =F=+—HIFFZ

24. CONTRACT ASSETS/CONTRACT LIABILITIES 24. ENEE EAHNEE’ B

25.

(Continued)

Note: (Continued)

Mzt (&

The following provides information about contract liabilities from contract

with customers:

At 1 April
Revenue from construction work recognised
that was included in the contract liabilities
balance at the beginning of the year
Revenue from advertising income
recognised that was included in
the contract liabilities balance at
the beginning of the year
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of
advance from customers during the year
Revenue from construction work
recognised during the year
in respect of advance received

At 31 March

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

PROFIT OR LOSS

Listed securities:

RHEA—H

REPINA SN EEEERE
REBEBNERIEZ
Wz

REPFAGHEREER
REEEBESEAZ Y

FRAERBRMER
GREEEN

FEATLPTURER RIS R B B E TR
Pl g

R=R=+—~H

LM

— Equity securities listed in Hong Kong — iR &8 £ 2 laassg 5

The fair values of the listed securities are determined with

reference to the quoted market bid prices available on the

Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
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UTHAZERENNEHNERZER !

2022 2021
—s=-= s
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
62,613 63,302
(60,786) (58,200)

- (3,275)
288,251 77,121
(224,850) (16,335)
65,228 62,613

2022
—E-HF
HK$’000
FET

25 FEBEmBATEARZERNEE

2021

=

e

HK$'000
THT

4,800

EHRBEZATFENDZEETEBHERS
FRERARMKzMHEEABMERE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2022 EiE —L - " =H=+—HIFFEZ

26. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 26.

27.

Bank balances carry interest at market rates which range from
0.001% — 0.30% (2021: 0.001% — 0.30%) per annum.

As at 31 March 2022, the cash and cash equivalents of
the Group included currencies denominated in Renminbi
amounted to approximately HK$600,000 (2021:
HK$3,991,000) which is not freely convertible into other
currencies.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 27.

Trade payables B ENRIB

Retention money payables ESRE &

Amounts due to a shareholder FEN —S R ERFRIB (Ha2())
(Note (i)

Interest payables (Note (i) FESFIE (B 2%0)

Amount due to a related party FE—RBAEATRIE
(Note (iii)) (B2 3i))

Other payables and accruals Hh &S ZUB K fE 517U
(Note (iv)) (Hiz#v))

Less: payables within twelve months & - BB EIE FFR~ER+ 2

shown under current liabilities 188 WFERT =18

Interest payables shown under non-  FEREIE(EIE FEIRERFE

current liabilities

ReE kAT EFEY

BT R E T IR E R E A F0.001%E
0.30% (ZF=—4F : 0.001%%E0.30%) £t
=1

MN_E__F=RB=+—H XxEHZIR
ERBEEEYVEREUARKAEZE
& 49600,00078 7T (Z & ——£ : 3,991,000
B HAR T BEHRREEME K.

B2 REMESTRIE

2022 2021
—E-= —E-
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
56,326 9,948
19,488 9,113
24,587 23,337
70,399 63,724
2,009 2,009
44,526 46,807
217,335 154,938
(217,335) (150,018)

- 4,920
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M B RRNEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiE_—LF - _—F =F=+—HIFFZ

27. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continueq)

Notes:

(i) Amount due to a shareholder represents amount due to a major
substantial shareholder of the Company, China Xinhua NNGC, in
respect of annual fee for television broadcasting right, carriage fee
payment and satellite transmission fee which is unsecured, interest-
free and repayable on demand.

(i) Interest payables represented interest of promissory note
and convertible notes of approximately HK$6,271,000 and
HK$64,128,000 (2021: HK$4,920,000 and HK$58,804,000)
respectively. As at 31 March 2022, the Company had default in
repayment of principal amount of convertible notes of approximately
HK$257,030,000 and interest thereon of approximately
HK$64,128,000.

(i) Amount due to related parties represented amount due to Fr#E
SFERHP0. HESZEFL and China Xinhua NNC which have a
common shareholder, Xinhua News Agency (#r#£4t) . The amount
is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

(iv)  As at 31 March 2022, the other payables mainly comprised of
amounts due to other parties of joint operations of approximately
HK$12,316,000 (2021: HK$10,161,000). The amounts were
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

The Group normally settles trade payables within 30 days
(2021: 30 days) credit term. Based on the invoice date, ageing
analysis of trade payables at the end of the reporting period is
as follows:

27. BEREMEMRIE (&
Mz -

) EN—BREREENEREREFE R
NERERFEERBRNT—REART T
EREPEMFENEERBZNIE ZNA
AEIRF RERBRERER

(i) EARSIERREER A BREEENTE
R4 %6,271,00078 70 5264,128,00078 7T
(ZZ——% : 4,920,000 7T 558,804,000
BT RIBEZZE=ZB=+—H"%&
ABEBHXREBEIBRBRERLASEN
257,030,0007% 7t K EL ] £ 464,128,000
oG

(i) FESRREALRIBEEROMESGROZ
TIBMES G ORREMENEBRE
ZHARRSHEL - ZRERERT R
BRIGERERE-

vy RIZZEZZE=ZRB=+—H> HtEML™
BEXrEORENEEEXEENEMSHEE
HFIEL12,316,0008 T (B - —4% ¢
10,161,000 7T) - ZEFIEBEIEH R
BB RER -

AEE—HRNI0E (CTE-—F:300) =~
EEHRNBEEBZENRIE RIEHE
B SREHAR B 5 BT IEMER B AT d
T

Current to 1 month BPHRE1E A

1 month to 3 months 188 E3E A
3 months to 12 months EEE12ER
More than 12 months iBid12(8 B
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2022 2021
T =T —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
32,142 9,027
21,389 117

237 250

2,558 554
56,326 9,948




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M B RRNEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 EiE —L - " =H=+—HIFFEZ

28. LEASE LIABILITIES

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied to
lease liabilities range from 2.35% to 5.25% (2021: 2.07% to
5.20%). The Group has options to purchase the equipment
for a nominal amount at the end of the lease terms. No
arrangements have been entered into for contingent rental
payments.

Lease liabilities payable:

28.

HERR

BERREESENMEFISIEEERF]
ENF2.35%FE5.25% 2 B (ZE_—%F !
2.07%%E5.20%) - NEBEBREMRFAERI
LESEBERE IERIABESLAR
FIRAGR GRSz

BAEEEaR:

Present value of

Within one year

More than one year but not exceeding

two years

Less: Future finance charges

Present value of lease obligations

Less: Amount due for settlement
within 12 months shown
under current liabilities

Amount due for settlement after
12 months

—ER
BE—FEFEEME

B RRBERX

HESAEZRE

ﬁ'm@ETETW?
R+ZEANEIH
nnﬁz g

pt=

BR®BEBEE 2 TE

Minimum lease payments

minimum lease payments

RIEHEEMRR REREMRZRE
2022 2021 2022 2021
“E--& C-B--§ C-B--fF "Z--&
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FAET
2,782 3,418 2,648 3,371
1,239 190 1,221 189
4,021 3,608 3,869 3,560
(152) (48) - -
3,869 3,560 3,869 3,560
(2,648) (3,371)
1,221 189

The net carrying value of leased assets used to secure the
lease obligations was approximately HK$3,975,000 (2021:
HK$1,106,000).

ARIEBEESESEINHEEEENRT
FEA 53,975,000 (ZCEZ—F ¢
1,106,0005 7T) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiE_—LF - _—F =F=+—HIFFZ

29.

30.

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Annual leave entitlement FREF
Long service payments entitement £ HAARFS SR

PROMISSORY NOTE

A promissory note with a principal amount of HK$45,040,000
was issued by Profit Station Limited (“Profit Station”), a direct
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company on 11 August 2011
(the “Issue Date”) upon the completion of the acquisition of
17% of equity interests in China New Media (HK) Company
Limited. The promissory note is unsecured, carried interest at
the rate of 3% per annum and matured on 11 August 2014.
Profit Station might early redeem all or part of the promissory
note at any time from the Issue Date. Unless previously
redeemed, Profit Station will redeem the promissory note on
its maturity date.

On 11 August 2014 (the “Renewal Date”), Profit Station has
entered into an extension agreement with the noteholder of
the promissory note pursuant to which the maturity date of
the promissory note was extended from 11 August 2014 to
11 August 2017 and the extended promissory note will be
non-interest bearing with effect from 11 August 2014 till 11
August 2017. Furthermore, the noteholder has agreed to
waive the interest accrued on the promissory note amounting
to approximately HK$4,054,000 for the period from 11 August
2011 to 11 August 2014. Except the abovementioned,
other terms and conditions of the promissory note remains
unchanged.
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20. EEEF

2022 2021
—E= = —EF—F
HK$’000 HK$000
FAET FAET
6,088 3,901

1,502 1,737

7,590 5,638

30. AREE

KRBz BEE2ENE A BProfit Station
Limited (I Profit Station ) ¥ & ——F
NBE+—8 (FETaH)) TR EFRE
MER (B8) BRABZ17T%R AR
BT AT EEA45,040,0008 T2 AR E
BoAREHRABRITIF - REHEIEE
RRZE—HENB+—HEIH - Profit
Station®] R 1T BB E AR EIZ AT B
B2 NI D AR EE FRIEZRIE W E
[3] » 5 BlProfit Station#& 3 H | #5 B #& [5] 7%
REE-

RZZ2—MFENA+—8 (EHBEH) -
Profit Station#E A REEZZEFEALE
STUERERE B AR EHE 2 EIH
HEZZ—OHFENB+—HEEEZZ
—tENB+—H BRIERZEARE
BEEE_Z—OENB+—HREE_Z
—tENB+—HIERE o Ilt4h EiRE
EAERERRRARERE _T——%F
NB+—HE_Z—HWNENB+—HEH
R E £ 2 F B 494,054,00078 7T © b £ 4t
BN AR BT 2 HMIER R ARG ERT

o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M

I

For the year ended 31 March 2022 EZE — T~ —#F=H=+—HIFFEZ

30.

PROMISSORY NOTE (Continued)

On 15 December 2017 (the “Second Renewal Date”), Profit
Station has entered into the second extension agreement
with the noteholder of the promissory note pursuant to which
the maturity date of the promissory note was extended from
11 August 2017 to 31 December 2018 and the extended
promissory note will bear interest of 3% per annum with
effect from 11 August 2017 till 31 December 2018. Except
the abovementioned, other terms and conditions of the
promissory note remains unchanged.

On 15 February 2019 (the “Third Renewal Date”), Profit
Station has entered into the third extension agreement with
the noteholder of the promissory note pursuant to which
the maturity date of the promissory note was extended from
31 December 2018 to 30 June 2020 and the extended
promissory note will bear interest of 3% per annum with
effect from 11 August 2017 till 30 June 2020. Except
the abovementioned, other terms and conditions of the
promissory note remains unchanged.

On Third Renewal Date, the fair value of the liability component
of the extended promissory note was reassessed and
calculated using an equivalent market interest rate for an
equivalent instrument at the Third Renewal Date. The fair value
of the extended promissory note at the Third Renewal Date
amounted to approximately HK$43,101,000. The fair value
is calculated using discounted cash flow method at a rate of
9.707%.

On 9 March 2021 (the “Fourth Renewal Date”), Profit
Station has entered into the fourth extension agreement with
the noteholder of the promissory note pursuant to which the
maturity date of the promissory note was extended from 30
June 2020 to 30 June 2022 and the extended promissory
note will bear interest of 3% per annum with effect from 11
August 2017 till 30 June 2022. Except the abovementioned,
other terms and conditions of the promissory note remains
unchanged.

30. KREE &

R_E2—tHF+-_B+EH ((FZRE
¥ EHA)) > Profit StationEd& R EiE » E4E

BEABR LS - RERTGZE  HBHIL - K
REBZIRHE - T—CtENA+—
AERE_T-N\F+_HA=+—H'8
RIERZAREBERE _E—tEN\A
+—HEEZ-N\F+A=+—H
IERFF)RIE B bR EHEIN R T
Bz MR TR B AR M R o

RZE—AE_A+HEH(E=REHA
HA1) > Profit Stationf2 A& R EK > ZIRIFHE
ANBSTNE=RIERWHZE HIL > ARE
BZIHBPEE - N\F+BA=+—
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ABTUBENRIERRZE  IRIL AR E
BZIARBE S _SEA=1+H%E&
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiE_—LF - _—F =F=+—HIFFZ

30. PROMISSORY NOTE (Continued) 30.
On Forth Renewal Date, the fair value of the liability component
of the extended promissory note was reassessed and
calculated using an equivalent market interest rate for an
equivalent instrument at the Fourth Renewal Date. The fair
value of the extended promissory note at the Fourth Renewal
Date amounted to approximately HK$45,491,000. The fair
value is calculated using discounted cash flow method at a
rate of 10.18%.
At 1 April rHAE—H
Loss arising on extension of ERAREBELZER
promissory note (Note 8) (H1z28)
Interest charged at effective interest R EBEFFR.707EstHE 2
rate of 9.707% (Note 12) MBS HaE12)
Interest charged at effective interest R EBEEFF10.18EtHE 2
rate of 10.18% (Note 12) MBS HaE12)
Interest payables FEAH B
At 31 March W=B=+—H
31. CONVERTIBLE NOTES 31.

ARTE @

REMNXAEHHR CERZARERZ
BEBDPZAFEREEREMEERT
MEBTRAZEEMBAMNEEGRFTE-
BIERZAREBEZ AFERENRE
¥ HERA4945,491,0008 70 ° A FEETH R
BRI RE A MU10.18% 2 T IRE T
Ho

2022 2021
—E-HF B —F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FET
44,584 44,658

= 451

= 719

1,716 107
(1,351) (1,351)
44,949 44,584

On 9 December 2011, the Company issued convertible notes
with the principal amount of approximately HK$607,030,000,
carried interest at the rate of 5% per annum as part of the
consideration for the acquisition of Xinhua TV Asia Pacific
Operating Co., Limited. Each note entitles the holder
to convert to ordinary shares at a conversion price of
approximately HK$0.196 per share.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 EZE — T~ —#F=H=+—HIFFEZ

31.

CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continued)

Conversion may occur at any time between 9 December 2011
and 8 December 2014. If the notes have not been converted,
the Company will redeem on 9 December 2014 at the
outstanding principal amount. Interest of 5% per annum will
be paid annually until the notes are converted or redeemed.

On 9 December 2014, the Company entered into the first
supplemental deed with China Xinhua NNC pursuant to which
the Company and China Xinhua NNC agreed to amend certain
terms and conditions of the convertible notes, where (i) the
maturity date of the convertible notes will be extended for 3
years and the conversion period will accordingly be extended
for 3 years to 9 December 2017; and (i) the interest rate of the
convertible notes will be amended from 5% per annum to 3%
per annum for the extended period, being from 9 December
2014 to 9 December 2017.

On 13 December 2017, the Company entered into the second
supplemental deed with China Xinhua NNC, the sole holder
of the outstanding convertible notes, pursuant to which the
Company and China Xinhua NNC agreed to amend the term
and condition of the convertible notes, where the maturity date
of the convertible notes will be extended for 1 year and the
conversion period will accordingly be extended for 1 year to 9
December 2018.

31. mlifg

Rig @)

AMREREIN _Z——F+_-ANA
EZ-ME+ZAN\BHEABERR
BMoERERZTH XA RN T
—E+ZANHBORTEEAERE -5
FORZMERBARFEXN BEEHER
Al {EI

A —
\—7

—NE+ZANH AR EFAE
MEMBEBRBI LS —HHRTRE
BItARBEAPEFEREBSEARE
BT IR BIR 2 B TR AU 5+ E
(WFREFEZIHERIERIF BR
MEAERIERIFEZZ—tFE+ AN
B RiERBEHEE -Z—-ME+"AA
HEZZ—t&+ANR) ZA#HBKE
BZHERASFEEI AEEIE-

RIZ—t&+ZHB+=H " AATEH
RRBARERE—FH APRRE
HMEBRETILE AR FILA

AR EPEFEREERBREET
MR BB 2 AR » HR B R &

Z M ARER1E > BRI EE
RIFE"Z-/\F+ZANB-
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 B ZE _—F_— —fF=F=+—HIFFZ

31.

CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continued)

On 9 December 2018, the Company entered into the third
supplemental deed with China Xinhua NNC, the sole holder
of the outstanding convertible notes, pursuant to which the
Company and China Xinhua NNC agreed to amend the term
and condition of the convertible notes, where the maturity date
of the convertible notes will be extended for 2 years and the
conversion period will accordingly be extended for 2 years to
9 December 2020.

On 25 January 2021, the Company entered into the fourth
supplemental deed with China Xinhua NNC, the sole holder
of the outstanding convertible notes, pursuant to which the
Company and China Xinhua NNC agreed to amend the term
and condition of the convertible notes, where the maturity date
of the convertible notes will be extended for 1 year and the
conversion period will accordingly be extended for 1 year to
9 December 2021. Except the abovementioned, other terms
and conditions of the convertible notes remain unchanged.

On 9 December 2021, the Company had default in repayment
of principal amount of convertible notes of approximately
HK$257,030,000 and interest thereon of approximately
HK$64,128,000.

The convertible notes contain two components, liability
component and equity component. The equity component
is presented in equity heading “convertible notes equity
reserves”. The effective interest rate of the liability component
is 10.795% from 9 December 2018 to 9 December 2020
and 11.27% from 9 December 2020 to 9 December 2021
respectively.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 EiE —L - " =H=+—HIFFEZ

31. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continueq)

Equity component at 1 April 2020,
31 March 2021, 1 April 2021 and
31 March 2022

Liability component at 1 April 2020
Interest charged calculated at an effective
interest rate of 10.795% (Note 12)
Interest charged calculated at an effective
rate of 11.27% (Note 12)
Modification on extension of
convertible notes (Note 12)
Interest payables

Liability component at 31 March 2021 and
1 April 2021

Interest charged calculated at an effective rate of
11.27% (Note 12)

Interest payables

Liability component at 31 March 2022

31. AR TE @

R-E-EFW™B—A-
—E-—F#=H=+—H8-
“E_—-FMUA—BAK
—_E__F#=HA=+—Hz
EmEn

RIE_ZEFNMB—HZ8EHD
HERAE10.75EHECFEML
(Hfzt12)
BERMNRM27TEE 2 BHEX
(Ht5£12)
EETIER TR EZE (HaF12)

SREIPS)

A TEBE—F=ZA=+—Ak

— T —FOA-RZARHD
BRERANZ127TEFEZHERAX
(Hraz12)
FEAIAE

WIE-_-_#=B=+—HZ2
=L

HK$'000
FAET

14,400

242,990
19,350
5,887

(16,925)
(7,697)

243,605

18,749
(5,324)

257,030
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 B ZE _—F_— —fF=F=+—HIFFZ

32. DEFERRED TAXATION 32, IRIEFRIE
The followings are the deferred tax liabilities recognised in iR & B FS AR T R N B AR IERIBER
the consolidated statement of financial position and the RESBUT .

movements thereon:

Accelerated  Allowance
Intangible  Convertible depreciation for expected

assets notes allowances credit losses Total
xR E BHEE
BVEE THRERER B HiERE st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TAT TAT

At 1 April 2020 RoE-TEMA—A 4,289 981 2,657 (124) 7,803
(Credited)/charged to profit or loss FRPER GtA) /0%

for the year (Note 15) (B7:215) (4,289) (981) (551) 124 (5,697)
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 RIZ2Z-F=A=1+—-HBk

_Z_-FMA-H - - 2,106 - 2,106

Credited to profit or loss for the year (Note 15)  ERIMBZ A (Hi215) = = (125) - (129)
At 31 March 2022 RZE__#=ZA=+-H - - 1,981 - 1,981
At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused REREHR A&EE ﬁﬂi@]ﬂﬂﬁ IHE5 18
tax losses of approximately HK$214,737,000 (2021: ##3214,737,0008 7T (ZTEZ—F 1 4
approximately HK$190,816,000) available for offset against 190,816,000 7T) T%T’F?&fﬁ_ﬁtﬁﬁﬁﬁ
future profits that may be carried forward indefinitely. No AR 7 R AR E ) o FRA SR 2R E 1 2 R B LA
deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the tax TEA O L iR I A IR SR R IEE
losses due to the unpredictability of future profits streams. Eo
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 EiE —L - " =H=+—HIFFEZ

33. SHARE CAPITAL 33. &7
Ordinary shares of HK$0.001 each FIRE(E0.0018 Tz L@
Number of Share
shares capital
i 8 g 7s
HK$'000
FAET
Authorised: ERE -
At 1 April 2020, R _ZEMA—H
31 March 2021, —_BE_—F=A=+—H"~
1 April 2021 and “E—HFE—HK
31 March 2022 B "HF=RA=+—H 500,000,000,000 500,000
Number of Share
shares capital
KRiH&E fig 2
HK$'000
FAET
Issued and fully paid: BETRERE
At 1 April 2020, RN_ZZZFMHA—H-
31 March 2021, _E_—F=H=+—H"
1 April 2021 and —E_-FMA-AK
31 March 2022 B _F=HA=+—H 4,055,349,947 4,055
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34. RESERVES 34. f#fE
The following describes the nature and purpose of each TXHEE A PR E#ENEE
reserve within owners’ equity: KRB :

Reserve

&t

Share premium

iR E

Foreign currency translation
reserves

SN E R

Other reserves

Hthf# R

Accumulated losses

KEtEEE

Capital reserves

EENEL

Description and purpose

i pud=1:)

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the share premium
account of the Company is distributable to the shareholders provided that
immediately following that date on which the dividend is proposed to be
distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its debts when they
fall due in the ordinary course of business.

REREEEARE AABIRM GEAIH K TIRE  ERERIKTR
BZHEA®  RARBREHS M HBEBBRERIRNERS

Foreign currency translation reserve represents foreign exchange differences
arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations.
The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the accounting policy set out in
note 4.

SMEM B R EIERE RN ER BB RMEL 2 INEER ELR &
EIRBRMI A8 2 G 5T R R IE

Other reserve of the Company represents the difference between the
consolidated net assets of the subsidiaries at the date on which they were
acquired by the Company and the nominal amount of the Company’s shares
issued for the acquisition at the time of the Reorganisation.

RABINEMBEEIENBASRAATINEZHNGEEEFEEAR
BN BRI EE T ZRONEEZESR-

Cumulative net losses recognised in profit or loss.
REmPRRZ Rt E R

The capital reserve of the Group represents the additions during the year
represent the injection of additional paid-up capital by the shareholder.

FEENEFTFBIEERNRE  ERRFHZEINIEREETE
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35. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM 35. i EZEIEEX 2 B EHE
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Lease Promissory Convertible Interest
Liabilities note notes payables
(Note 28) (Note 30) (Note 31) (Note 27) Total
HEaE AREE TRRER FEFIS 4t

(Hrit28) (H:#30) (ms231) (Mst27)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT FHT FET FET

At 1 April 2020 RZEZZFENE—H 10,156 44,658 242,990 54,676 352,480
Cash outflow: ReRd
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEAR (7,668) - - - (7,668)
Other non-cash movements: HitJERE 25
Addition of lease liabilties NERESR 896 - = = 896
Loss arising from extension of LERARERELZ
promissory note (Note 8) 818 (32s) - 451 - - 451
Modification on extension of EETER AR EE
convertible notes (Note 31) (Hfz31) - - (16,925) = (16,925)
Interest expense FEMZ 176 826 25,237 = 26,239
Interest payables RIS = (1,351) (7,697) 9,048 =
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 RoB-—%
=A=+—-Bk
—E_-F@mA—H 3,560 44,584 243,605 63,724 355,473
Cash outflow: REME .
Repayment of lease liabilities EBEHREER (4,279) - - - 4,279)
Other non-cash movements: HitJERE 25
Addition of lease liabilities HEMESAE 4,480 S = = 4,480
Interest expense (Note 12) FERX (7t12) 108 1,716 18,749 = 20,573
Interest payables RS - (1,351) (5,324) 6,675 =
At 31 March 2022 poE-—%
=B=+-H 3,869 44,949 257,030 70,399 376,247
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36.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) was adopted pursuant to a resolution passed
at a board meeting held on 11 August 2010 for the primary
purpose of providing incentives or rewards to participants for
their contribution to the Group. The Share Option Scheme
expired on 10 August 2021. Under the Share Option Scheme,
the Board may grant options to the Directors, employees,
non-executive Directors, suppliers of goods and services,
customers, advisors and consultants, shareholders or any of
its subsidiaries for the primary purpose of providing incentives
to them, to subscribe for shares in the Company with the
payment of HK$1 per offer.

The total number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the Share Option Scheme is not permitted
to exceed 10% of the Shares of the Company in issue at the
date of listing of the Shares unless the Company obtains the
approval of the Shareholders in general meeting for refreshing
such 10% limit, in which case the total number of Shares in
respect of which options may be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company as “refreshed” shall not exceed 10% of the total
number of Shares in issue as at the date of the approval of
the Shareholders on the refreshment of the limit. The number
of Shares in respect of which options may be granted to
any individual in any one year is not permitted to exceed 1%
of the Shares of the Company in issue at any point in time,
without prior approval from the Company’s Shareholders.
Options granted to substantial shareholders or independent
non-executive directors in excess of 0.1% of the Company’s
share capital or with a value in excess of HK$5 million must be
approved in advance by the Company’s Shareholders.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 EiE —L - " =H=+—HIFFEZ

36. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT (Continueq) 36. UM ABRRBRZHH @)

Options granted must be taken up within 21 business days
of the date of grant, upon payment of HK$1 per each grant
of options. Options may be exercised in whole or in part by
the grantee (or his legal personal representatives) at any time
before the expiry of the period to be determined and notified
by the board to the grantee which in any event shall not be
longer than ten years commencing on the date of the offer
letter and expiring on the last day of such ten-year period
subject to the provisions for early termination as contained in
the Share Option Scheme. The exercise price is determined
by the Directors and will not be less than the highest of the
closing price of the Shares on the Stock Exchange on the date
of grant, the average closing prices of the Shares on the Stock
Exchange on the five trading days immediately preceding the
date of grant of the options or the nominal value of the Shares.

All share-based employee compensation will be settled in
equity. The Group has no legal or constructive obligation to
repurchase or settle the options other than by issuing the
shares.

During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, no share
option was granted, exercised, expired or lapsed and there is
no outstanding share option under the Share Option Scheme.

RENBRERN L BHEFT21EE
FHNERS TARSRIELERES
BT EEA (REEZEEEREAN)
AREFEEERBNAKRANEE (B
A NS RN B 2R M4 B ES +
FURRZ+EHRENRER—BER I
5 B8 AR T 5t B P SRV IR A 48 L 1R SCPRT AR
PR) & Al 2 R ATEZ A E D
BRE-THEEREFERE > L AER
WF=Bz&E%E | RiPNEL BT
RFTFTERZ W E ; RN BRBRER
HEA AR5 BEBFRPIRZ F
BWHE ; SikmHZEE

PRA LR 10 72 B BE ST % 2 (B & %7 B R 51
Ao BRETRMIN AEB L EER
EEHEESERR S TERE

BE_ZT__HFK_FT-_—F=H1
—t+—HLEFE BEBEREERH E
T BERMBEAN BEERESETE T
BERITEZ B

hEFESRERARAS 2021/2022 £k 279



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M B RRNEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiE_—LF - _—F =F=+—HIFFZ

37. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, during the years ended 31 March 2022 and
2021, the Group had entered into the following transactions
with related parties which, in the opinion of the directors, were
conducted on normal commercial terms and in the ordinary
course of the Group’s business.

(@ During the year, the Group entered into the following (@)

related party transactions:

ERIN
Gho B E
=+—HIEFE AEEARESE 1L
TRG  EERRZERZTVRIERERE
FIRMEI I TR AEE B EEHBIET
170

37. EXRAERRS

HEMBREEMBOMMKES

TECTERE-—HF=1

FRAEETUNTRAELRS !

Related party relationship
RAE 75 R

China Xinhua NNC

Type of transaction
RAER

Annual fee for television

broadcasting right (note (i)

AR HT T E AR A BREBEEE W/20)

Accrued interests on convertible
notes

PIHR RIRZ FEETH] 2

Notes:

0} Pursuant to the agreements signed between the Group and
China Xinhua NNC on 5 September 2011, China Xinhua
NNC granted the television broadcasting rights to Xinhua
TV Asia-Pacific for the period form 1 September 2011 to
31 August 2021 on an exclusive basis with an annual fee of
HK$1,000,000 payable by Xinhua TV Asia-Pacific to China
Xinhua NNC prior to 31 December 2016, and HK$3,000,000
payable by Xinhua TV Asia-Pacific to China Xinhua NNC with
effect from 1 January 2017. The transactions constituted
continuing connected transactions under the GEM Listing
Rules. This transaction is exempted for reporting.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 EiE —L - " =H=+—HIFFEZ

37. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

38.

(Continued)

(b) Compensation of key management personnel of the
Group

The key management personnel of the Group are the
directors of the Company. Details of the remuneration
during the year are set out in Note 13.

(c) For the transactions constitutes continuing connected
transactions under the GEM Listing Rules, please refer to
“Connected Transactions” under “Directors’ Report”.

NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the additions to
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities were approximately
HK$4,480,000 (2021: HK$896,000 in respect of lease
arrangement of leased properties) in respect of lease
arrangements of machineries.

37. EXMELRS &

38.

b) FEETZEEASHM

FEETEEEAEBRTRTES-
FAMEEF BRI EE13

© BARIEMGEM EMRAIIE T HFER
BREZZERS F2REFE
WEINRIER5Z ]

FRERH

BE_ZE"F-A=+—HLLFE 3
R EBELTHAEZEAREEREE
5{&E# 44,480,000 (T2 —F ' 3t
MEMERELTH 2 EAREEREE
& 1&7896,00058 7T) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR M B R M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiE_—ZF - =F=+—HIFFZ

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Categories of financial instruments

Financial assets EMEE
Amortised cost (including cash ~ # i 4s (BiEIRE K
and cash equivalents) REZEY)
Financial assets at FVTPL FBBERRATFEARZ
TREE
Financial liabilities TRafR
Amortised costs B A

39. EMIA

(a) ERITALER

2022 2021
—F-— BT
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
129,164 107,136

— 4,800

129,164 111,936
530,773 452,325




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2022 EZE — T~ —#F=H=+—HIFFEZ

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 39. £ T A #&)

(b) =FLEFEEIEB KRB

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Company’s major financial instruments include
trade and other receivables, deposits, financial assets
at FVTPL, cash and cash equivalents, trade and other
payables, employee benefits, promissory note, lease
liabilities and convertible notes. Details of the financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments include
market risk (currency risk, interest rate risk and other
price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies
on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management manages and monitors these exposures
to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner.

(i) Credit risk management

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable
to its trade and other receivables, deposits,
contract assets and cash and cash equivalents.
Management has a credit policy in place and the
exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an
ongoing basis.

Ongoing credit evaluation is performed on the
financial condition of trade customers and, where
appropriate, credit guarantee insurance cover is
purchased. Normally, the Group does not obtain
collateral from customers.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the carrying amounts of the recognised
financial assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

APNBZETESRHTAGEES M
HtEWHIE - EBBEEHEA
FEARZEMEE -RERAEE
B B REMEMRIE -EER
M EARER - HEEERTBREE
BozEeMTAZFENRAERMMEE
igE-HZEEm T EBBEZ Rk
@%ﬁ%m&CﬁﬂWwﬂ%H%
REMERRAR - EERRKRE
B AR R ZER ﬁz&%#
XHH - BIEEHZERRETEE

ER BRUAKERZAAETT
BEEEN

() EEEBRERE

rEBZEERREIERBE
%&ﬂ@%%mﬁﬁmimﬂ
BEEURRERFEEEEY -E
ERERILEEBR LHFER
EPTEENZEFEERR -

AEEGHEZZTRHNMHR
METHEEEN L LEERE
EfEmRERRE (BA) - — &M
B AERTELDEFRSFHRR

=]
on °

AEBZEERBITESRES
FERRRFIRERRETHE
EZIREEMEE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiE_—LF - _—F =F=+—HIFFZ

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(M)

Credit risk management (Continued)

The default risk of the industry and country in which
customers operate also has an influence on credit
risk but to a lesser extent. At the end of reporting
period, the Group has a certain concentration of
credit risk as 61.87% (2021: 38.69%) and 93.35%
(2021: 51.79%) of the total trade receivables was
due from the Group’s largest customer and the five
largest customers respectively.

The Group applies the simplified approach to
provide for ECL prescribed by HKFRS 9, which
permits the use of the lifetime ECL provision for all
trade receivables and contract assets. To measure
the ECL, trade receivables and contract assets
have been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics. The Group has performed historical
analysis and identified the key economic variables
impacting credit risk and ECL. It considers available
reasonable and supportive forwarding-looking
information.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and
other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-
up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In
addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amount
of each individual debt at the end of the reporting
period to ensure that adequate impairment losses
are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard,
the directors of the Company consider that the
Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.
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39. EMTH #®

(b) =REMGEEBNRBE &

(M

FEEEEE (#7)

ERARESMATERBER 2B
WRERBRTHEERRBFTE
EBERERN - RFEHER > &
EEH61.87T% (ZE_—F:
38.69%) 593.35% (&~ —
F151.79%) B FENRIE4EEE
DRKRBAEBERATERARE
AEF WEET—EEFRZEE
BB o

FEBERBER EZMERY
B EERFORFT B2 ARG
BB REE ZEAARFM
FRERKRESMRERGNEE
EREHBRMEEBIREE A
StERMEERE BB SR
MRENEBEECENHREE
ERBREOHE ~EBBEETE
e MR R EE E R K
RHEEHEEZBREESR
ERETEABSAERBEERX
RZREEER

mEENEEERAR AEEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M B RRNEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 EZE — T~ —#F=H=+—HIFFEZ

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 39. £ T A #&)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(b) EREREEENKREE &

(i) Credit risk management (Continued) (i) EEREEE (&)
As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, trade receivables N _E T TERE—F=
and contract assets that are individually significant A=+—8 > 28ENBEKR
have been separately assessed for impairment. BERERWNTBELRENEEETT
The Group make periodic assessments on the BIOREFN G AEBERERER
recoverability of the receivable based on the HNESRBE BELEHELBRK
background and reputation of the customers, B 1 45 By T AR AT A FE WU IR BY
historical settlement records and past experience. B U [E]4 o
Trade receivables B ZENIE
At 31 March 2022 W-E-—#=A=+—H
More than
3 months but Total
Current to 1to3 less than More than carrying
1 month months  12months 12 months amount
e SEAMULE
18R 1E3BF BOMM2EA 12BBULE REESE
HK$000  HK$000  HKS$000  HK$000  HKS$000
FET FET FET FET FET
ECL rate BHEEFRER 0.4% 6.8% = 100% 4.1%
Gross carrying amount IREEE 68,331 12,075 - 2,239 82,645
Lifetime ECL SYEBEEER (291) (818) (2,239) (3,348)
68,040 11,257 = = 79,207
At 31 March 2021 A B —F=A=+—H
More than
3 months but Total
Current to 1103 less than More than carrying
1 month months 12 months 12 months amount
RS 3EEUL
1188 1E3EA BLORM2ER  12BBMLE  REEEE
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET FET FET FET
ECL rate EHELEHER 2.0% = = 100% 37.4%
Gross carrying amount ARER% 20,167 - - 11,390 31,557
Lifetime ECL ZHBHEEEA (402) = = (11,390) (11,792)
19,765 - = = 19,765

hEFESRERARAS 2021/2022 ik 285



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M B RRNEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiE_—LF - _—F =F=+—HIFFZ

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

39. EMTH #®

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

(i) Credit risk management (Continued)

Contract assets

At 31 March 2022

ECL rate
Gross carrying amount
Lifetime ECL

At 31 March 2021

ECL rate
Gross carrying amount
Lifetime ECL

RHEERREER
REBE
2HIRHEERE

RHEEREER
REBE
2HIRHEERE
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(b) =REMGEEBNRBE &

() GEEREEE (&)
EREE
RZE_"_#=HB=+—H
More than
3 months but Total
Current to 1to3 less than More than carrying
1 month months  12months 12 months amount
BPEAE 3EAMNL
18R 1E3@BF BOMM2A 12BBMULE IREESE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FE FET FE
2.0% - - - 2.0%
25,272 - - - 25,272
(514) - - - (514)
24,758 - - - 24,758
R_ET_—F=B=+—8H
More than
3 months but Total
Current to 1to0 less than More than carrying
1 month 3 months 12 months 12 months amount
BHE MEAM L
18Aa 1Z23ER BORM2ER  12@BMLE  REEEE
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET FET FET FET
1.9% - - 100% 37.2%
10,610 - - 5,976 16,586
(202) - - (5,976) 6,178)
10,408 - - - 10,408




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2022 EiE —L - " =H=+—HIFFEZ

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 39. £ T A #&)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) ERAMREEENRER (&
(Continued)
EEEREERE (&)

(i) Credit risk management (Continued) (i)

Amounts due from other partners of joint operations

The Group regularly monitors the business
performance of the joint operations. The Group’s
credit risks in these balances are mitigated through
the value of the assets held by these entities and the
power to participate or jointly control the relevant
activities of these entities. The management believes
that there are no significant increase in credit risk
of these amounts since initial recognition and the
Group provided impairment based on 12m ECL.

Other receivables and deposits

For other receivables and deposits, the directors of
the Company make periodic individual assessment
on the recoverability of other receivables and
deposits based on historical settlement records,
past experience, and also quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportive forward-looking information. The
expected credit loss rate for other receivables and
deposits is 2.0% (2021: 0.9%). The management
believes that there are no significant increase in
credit risk of these amounts since initial recognition
and the Group provided impairment based on 12m
ECL.

WS E R EAMS (EBHA
v

rEEEHERGEREZE
BRR - AEEBEBZEEEM
FEEBEKRZREYHRFIZER
ZESERMERMEE 2 E BIE
AEBRZSEHRZEERR
BEERS  BYHRERURK
ZETRZEERRY EKNIE
BN R AL B A28 B AT
EEBESHERERRF-

BithERHERIZEE

MEMBWRIERIZEMS &
NEEZRBATEELHE B
ARBURBEEREERENAE
MENNEERTEERN  HE
7 & W R 1B e ¥ & B9 7] [B] UK 1%
TEHAE 1T B 51 - H A EULR
EBEhZEzNEREEREXS
2.0% (CE-—F:09%) - E1E
BR7% > BHEHERUR ZFE
S E 2= E R I A IS 1 0
EAEEEM12EABHES
B8R R E R o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiE_—LF - _—F =F=+—HIFFZ

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(M)

(ii)

Credit risk management (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Credit risk on cash and cash equivalents is limited
because the counterparties are reputable banks
with high credit ratings assigned by credit agencies.
The Group assessed 12m ECL for cash and cash
equivalents by reference to information relating to
probability of default and loss given default of the
respective credit rating grades published by external
credit rating agencies. Based on the average loss
rates, the 12m ECL on cash and cash equivalents is
considered to be insignificant and therefore no loss
allowance was recognised.

Liquidity risk management

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management,
including the short term investment of cash
surpluses and the raising of loans of cover expected
cash demands, subject to approval by the parent
company’s board when the borrowings exceed
certain predetermined levels of authority. The
Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of
funding from major financial institutions to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.
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39. EMTH #®

(b) =REMGEEBNRBE &

(M

(ii)

FEEEEE (#7)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2022 EiE —L - " =H=+—HIFFEZ

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 39. EMTH #@)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) ERAMREEENREEK (&)
(Continued)
(i) Liquidity risk management (Continued) (i) FTEETEGEE (1)
The tables below summarise the maturity profile of TRIBBESLREIERIEH M
the Group’s and the Company’s financial liabilities KEBRARBEHEENR T
at 31 March 2022 and 2021 on contractual E T TEE_EZ—F=8
undiscounted payments: =+—HZEHER:
Weighted Total Total
average On Less than 3to 12 Over undiscounted carrying
interest rate demand 3 months months 1year  cashflows amount

RERRE
INREFITHIR #EX L3R 3E128A BdE  RENE REESR
%  HKS000  HKSO0O  HKS000  HKSO00  HKS000  HKS000
FET TET TET FET FEn TET

At 31 March 2022 RZEZZ£=B=+-H
Trade and other payables BRREMELTIE - 135,249 62,934 - 19,488 217,671 217,335
Lease libilties HEER 5.11% - 762 2,020 1,239 4,021 3,869
Promissory note ERZH 10.18% - 45,040 - - 45,040 44949
Convertible notes TRREE 3.0% 257,030 - - - 257,030 257,030
Employee benefits EERF - 7,590 - - - 7,590 7,590
399,869 108,736 2,020 20,727 531,352 530,773

At 31 March 2021 RIBZ-F=A=+-H
Trade and other payables B 5 REMERFE - 56,397 9,048 58,804 29,789 154,938 154,938
Lease liabilties RESE 2.12% - 1,540 1878 190 3,608 3,560
Promissory note ARZE 10.18% - - - 45,040 45,040 44584
Convertiole notes HREE 11.27% - - 257,030 - 257,030 243,605
Employee benefits EEEF - 5,638 - - - 5,638 5,638
62,035 11,488 317,712 75,019 466,254 45,305
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M B RRNEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiE_—LF - _—F =F=+—HIFFZ

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(iii) Interest rate risk management

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk for
changes in interest rates to the Group’s cash at
bank, convertible notes, promissory note and
lease liabilities. The Company manages the risk by
regularly evaluating its cash flows when sufficient
funds are available.

Interest rate profile
The following table details interest rates analysis that

the directors of the Company evaluate its interest
rate risk.

39. EMTH #®

(b) =REMGEEBNRBE &

(iii) 7l FE 5 fE &

7 £ [ (A R X 8 8 m ER A9 A
KEBREFERRTRS A
KREB -EARRBERIEEEER
oA RBNEERERBBE
ML HESRENEERE

FIE(EH

TEHREADEETEEF
=@ FIE S o

Financial liabilities ERaE
Fixed rate borrowings & B &=

- Lease liabilties —HEAa®E

~ Promissory note —ERRIE

- Convertible notes — AR R
Financial assets EMEE
Floating rate assets EREE

— Bank balances —iRITHEER

2022
———

— ——

Effective

interest rate

BRH=
(%)

2.35-5.25
10.18
3.00

0.001-0.3

2021
g%

Effective

interest rate

BIRH =
HK$'000 (%) HK$'000
FET FHT
3,869 207-5.20 3,560
44,949 10.18 44,584
257,030 11.27 243,605
42,560 0.001-0.3 66,743
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2022 EiE —L - " =H=+—HIFFEZ

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 39. £ T A #&)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) ERAMREEENRER (&
(Continued)
(i) FIFEREELE ()

(iii) Interest rate risk management (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 March 2022, it is estimated that a general
decrease or increase of 100 basis points in interest
rates, with all other variables held constant,
would increase or decrease the post-tax loss by
approximately HK$426,000 (2021: HK$667,000).
There is no impact on other components of equity.

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
assuming that the change in interest rates had
occurred at the end of the reporting period and had
been applied to the exposure to interest rate risk
for non-derivative financial instruments in existence
at that date. The 100 basis point decrease or
increase represents management’s assessment of a
reasonably possible change in interest rates over the
period until the next annual balance sheet date. The
analysis is performed on the same basis for 2021.

HREZ T

A CE T _HF=HA=+—H 14
FHAIEEEE T E D EF100EE

BERT BB EIERIE MR
0 #9426,0008 7T (T2 —F
667,000 70) o B EHERNE
thEs D EEFE-

NESREDTERRMKE
HENMS KRB EMEE > I
BEEANMZEFMEH KRB
TEERMIAZAERER 100
BERRMLDRIEMIEEERES
EET—EEEEEAHEZ
RO BEGIEEE Z 5T (o DA
DRE_CZ - -—FHRZEE
#To
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiE_—LF - _—F =F=+—HIFFZ

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 39. EMTH #&)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) EREAMREEENRER (&
(Continued)
(iv) E%/mpbE

(iv) Currency risk

The group entities collect most of the revenue and
incur most of the expenditures in their respective
functional currencies. The directors consider that
the Group’s exposure to foreign currency exchange
risk is insignificant as the majority of the Group’s
transactions are denominated in the functional
currency of each individual group entity.

The Group currently does not have a foreign
exchange hedging policy. However, the
management of the Group monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign exchange exposure should the
need arises.

As HK$ is pegged to USD, the Group does not
expect any significant foreign currency exposure
arising from the fluctuation of the HK$ to USD
exchange rates. As a result, the directors of the
Company consider that the sensitivity of the Group’s
exposure towards the change in foreign exchange
rates between HK$ to USD is minimal and no
sensitivity analysis is presented.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2022 EZE — T~ —#F=H=+—HIFFEZ

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 39. £ T A #&)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) TRAKREEENKREBE &
(Continued)

(v) Other price risk (v) BhE%EE

The Group is exposed to equity price risk mainly
through its investment in listed equity securities
measured at FVTPL. The management manages
this exposure by maintaining a portfolio of
investments with different risks. The Group’s equity
price risk is mainly concentrated on equity securities
quoted in the Stock Exchange. In addition, the
management of the Company monitor the price risk
and will consider hedging the risk exposure should
the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been
determined based on the exposure to equity price
risk at the end of the reporting period.

If the equity price had been 5% higher/lower, post-
tax loss for the year ended 31 March 2021 would
decrease/increase by approximately HK$240,000
as a result of the changes in fair value of financial
assets at FVTPL.

AEBFTEFZBNEBERR
NRFEBEBARNETRAEZSZ
&ﬁAHﬁRkEHQOMﬁF
BERFIAERRBZREMAS

ME@%@HMOKEEZ%E

B ETBERRBIMKRES
BAFES LI RABEEE
ERERAER TR ERER
EBIER RS Ho

BT

TXZHEREDRTLERRS
HAIRFAER ZREBRARMETE

MIRELEH TH5% BIEZE
—E_—F#=ZRA=+—BHLt*=E
EZHREEBEBRL 18N
#9240,00078 70 Th AR BB 1R
HEAFEARZEREEZ
NEEZEFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GREMBHRRIE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiE_—ZF - =F=+—HIFFZ

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 30. M T H #@
(c) Fair value of financial instruments (c) EMITAZAFE

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are THEEREREBECATEDEZ

determined as follows: LIT#RIEE -

e The fair values of financial assets and financial o EBEBEREEMRTKLBEELNIERE
liabilities with standard terms and conditions and THEEBECESHEERESHME
traded on active markets are determined with B IhRRB2EMRMEERE
reference to quoted market bid prices and ask REREBTEAFE.

prices respectively.

e The fair values of other financial assets and financial e HeMmEBEEKRETMEE (KT8
liabilities (excluding those described above) are g 2 AFELREER
determined in accordance with generally accepted BRIRIBEREDMZ ZEBHEM
pricing models based on discounted cash flow EBEAEE -

analysis.




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ra B IRRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2022 EiE —L - " =H=+—HIFFEZ
39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(c) Fair value of financial instruments (Continued)
Except as detailed in the following table, the directors

of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of
financial assets and financial liabilities recognised in the

39. EMTH ®

(c) EMIRZATEE

PRI RFIFILESIN  FATEED

= RERE

MHBRERPEDZEME

EkcMBEZREERZE AN FE

consolidated financial statements approximate to their HBE
fair values:
2022
k- etk
Carrying
amount Fair value
REE ATE
HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FET
Financial liabilities oA =R
Promissory note AT EE 44,949 50,462
Convertible notes GIE eSS 257,030  N/ARER

2021
T —F

Carrying

amount Fair value

RAEE NYE
HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

44,584 45,504
243,605 246,082
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M B RRNEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiE_—LF - _—F =F=+—HIFFZ

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(c) Fair value of financial instruments (Continued)

Fair value measurements recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position

The following table provides an analysis of financial
instruments that are measured subsequent to initial
recognition at fair value, grouped into Level 1 to 3 based
on the degree to which the fair value is observable:

e |evel 1 fair value measurements are those derived
from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities;

e |evel 2 fair value measurements are those derived
from inputs other than quoted prices included within
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived
from prices); and

e |evel 3 fair value measurements are those derived
from valuation techniques that include inputs for the
asset or liability that are not based on observable
market data (unobservable inputs).

At 31 March 2021

39. EMTH #®

(c)

ETMIAZATE &

HREEMBER TR PERZ 2 TE

HE

TR P ERBRATES
EZEMIT AN WREBEEATE
BREREDRE—EF=MA

« F-RUATEHEDLEED
BRAFNEEREEZRE Gk

REEREE)

* FIMAALFEFEDFAE
—RAZzREUNSNTERE (BNH
B iz GURBER) &
EXBEIRENBAEN &

s F=ZMHALAFEFEREBERE
i JE D) #8215 R A B bR
ZEEHBBERAER (FAH
ZNMABR) NEESE

R-E_—5=ZA=+—H

Financial assets at FVTPL FREREATEARZ
SREE

Level 1
F—RA
HK$'000

T

4,800

Level 2 Level 3 Total
BRI B4R Wt

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET FET

- - 4,800
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2022 EiE —L - " =H=+—HIFFEZ

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 39. £ T A #&)

(c) Fair value of financial instruments (Continued) (c) EMIAZATE &

Fair value measurements recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position
(Continued)

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period. The following
table gives information about how the fair values of these
financial assets are determined (in particular, the valuation
techniques and inputs used).

Fair value as at

RUATHEBHZATE

31 March

Financial assets 2021
BT —F

EMEE =B=+—H
Financial assets at FVTPL Listed equity
securities in

Hong Kong:

- HK$4,800,000

EBRERBRATEARZ REELTHN
ETRMEE EAFE S
—4,800,0007 7T

There were no transfers between Level 1, 2 and 3 for
both years.

HREEMBER TR PERZ 2 TE

HE (@

AEEROEMEELIREHAR
ZATEF B TREIARUME
EZSTMEEATEZEN (LH
EFFRAZEER ERBARE)

Fair value Valuation techniques

hierarchy and key inputs

NEEER BEAFEREEHAZBE

Level 1 Quoted bid prices in an active
market

B—HRA! EEBTMIBFRNEAEB

RWmEEE > $— 5 _HBE=HR5
Z [ EE A o
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiE_—LF - _—F =F=+—HIFFZ

40. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 40. EXEAGEER

The Group’s objective of managing capital is to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to
reduce cost of capital. The Group’s overall strategy remains
unchanged from prior years.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debts.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt (which
includes lease liabilities, promissory note and convertible
notes, net of cash and cash equivalents) and equity
attributable to the owners of the Company, comprising share
capital and reserves.

The Group’s risk management reviews the capital structure on
a semi-annual basis. As part of this review, the management
considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with
each class of capital.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 EiE —L - " =H=+—HIFFEZ

40. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continueq)

The net debt to equity ratio at the end of the reporting period

was as follows:

Debt (Note (a)
Less: Cash and cash equivalents

Net debt
Equity (Note (b))

Net debt and equity

Net debt to equity ratio

Notes:

&% (i)
# L RERREEEY

B F R Em

(BT P %

(@) Debt comprises lease liabilities, promissory note and convertible
notes as detailed in Notes 28, 30 and 31 respectively.

(b)  Equity includes all capital and reserves attributable to the owners of

the Company.

40. EXREKGEIR (&

REREERZER FEAM R Z LR
T

2022 2021

—E-CHF B —F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FAET

305,848 291,749

(42,560) (66,743)

263,288 225,006

(386,796) (343,193)

(123,508) (118,187)

N/A ~EH N/A ~7E B
Jiigs:

@ EHOEEHEEE ARRBERITBRERE
o 5187 B EIC M EE28 ~ 30531

b REBERBERBERE ABGEERRE
o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF

THE COMPANY

Details of the Group’s subsidiaries at the end of the reporting

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiE_—LF - _—F =F=+—HIFFZ

M. AT EEMELATZEFE

FEEWBATNRE

HARZ5F 1B &7

period are set out below. Mo
Percentage of equity
Place and date interests and voting
of incorporation and power attrlbutable to Nominal value
Name of subsidiary form ofi)usiness structure ﬁ ¥E of issued share capital Principal activities
SRRIHERABNR ztsmmm AR -~
WEAESRE EBRERR BETRFEE TEEH
2022 2021
g2 C =
% %
Directly held
EERE
TYW (BVI) Limited BVI 2 July 2009, limited liability 100 100 United States Dollars (‘US$") Investment holding
company 50,000, divided into 50,000
ordmary shares of US$1.00
gach
TYW (BVI) Limited HBRIHE 7 jﬁtﬂ S0000ET (=) A% REER
B BREERE 50,0005 S A {E1.00% T
2ERER
Shenzhen Qianhai Xinhua TV Cultural PRC, 30 May 2013, limited liability 100 100 Registered and paid up capital of ~ Advertising business in PRC
Development Limited” compal .. RvB30,000,000 o
MR EREERXEEEERAT EFl T——Eﬁﬂ +8» AMRARERARE RAERSEEER
REMAT 30,000,0007¢
Indirectly held
MigEE
Tsun Yip Civil Construction Company Limited  Hong Kong, 16 July 2000, limited 97 97 HK$20,372,000 divided into Provision of waterworks and laying
liability company 20,372,000 ordinary shares of ~ of water pipes
) . ) HK$1.00 each —
RETATRAERAT 58 _ZERELR+RH 20,372,008 77420372000 RETATREERUHKE
BREMAAR %Hﬁﬁ@ﬂ 00ETZER
Tsun Yip Waterworks Construction Company  Hong Kong, 6 February 1996, limited 97 97 HK$26,123,200 divided into Provision of waterworks and laying
Limited liability company 26,123,200 ordinary shares o~ of water pipes
) . . ‘ ‘ HK$1.00 each o
BEKEREBRAT 5B —AAAEZARHE 26,123, Qoo?ém il RETRIRERBRERKE
BERERAT 26,123 200 SR EE
10082 & Lﬁx
Xinhua TV Asia-Pacific Operating Company ~ Hong Kong, 22 December 2009, 100 100 HK$10,000, divided into 10,000  Television broadcasting business
Limited limited liability company ordinary shares of HK$1.00 in the Asia Pacific region
. L . gach _ (excludingthe PRC) ©
MEERDAGEEERAT &8 _FFNELCA 1000087 HA10,000RER REAE MEFERE FEER
Z+ZH BREERE HE100BTZERR ENES
BayTV Network Holdings Limited Hong Kong, 14 May 2010, limited 100 100 HK$10,000 divided into 10,000  Media and advertising business

liability company

&% -3-SERA+MA
ERERLAT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2022 EiE —L - " =H=+—HIFFEZ

41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF 41. AT X EMB AR ZHIE (&

THE COMPANY (Continued)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affect the results of
the assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries
would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of
excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the
end of the year.

Change in ownership interest in a subsidiaries

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group disposed
of 3% of its interest to Tsun Yip Civil Construction Company
Limited and Tsun Yip Waterworks Construction Company
Limited, reducing its continuing interest to 97%. The proceeds
on disposal of HK$1,496,000 were received in cash. An
amount of HK$2,717,000 (being the proportionate share
of the carrying amount of the net assets of Tsun Yip Civil
Construction Company Limited and Tsun Yip Waterworks
Construction Company Limited) has been transferred to
non-controlling interests. The difference of HK$1,221,000
between the increase in the non-controlling interests and the
consideration received has been credited to accumulated
losses.

EERALERFAIAEBZNBARTY
TERELAEREEXRE - EFRR
SIHMIBAB ZHFBEESTRABBINT
Eo

BENB AR ERETEMEHES-

MEBASIFRAEESEES

N_E_—F=RB=+—HIFEE K&
HEHSWHNEZFTEELTATIEAR
NEIREEKBRRERAS]  HEFE
RETREIT % o H E T3 R IE1,496,00078
TTUIREUNER 22,717,000 T (B#EE L
AIRERADREEKBEEFRA
EFEEREAENILLARSG) BEETFIE
YRR 2 o JE 2RI 14 A 2 1 0 B B UREIR AR
B2 BIRZEEE1,221,0008 BN 25 E
1BECAR ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiE_—LF - _—F =F=+—HIFFZ

42. RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLAN 42, BAEFIEHE

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) for employees employed under the jurisdiction of the
Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong
Kong). The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution retirement
plan administered by an independent trustee. Under the
MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are each
required to make contributions to the MPF Scheme at 5% of
the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly
relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the MPF
Scheme vest immediately.

Pursuant to the relevant labour laws, rules and regulations
in the PRC, the Group participates in defined contribution
retirement benefit scheme (the “Retirement Benefit
Scheme”) organised by the relevant local government
authorities in the PRC whereby the Group is required to
make contributions to the Retirement Benefit Scheme at a
certain rate of the standard wages determined by the relevant
authorities in the PRC during the year. Contributions to the
Retirement Benefit Scheme vest immediately.

During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Group
had no forfeited contributions under the MPF Scheme and
the Retirement Benefits Scheme utilised to reduce the existing
levels of contributions. As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, there
was no forfeited contribution under the MPF Scheme and
Retirement Benefit Scheme which may be used by the Group
to reduce the contribution payable in the future years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M B RRNEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 EiE —L - " =H=+—HIFFEZ

43. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

Statement of financial position of the Company

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Investments in subsidiaries

Current assets

Prepayment and other receivables
Amounts due from subsidiaries
Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

Current liabilities

IERBEE
L ENN G YSE g
KRB ARZKE

RBEE

TR TR IA e HL A FE URRIE
FEWL I B A BRI
ReMBEEFEY

MEE

ik 2l

Accrued expenses and other payables f& 5158 5z K E fth & (< 718

Amounts due to subsidiaries
Convertible notes

Net current liabilities

PRSI B A B RIA
QIEEY ES

REBBRFE

Total assets less current liabilities 22 & E R RHAE

43. ZREZ2MFBRR TR E

KABZHABERRE
2022 2021
—E-HF B —F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FEIT
= 47
38,682 41,306
38,682 41,353
3 125
2,935 5,244
7 290
2,945 5,659
41,627 47,012
70,774 64,221
4,631 5,123
257,030 243,605
332,435 312,949
(329,490) (307,290)
(290,808) (265,937)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M B RRNEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiE_—LF - _—F =F=+—HIFFZ

43. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Statement of financial position of the Company
(Continueq)

Net liabilities BEFEHE

Capital and reserves BEXRKEE
Share capital f& s
Reserves G

Total equity AN

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 24 October 2023 and are
signed on its behalf by:

Jiang Yan
=8
Director

EF
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43. ZRBEZ2MBRR TR E @

KABZMHBERRET &)
2022 2021
T B —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
(290,808) (265,937)
4,055 4,055
(294,863) (269,992)
(290,808) (265,937)

EFEgER T =F+AZ+mE#
HERRENEPHRS WAEFIALA
REFERE !

Li Yong Sheng
FkH
Director
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M B R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2022 EiE —L - " =H=+—HIFFEZ

43. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

44,

Movement in the Company’s reserves

At 1 April 2020

Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year

At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021

Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year

At 31 March 2022

RIZZZFEMA—H
FREBRZEHRER

RZE-—F=A=+-Ak
ZZ”-FmB-H

FREEREERRBE

WZEZZ£=R=+-H

43. ZRBEZMBRRERRKHEE (@

TRE 2 #EEES
Convertible
Share Capital  notes equity Other  Accumulated

premium reserves reserves reserves losses Total

HRRE
i E BRfE  BREHE Hitif RitER st
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET FET
1,238,195 2,758 14,400 54,993 (1,563,681) (253,339)
- - - - (16,657) (16,657)
1,238,195 2,758 14,400 54,993 (1,580,338) (269,992)
- - - - (24,871) (24,871)
1,238,195 2,758 14,400 54,993 (1,605,209) (294,863)

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(@)

On 30 June 2022, a promissory note with a principal
amount of HK$45,040,000 issued by Profit Station was
expired. On 31 August 2022, the Company entered into
a supplemental deed with the noteholder of promissory
note, pursuant to which the Group and the noteholder
of promissory note agreed to amend certain terms and
conditions of the promissory note, where (i) the maturity
date of the outstanding promissory note of principal
amount of HK$45,040,000 will be extended to 30 June
2024 and (i) the interest rate of the promissory note was
amended from 3% per annum to 0.5% per annum for the
extended period, being 1 July 2022 to 30 June 2024.

44. REHREE

@ MIZEZZHF/B=1H>Profit
StationPf 8517 2 7 & §8 445,040,000
BRUZAREREER - RNIEZZ
FNB=1+—8 xR 8Bl EATEE
FEANJIImREE gt 7ER
RAREBEFEARRBIIARE
BRE TR R GG HA ()& 28
#45,040,0008 T R EE R R R
RIEREZEZNFAAE=1H &
(IVEEHE B2 __#+tA—H
EIETNEXRB=TH NEARE
BHIERESEINETAEF0L5%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M B RRNEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiE_—LF - _—F =F=+—HIFFZ

44. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
(Continued)

(b) On 5 September, 2023, Mr. Kan, China Xinhua NNC, the
substantial shareholder of the Company and holder of
the Convertible Notes and the Company entered into a
conditional agreement, among other things,

1. the proposed allotment and issuance of a total of
1,666,666,667 subscription shares at the share
subscription price of HK$0.012 per subscription
share to Mr. Kan, a shareholder of the Company
for a total consideration of approximately
HK$20,000,000;

2. the proposed amendments of certain terms of the
Convertible Notes with the holder of the Convertible
Notes, which is also a substantial shareholder
of the Company and proposed issuance of new
convertible notes with the principal amount of
approximately HK$64,128,000 to the holder of
the Convertible Notes, which is also a substantial
shareholder of the Company to set off the
Convertible Notes Interest; and

3. the proposed issuance of new convertible bonds
in the principal amount of HK$16,240,000 to the
holder of the Convertible Notes, which is also a
substantial shareholder of the Company to set off
part of the outstanding balance of the On Demand
Debt.

45. APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 24 October
2023.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
M BLE

A summary of the results and of the financial position of the Group

for the last five financial years, as extracted from the published

audited financial statements, is set out below.

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS
For the year ended 31 March

Revenue 6y

Cost of services R A
Gross (loss)/profit £ /7
Other income HtA

Other (losses)/gains, net
Amortisation expenses

Hit (518) /i 38
Bi#Rx

Selling and distribution expenses HERDHEES

Administrative expenses BB

Impairment loss on intangible assets BREERESE

Impairment of right-of-use assets EREEEMNE

Impairment of property, plant and equipment ME-BRE KRR ERE

Impairment loss recognised in MBS RINIBER 2
respect of trade receivables BERE

Changes in fair value of financial assets BBBHERATEARZ
at fair value through profit or loss ERMEEZ ATEE

Loss from operations SERA

Finance costs MEMA

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HERBREz W&

Loss before income tax PRPrS ARS8

Income tax iR

Loss for the year FREE

Loss for the year attributable to: FELERESE |
—~owners of the Company . YN=i}7Z=PN
-Non-controling interest of the Company —AABFERER

AEEBELBYREEZEERYHFRR
BME - NREEEETHEZEEZHMBHRE &
HIgT o

S
BEZH=+—HIEE

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
ZB-CfE| ZB--& C—Z-EFE  B-AE  ZEN\E
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET FET FET FEzT
408,175 239,233 237,322 324,855 370,515
(417,531) (268,053) (254,858) (321,371) (338,000
(9,356) (28,820) (17,536) 3,484 32,515
4,487 12,374 1,033 450 4,093
(453) ©13) (11,811) 3,032 268

= (18,316) (18,367) (18,594) (19,734)

(770) (770) (770) = (100)
(17,452) (26,005) (24,591) (22,441) (32,101)
= (7,679 = = =

= (2,872) - - -
(1,517) - - - -

= = = = (55)

3,575 2,965 (4,636) (9,123 (1,308)
(21,486) (70,036) (76,678) 43,192) (16,422)
(20,573) 9,314) (28,496) (25,686) (33,331)
= - - - 114
(42,059) (79,350) (105,714) (68,3789) (49,639)
(93) 5,508 4,343 3,576 3,822
(42,152) (73,752) (100,831) (65,302) (45,817)
(41,729) (72,946) (100,831) (65,302) (45,817)
(423) (808) = = =
(42,152) (73,752) (100,831) (65,302) (45,817)

hEFESRERARAS 2021/2022 £ 307



FINANCIAL SUMMARY
Rt #5482

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL POSITION HREMBAR
As at 31 March R=A=+—H
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
ZEICF 2T IZIZF Z-hEF “2-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET FET FET FET
Non-current assets FRBEE 21,897 24,244 61,633 84,229 106,257
Current assets REEE 191,584 150,667 186,821 207,872 180,873
Total assets nEE 213,481 174,911 248454 292,101 287,130
Less: Current liabilities BOREAaE 595,587 466,305 509,570 174,625 403,665
Total assets less current liabilities wEEARDAR (382,106) (291,394) (261,116) 117,476 (116,535)
Less: Non-current liabilities B EREaR 3,202 51,799 10,852 284,467 14,761
Non-controling interests R ER 1,488 1,911 - - -
Capital and reserves attributable to FRREEANEEESRK
owners of the Company e (386,796) (345,104) (271,968) (166,991) (131,206)
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